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PrimeTime is a leading Botswana 
Stock Exchange listed property 
investment company.  Since 
listing in 2007, PrimeTime’s 
portfolio has grown to 31 
properties in Botswana, South 
Africa and Zambia amounting 
to over 120,000 sqm of lettable 
office, retail, and industrial 
space.  PrimeTime has proved 
resilient to the challenges of the 
global pandemic, maintaining 
high occupancy levels, and 
positioning itself well to capitalise 
on future opportunities.

There are prospects to grow 
the portfolio further off the 
base of a strong roster of 
tenants and a portfolio that is 
well balanced.  People will still 
need to work, shop and have 
leisure time and our offering 
of bright, appropriately sized 
and diversified assets is well 
positioned to accommodate 
people’s needs.  
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A statement from our 
                 Chairlady

Petronella Matumo

Another remarkable year
Your company, PrimeTime, remains robust with strong assets and has 
demonstrated its resilience over a challenging 12 months.  The group finished 
the year with close to full occupancy and has continued to pay distributions 
while delivering on its pre-committed development pipeline.  The filling of the 
new Pinnacle Park offices in Gaborone is a great achievement which we will 
now start to enjoy the benefit of, along with the income from Lobatse Junction 
which was completed just after the financial year end.

COVID drag
The unprecedented nature of the 
Covid-19 pandemic has tested the 
culture and resilience of businesses 
throughout the world, and it has been 
encouraging to see how PrimeTime  
has responded.  

The indiscriminate spread of the virus 
will have affected almost everyone 
both in their personal and professional 
capacities, with our region being 
particularly hard hit during its winter 
months.  Sadly, PrimeTime lost business 
partners to the pandemic, and I send 
my sincere condolences to those who 
have lost people close to them.   
At the time of our financial year end  
a semblance of normality appeared to 
be returning and the vaccine roll out 
was gaining momentum.  Restrictions 
were being lifted and all our tenants 
were once again able to trade fully, 
including the many restaurants and 
cafes we accommodate, who were  
the hardest hit.  

The diversity of PrimeTime’s portfolio 
has provided it with some protection.  
Our broad range of occupiers across 
the office and retail sectors, including 
many essential services, forms the 
foundation of our income.  Despite 
this, the restrictions under which we 
all had to operate have clearly had an 
impact which is reflected in the results 
presented in this year’s annual report.

Our Zambian operations have been 
particularly affected over the last two 
years with the impact of the pandemic 
exacerbating an already precarious 
economic situation.  However, there has 
been a noticeable uptick in confidence 
post the general elections of August 
2021 which saw Hakainde Hichilema 
(‘HH’) and his United Party for National 
Development sweep emphatically to 
power.  Whilst the road to realising 

Zambia’s full potential will be a long 
one, we believe that the underlying 
fundamentals will return stability to  
the property sector in due course.   
We wish the president and his 
government every success in plotting 
Zambia’s path forward.

PrimeTime’s operations in South Africa 
are still relatively small, with just the 
two assets there acquired at the end of 
2019.  At that time, we had ambitions to 
grow a portfolio there quickly, but it has 
not been possible given the events that 
have transpired.  However, there are 
still persuasive arguments for expansion 
and our team continue to monitor how 
these can be realised.  

Our response
It has been encouraging to see how 
PrimeTime has responded in these 
trying times.  Throughout the last year 
the group has remained focused on 
how it can help customers and other 
stakeholders to mitigate the impact 
of the pandemic.  Investors and 
financiers have been kept abreast of 
developments and the policies the 
group has implemented have ensured 
it is well positioned for the inevitable 
recovery.  The external property and 
asset managers, Time Projects and 
Ebbstone Asset Management, have 
worked with customers across the 
portfolio to help restructure leases 
where appropriate and this is reflected 
in a year end vacancy rate in line with 
those seen in earlier years at just 3%.

We have been prudent in managing the 
next phase of PrimeTime’s expansion 
with completion of the Lobatse Junction 
retail mall, which was successfully 
opened in October 2021, being a focus 
over the last year.

It has been  
encouraging to see  

how PrimeTime  
has responded  

in these trying times.  
Throughout the last year  

the group has remained focused 
on how it can  

help customers and  
other stakeholders  

to mitigate the impact  
of the pandemic.

“

”
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Corporate governance
The board is responsible for ensuring that the group complies 
with all applicable legislative, regulatory, and best practice 
requirements.  It is accountable and oversees effective 
management of risk.  As PrimeTime works towards embedding 
the King IV code we will see a broader range of policies and 
initiatives being introduced through a collaborative approach 
between the board and external management team. As part 
of this process we have appointed an external company to 
provide an internal audit function.

Constitution of the board
After 10 years Sifelani Thapelo resigned from the board of 
directors in February 2021.  Sifelani contributed immensely 
over his tenure as a board director, offering guidance on a 
wide array of legal and governance matters.  I thank Sifelani 
for his contribution and dedication over the years. 

We were delighted to welcome Paul Masie to the board in 
May 2021.  Paul brings a wealth of experience from over 
30 years in the financial services industry to the board.  
Subsequent to the year-end we have also welcomed 
Chandada Masendu-Kusane who has extensive real 
estate and financial sector experience and Nigel Dixon-
Warren, former senior partner at KPMG Botswana.  These 
appointments diversify the skill sets from which we can 
collectively draw on as a board. 

The future
PrimeTime still has an exciting pipeline to deliver.  In 
Gaborone there is the next phase of Prime Plaza, which 
we made some progress on over the year.  The awarding 
of a five-star green design rating to the first phase of the 
development is a major boon for PrimeTime.  It is the first five-
star rating to be awarded to a development in Botswana and 
demonstrates that our commitment to environmental issues is 
not just lip service.  

The additional pipeline projects of the Boiteko Junction 
extension and another phase of the fully let Pinnacle Park 
offices in Setlhoa Gaborone will be advanced with caution, 
but we expect to see progress in the current year with strong 
demand from occupiers in both locations.  These projects 
will allow for continued steady growth while we position 
PrimeTime to be able to take advantage of opportunities that 
will present themselves as markets recover.   

To assist with increasing regulatory requirements, a 
governance and directors sub-committee will be set up in the 
course of the 2022 financial year. 

It just remains for me to thank my fellow colleagues 
on the board, past and present, for their considerable 
efforts over the last year.  A substantial amount of time, 
energy and expertise has been invested by all the 
directors, particularly in addressing the financial and 
regulatory complexities of the various jurisdictions in 
which the group operates.
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Board of
Directors

C

ACC

ACM

LID

Chairlady

Audit Committee Chair

Audit Committee Member

Lead Independent Director

Alexander (“Sandy”) Kelly (67)
Executive
Appointed: 6 September 2007
Pr. Eng BSc (Civ Eng,) MBA, MBIDP
Following an early career in South Africa in construction, Sandy moved to Botswana in 1988 to ‘open the doors’ for Time Projects, the 
external management company.  He was instrumental in developing PrimeTime’s initial portfolio and its successful listing on the BSE in 
December 2007.  Since then he has led the team that has built up PrimeTime’s portfolio to where it is today and is a director of the external 
management company with overall responsibility for managing PrimeTime.  Sandy is also a director of several of PrimeTime’s subsidiaries, 
and sits on the board of other private companies in the property and tourism industries, and property companies in the UK where he has 
indirect interests.

Chandada (“Chanda”) Masendu-Kusane (39)
Independent non-executive 
Appointed: 14 October 2021
BSc (Property Studies), MSc (Real Estate), PMP, PRINCE2
As a real estate professional, Chanda’s experience includes property and asset management, valuations 
and investment.  Her career spans 17 years in the commercial banking sector and the local real estate 
market.  She now heads up her own business interests in real estate, education and media.  She runs her 
own private company board and is also a director of Western Industrial Estate, a subsidiary of the Botswana 
Development Corporation.   

Nigel Dixon-Warren (52)
Independent non-executive 
Appointed: 22 November 2021
FCCA (UK), FCA (Bots)
Nigel is an accountant by profession with over 30 years’ experience.  He spent almost 25 years’ with 
KPMG, the last 19 of which were as a Partner/Senior Partner in Botswana.  Nigel now heads up a private 
consultancy specialising in corporate finance, business planning and tax.  He has held a number of 
voluntary positions in the Botswana business community over the years and contributed to the development 
of the accounting profession.  Having already served in various roles for the Botswana Institute of Chartered 
Accountants he still remains actively involved as a member of their Tax Committee. 

Cross Kgosidiile (52)
Independent non-executive 
Appointed: 16 February 2011
BaC (Accounting), MsB Admin, FCMA, FCPA (Bots)
A qualified accountant, Cross has a solid track record in public sector 
finance and management.  His early days as a finance manager for Air 
Botswana progressed to the Motor Vehicle Accident Fund where he was 
CEO for 10 years.  He spent 3 years at the Botswana Power Corporation 
as the CFO and then the acting CEO before moving to the Botswana 
Development Corporation in 2020 in his current role as Managing Director.  
Over the years he has held several other directorships and board positions 
and currently sits on a number of boards including Minergy Limited and 
GRIT Real Estate Income Fund, as well as some other private companies 
and pension fund benefits administrators.  

Paul Masie (55)
Independent non-executive 
Appointed: 5th May 2021
BA Econ
Paul has over 30 years’ experience in the financial services industry, retiring as the 
CEO of Alexander Forbes Botswana in 2018.  He has worked extensively throughout 
SADC, East and West African countries in the retirement funds and insurance industries, 
including emerging markets.  He remains Chairman of the Alexander Forbes Botswana 
Group Holdings Proprietary Limited and serves as a director to several companies in 
the Alexander Forbes Group, and has several other private board positions.

Petronella Matumo (60)
Independent non-executive chairlady
Appointed: 12 October 2007
HND (Shannon, Rep. of Ireland), IHCI
Petronella is a hotelier by profession and is the Managing Director of Private Collection Proprietary Limited and Fine Jewellery Manufacturing 
Proprietary Limited – a diamond jewellery retailer and manufacturer respectively.  She has extensive business experience gained on the boards of a 
diverse range of companies, some of which were listed - Barclays Bank of Botswana Limited and Debt Participation Capital Fund Limited.  Her tenures 
include being a previous chairlady of Mascom Wireless Botswana Proprietary Limited, Deci Investments and Motswedi Securities Proprietary Limited.  
She currently sits on the board of Associated Fund Administrators Proprietary Limited as well as some other private companies. 

Joanna (“Jo”) Jones (50)
Executive
Appointed: 1 June 2017
BA Hons (Finance), FCA (UK), FCPA (Bots)
Jo has been the Finance Director of the external management company since 2007 and is responsible for 
the financial management of the PrimeTime group.  Having qualified as a chartered accountant in the UK, 
she moved to Botswana in 1998 as an auditor with PricewaterhouseCoopers.  Leaving audit in 2000, she 
accumulated a wide range of experience in different industries and areas of financial management before 
specialising in real estate.  She sits on the board of other private companies in the property industry.

Petronella Matumo

C

Mmoloki Morolong

Joanna Jones 

Alexander Kelly

Chandada Musendu-Kusane

Paul Masie

Cross Kgosidiile

ACC

LID
Nigel Dixon-Warren

ACM

Mmoloki (“Turnie”) Morolong (53)
Executive 
Appointed: 6 September 2007
BA (UB), MBA (UB), Dip. PM REIB
Turnie has been with the external management company, Time Projects, since 
2005 and was appointed director of the property management division in 
2007.  He has gained vast experience in property management having been 
in the industry for more than 20 years and is responsible for the day-to-day 
management of all the properties in PrimeTime’s portfolio.  Turnie is a director 
of several of PrimeTime’s subsidiaries, and sits on the board of other private 
companies in the property industry.
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31 – 40
years

41 – 50
years

51 – 60
years

61 – 70
years

1 0 5 2

3 Women
5 Men

3 Executive
5 Independent
   Non-Executive

0 – 3
years

3 – 6
years

6 – 9
years

9+
years

3 1 0 4

Board tenure

Board indePendence

Date of appointment Years Age

Petronella Matumo 12 october 2007 14.1 60

Jo Jones 01 June 2017 4.5 50

Sandy Kelly 06 September 2007 14.2 67

turnie Morolong 06 September 2007 14.2 53

cross Kgosidiile 16 February 2011 10.8 52

chanda Masendu-Kusane 14 october 2021 0.1 39

Paul Masie 05 May 2021 0.6 55

nigel dixon-Warren 22 november 2021 0.0 52

Average 7.3 54

30 noveMBer 2021

Board age

Board gender diverSity

Board
 composition

When looking at holdings across asset managers:

Major Linked Unitholders Linked Units % Rank

BPOPF (across all asset managers)  74 611 036 30.50% 1

Linwood Holdings Limited 40 028 705 16.36% 2

Tati Company Limited 22 873 846 9.35% 3

Debswana Pension Fund (across all asset managers)  18 457 743 7.54% 4

Metropolitan Life Botswana (across all asset managers)  14 502 236 5.93% 5

Linked Unit Band No. Linked units % No of Holders %

0 -1 999  625 600 0.26%  1 111 64.86%

2 000 - 4 999  663 456 0.27%  228 13.31%

5 000 - 9 999  634 104 0.26%  93 5.43%

10 000 - 49 999  3 642 754 1.49%  183 10.68%

50 000 - 99 999  1 290 996 0.53%  19 1.11%

100 000 - 499 999  8 842 492 3.61%  42 2.45%

500 000 +  228 951 282 93.58%  37 2.16%

 244 650 684 100.00%  1 713 100.00%

As at 31 August 2021 the company had 244 650 684 linked units in issue.  Of the 
linked units in issue  203 430 991 linked units were held by the public, representing 
83.15%.  The remaining 41 219 693 linked units were held by non-public 
unitholders representing 16.85%.

Linked unitholders
   information

As at 31 August 2021
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The discovery of a new variant in 
Botswana was one of these such bumps 
in the road, but the fact of the matter is 
the world is learning to adapt and deal 
with Covid-19 while the virus itself is 
reportedly weakening and its impact 
has, so far, been far less detrimental 
than previous waves.  

Positively, the group returned to profit 
in the year, we filled PrimeTime’s new 
development at Pinnacle Park with 
a strong set of tenants who we look 
forward to working with for many years 
to come and we made substantial 
progress with the new Lobatse Junction 
retail mall which completed after the 
year end.  This was achieved with 
100% of the space already committed 
to by a high-quality tenant mix and 
we are optimistic on its future.  The 
investment into Lobatse was carefully 
analysed and proceeded based on 
PrimeTime receiving a guarantee from 
the developer on the first year’s income, 
which will ensure a net 8% return.  We 
believe the development will play a 
key role in Lobatse’s future with the 
investment leading to the creation of 
substantial employment opportunities in 
the town.  Given the challenges we have 
faced over the period of construction 
this is a strong performance and reflects 
well on the quality of the new assets that 
have come into the PrimeTime portfolio.

The total value of the group’s investment 
property fell slightly over the year 
on independent valuations by 1.8%.  
Botswana values rose marginally, 
but in Zambia values took another 
downward turn.  In Pula terms, values 
there fell by 11% as rental discounting 
and regearing of leases in response 
to the in-country economic situation 
filtered through to property values.  This 
trend was seen across the Zambian 
market.  However, our on the ground 
management team worked hard to 
fill vacant space and despite the 
headwinds have significantly reduced 
the voids in PrimeTime’s retail properties 
in the country.  

As our Chairlady has mentioned, 
we continued with a collaborative 
approach to PrimeTime’s tenant base 
which resulted in low vacancy levels.  
While there was a need to offer some 
assistance to tenants in the form of 
rental relief, we also regeared leases 
to secure long-term income. We 
were pleased to see a quick return 
to normalised rental collections in 
Botswana and South Africa over the 
course of the year and expect Zambia 
to follow suit.

As PrimeTime’s 2021 financial year came 
to an end, there was a palpable sense 
that we are now entering a period of 
recovery.  While we can expect bumps 
along the way, the increasing penetration 
of the vaccination programme across 
the region, particularly in Botswana, is 
helping drive the return to normality.  

As a result of our  
proactive approach to the  
challenges posed by the  

pandemic, PrimeTime is well  
poised for the recovery.

Report from the external  
         property & asset                manager

Sandy Kelly

“
”
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2 Zambia

3 South Africa

1 Botswana

PrimeTime is managed by Time Projects under separate property management and asset management agreements.  Subsequent to the year-end these 
contracts were ceded to a new entity Time A&PM as part of restructure of the external management company.

The South African portfolio is externally managed by Ebbstone Asset Management
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As well as the progress made on Lobatse Junction 
over the course of the year, we also began the 
refurbishment of South Ring Mall in Gaborone as 
part of our ongoing efforts to improve and enhance 
the attractiveness of PrimeTime’s assets.  In Lusaka, 
a new cash centre was developed for G4S at the 
existing head office site which further cements our 
ties with them and will generate additional income 
over the course of their long-term lease.

The lease expiry profile moved out over the course 
of the year, reflecting longer-term secure income 
for the group.  There is now a further 5% of lease 
revenue under leases with four or more years left to 
run, up to 29% from 24%.  

1

2

3

Lease expiry
profile 

2020 – 2021

2 2 – 4 years

3 More than 4 years

1 Less than 1 year

Performance for the year ahead will be determined 
by the trajectory of the economic recovery in 
the region.  Early signs are positive, and we are 
confident of making progress on PrimeTime’s 
development pipeline in the coming year.  Proceeds 
from the sale of assets after the financial year-end 
will be reinvested into best-in-class developments 
which will deliver long-term yield accretive returns.

On behalf of the external management team, I would 
like to extend our gratitude to the board for their 
support and guidance over the year, PrimeTime’s 
tenants, and unitholders and financiers who we have 
continued to work closely with and look forward to 
engaging with further as property markets in the 
region recover.

The strength and breadth of the group’s 
tenant base, with around 360 leases 
in place across 30 properties, means 
PrimeTime’s single asset and party 
exposure is robustly mitigated against.  
Much of the tenant base is comprised 
of blue-chip covenant tenants, the 
largest segment being national and 
regional retail chains.  PrimeTime also 
has significant rental contributions from 
the banking sector, major corporates 
and multinationals.  Combined these 
sectors provide over 70% of PrimeTime’s 
income while a further 8% comes from 
government & parastatal entities, which 
includes foreign missions and NGOs. 

1

4

2

5

3

Income by 
tenant profile 
2020 – 2021

2 Government & parastatal

3 Major corporates/multinationals

4 Others

5 Banks

1 Retail chains

Overall, income increased marginally year 
on year.  The increase was driven by the 
Botswana portfolio which showed strong 
growth and countered the disappointing 
performance in Zambia.  We expect to see 
an improvement in Zambia in the coming 
year, which combined with a full year’s 
income in Botswana from Pinnacle Park, 
and Lobatse Junction also contributing, 
will boost income in 2022.. 

2 Other Botswana 
3 Zambia
4 South Africa

1 Gaborone

1
3

4

2

Income by 
location 

2020 – 2021

Market conditions cont:
Zambia: 
While cognisant of the more 
volatile nature of the Zambian 
market and short-term shocks 
it suffers, the long-term outlook 
for Zambia remains positive.  
Zambia’s primary export, copper, 
is in high demand globally 
and a growing and urbanising 
population combined with a 
general undersupply of quality 
commercial stock underpins 
PrimeTime’s long-term view on 
the market.  Positive sentiment 
following the change of 
government at the August 2021 
elections has been cemented 
after PrimeTime’s financial year 
end with an agreement being 
reached with the IMF for a 
lending programme worth around 
$1.4 billion which will help the 
country restructure its debt. 

In terms of the underlying 
property market fundamentals; 
there is an oversupply which will 
take time to absorb in the office 
and retail sectors in Lusaka and 
rentals are expected to take time 
to recover.  The market needs 
stability and will benefit from 
prudent economic management, 
which now appears a reality.  
There has been an uptick in 
enquiries from occupiers looking 
for space after the elections, and  
we have confidence in the long-
term prospects for PrimeTime’s 
Zambian portfolio.  

South Africa: 
The South African economy 
rebounded in 2021 from an 8.2% 
contraction in real GDP in 2020, 
but progress was hampered by 
Covid restrictions as new variants 
came and went.  This coupled 
with the internal unrest in July 
2021 has negatively impacted 
the economy. 

The strength of the corporate 
tenant base in South Africa is 
still far superior to anywhere else 
on the continent and leases are 
strongly enforceable.  There has 
been a notable move towards 
smaller A-Grade offices that are 
in well located areas and offer 
all the services that a “work from 
home” environment provides, a 
niche that suits PrimeTime and 
would complement the existing 
portfolio.

We expect to see opportunities 
in smaller retail centres and 
industrial/logistics warehouses 
which continue to perform well- 
PrimeTime’s Logwin property 
being an example of a strong 
defensive asset.

Market 
conditions:
Botswana: 
PrimeTime’s Botswana portfolio has 
shown its resilience to the challenges 
of the pandemic, with near full 
occupancy at the year-end and 
rental collections close to contractual 
lease revenue.  PrimeTime’s retail 
assets are performing well and there 
is still strong demand from many 
retailers to expand their footprint in 
the country.  PrimeTime’s exposure 
is predominantly small to mid-sized 
convenience centres, targeted to 
serve the needs of local communities.  
It is our view that these centres will 
continue to perform well, with little 
over-rented space we expect steady 
revenue increments in the coming 
years.  There are still opportunities in 
undersupplied conurbations across 
the country and expansion possibilities 
within the existing portfolio, such as in 
Serowe Boiteko Junction. 

In the office sector, the underlying 
market fundamentals suggest a 
cautious approach needs to be taken.  
Good opportunities still exist – for 
example corporate HQs relocating 
to the CDB and tailoring our offer to 
the post-Covid office environment.  
PrimeTime’s existing office assets 
are well located and offer flexible 
subdivisible space which position it 
well when considering the expectations 
of occupiers in the future. 
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Pipeline
With our long-term strategic focus still set on tenant 
management, property maintenance, sectoral and 
geographical diversification - there are still opportunities for 
the group to enhance its core asset base at this juncture.  
With Lobatse Junction now complete, management’s 
immediate focus is to transform its existing Botswana 
landbank into completed developments:

Bulk earthworks on the plot in the Gaborone CBD – adjacent 
to Prime Plaza - were in progress at the year-end and plans 
for the first building thereon have been approved by council.  
This development will kick-off with the proceeds of the two 
property disposals announced after the year-end and will be 
built to the highest environmentally friendly standards seen 
in Botswana to date, positioning itself for the demands of the 
‘post-Covid’ office environment. 

The planned extension at Boiteko Junction in Serowe at an 
estimated cost of P60m will satisfy the strong tenant demand 
in the area and secure our footprint in the retail sector there.  
We have interest for 3,000 sqm of additional space at the mall 
which if delivered will cement the property as the dominant 
shopping node in the Serowe market for years to come.  
Substantial planning work and tenant negotiations have 
already taken place.  

The success we have had in securing tenants at the first phase 
of Pinnacle Park augurs well for future phases.  There is still 
a hectare of the site to develop which could ultimately see 
Pinnacle Park double in size to close to 9,000 sqm.  We are 
searching for pre-commitments for the second phase but given 
the now proven attractiveness to occupiers of this kind of office 
development in an undersupplied location and demonstrable 
demand, we expect to be able to progress this soon.

Investment strategy
The group’s strategy is developed by management with 
input from the board before approval.  The strategic plan 
remains under constant review and is discussed in depth at 
specific strategy sessions where the board, management and 
external consultants share views across the markets in which 
PrimeTime operates. 

PrimeTime’s strategy of leveraged growth has been inhibited 
since the onset of the pandemic as focus was switched to 
tenant retention and the protection of asset value.  With the 
dust now settling, we are able to refocus on growing the 
portfolio and maximising returns to shareholders. 

Short-term strategy: 
◆ Focus on delivering PrimeTime’s immediate pipeline 

of yield accretive investment opportunities through the 
disposal of non-core assets

◆ Roll debt into longer-term instruments and manage  
LTV levels

◆ Ensure tenant retention through difficult market conditions 
by securing long-term leases at regeared rental levels 
where necessary and being prepared to offer flexible 
lease terms

◆ Maximise performance from existing asset base of 
standing income producing properties

◆ Maintain and enhance PrimeTime’s stable of properties 
and deliver improved sustainability in new additions to the 
portfolio and retrospectively where possible

Retain tenants on
secure long-term 

leases

Manage debt profile
into a longer term

position

Optimise current
asset base

Deliver short-term
yield accretive

development pipeline

Ensure the sustainability 
of new developments by

adhering to best in
class green building

guidelines

Long-term strategy: 
Our long-term strategy remains ambitious, and we will seek 
to grow and diversify PrimeTime’s asset base to mitigate 
risk and create unitholder wealth.  The underlying long-term 
property fundamentals in our regions are strong, and we aim 
to position PrimeTime to be able to capitalise on opportunities 
when they arise. 
◆ Maintain a prudent approach to LTV levels, safeguarding 

against market shocks
◆ Seek new development opportunities on a limited risk 

basis
◆ Seek further expansion opportunities elsewhere while 

focussing on our core markets
◆ Drive income growth as markets recover and leases come 

up for renewal
◆ Increase distribution and reduce unit price discount to NAV
◆ Incorporate green technology to optimise efficiencies and 

reduce carbon footprint

Deliver increased
income growth

as markets recover

Increase distribution
and reduce discount

to NAV

Maintain prudent
LTV ratios

Reduce carbon
footprint through
green initiatives

Sustainability: 
PrimeTime is cognisant of the role that the built environment 
plays in climate change.  The group is dedicated to playing 
its part in minimising the negative impact that our industry 
has on the environment.  We have historically incorporated 
measures such waterwise gardens and ablutions, low energy 
lighting, recycling facilities and orientating buildingsto 
minimise sunlight penetration.  

PrimeTime is now going to the next level.  Green building 
design and operation, for energy efficiency and carbon 
footprint reduction, are at the core of the design strategy for 
all new developments.  PrimeTime’s upcoming developments 
will be submitted for 5 Star Design Green Star Council ratings.

Motswere, the first building that will be completed at the 
new phase of Prime Plaza in Gaborone’s CBD, has been 
awarded the first 5 Star Design Rating in Botswana under the 
Green Star SA certification tool.  Upon practical completion, 
it will target a 5 Star As-Built Green Star rating, which will be 
confirmation that the building is indeed built, and operates, 
according to the 5 Star rated sustainable design. 

While we have faced challenges over the last year, progress 
has been made on our plans to install solar photovoltaics to 
generate electricity at certain properties.  Initially we will roll 
these out in Botswana, and in due course introduce them in 
our other markets.  This will offer a solution to provide both a 
sustainable and reliable energy supply to our tenants. 
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Technology & information
PrimeTime has embraced the 
expanding role that technology plays 
in improving and streamlining business 
processes. It utilises MDA Property 
Systems, an industry leading property 
management and accounting software 
platform.  It is a widely used cloud-
based, fully supported solution for the 
real estate sector.  As a lease driven 
system, MDA has in-built controls over 
tenant and property management which 
complement the accounting system. It 
has proved to be convenient, efficient 
and a necessity to organise data and 
improve business processes.

PrimeTime’s external management 
company employs a specialist external 
IT solutions provider who oversee back-
up procedures, anti-virus protection 
and firewalls. In line with data protection 
principles, they are also responsible for:
◇ Ensuring all systems, services and 

equipment used for storing data 
meet acceptable security standards,

◇ Performing regular checks and 
scans to ensure security hardware 
and software is functioning properly,

◇ Evaluating any third-party services 
used to store or process data.

The external management company’s 
IT Policy, which governs the IT 
infrastructure and usage thereof, ensures 
all employees are aware of the proper 
usage, security and maintenance of 
technological assets including the 
computers, mobile devices, servers, 
internet, and applications.   

Regular cyber security training and 
cyber threat simulation campaigns are 
conducted by and on all staff.

In line with data protection principles, 
responsibility has been taken for 
ensuring individuals data is collected, 
stored and handled appropriately. It 
must be protected from unauthorised 
access, accidental deletion and 
malicious hacking attempts. 

The following procedures have been 
implemented to handle electronically 
stored data:
◆ Strong passwords that are changed 

regularly and never shared between 
employees,

◆ Non-disclosure agreements 
integrated into employment 
contracts, 

◆ Data is backed up regularly 
both on and offsite. Backups are 
tested regularly, in line with policy 
procedures,

◆ Any hardware holding data is 
protected by approved endpoint 
security software, drive encryption 
and a firewall.

LOGIN

ENTER
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Turnie Morolong
BA (UB) MBA (UB) Dip. PM
Turnie has been with Time Projects since 
2005 and was appointed Director of the 
Property Management Division in December 
2007.  Turnie has also sat on the PrimeTime 
Board since inception.  He has gained vast 
experience in property management attained 
more than 20-years in various capacities.  
He is responsible for the day-to-day 
management of all the properties in the 
PrimeTime group portfolio.

Joanna Jones 
BA (Hons) FCA (UK) FCPA (Bots)
Jo has been the Finance Director of Time 
Projects since 2007 and is responsible 
for the financial management of the 
PrimeTime group.  Having qualified as a 
chartered accountant in the UK, she moved 
to Botswana in 1998 as an auditor with 
PricewaterhouseCoopers.  Leaving audit 
in 2000, she accumulated a wide range of 
experience in different industries and areas of 
financial management before specialising in 
real estate.  

Merapelo Mopaki
Merapelo has been the Property and 
Maintenance Manager at Time Projects 
since 2013.  He holds a certificate in Real 
Estate and has extensive experience in the 
Botswana property industry, working all over 
the country.  Merapelo is a key player in the 
servicing and utility provision to PrimeTime’s 
Botswana properties, as well as working on 
improvement projects and providing tenant 
liaison.

John Kelly
BSc (Hons) (Real Estate) (UP) 
After completing his Honors in Real Estate 
from the University of Pretoria, John joined 
Time Projects in 2018 as an Asset and 
Property Administrator. Experienced in the 
Property Broking field, John’s roles in the 
company are sourcing of tenants, lease 
negotiations and administration as well as 
facilities/ property management. 

Sandy Kelly
Pr. Eng. BSc (Civ Eng) MBA MBIDP
Following an early career in South Africa in 
construction, Sandy came to Botswana in 1988 to set 
up Time Projects in the country.  He was instrumental 
in developing PrimeTime’s initial portfolio and its 
successful listing on the BSE in December 2007.  
Sandy stood down from his role as Managing 
Director of Time Projects in 2020 but continues as 
a director providing guidance from his wealth of 
experience to the rest of the management team. 

Wananani Nyasulu
Wani is the group Finance Manager for the  
PrimeTime group of companies, having worked  
her way up in Time Projects from where she  
started in 2008 as a Property Administrator.   
With a career spanning over 20 years in the 
property and accounting sectors, she is a part 
qualified accountant.

Joe Simpson
BA (Hons), PGDBES
Joe joined Time Projects in 2014 and became a 
director of the company in 2020.  He has worked 
for over 20-years in the Real Estate field, in a 
range of roles and jurisdictions.  His main role 
for PrimeTime is in assessing, negotiating and 
facilitating property acquisitions and disposals, 
sourcing finance and in managing the larger lease 
renewals and maintenance projects.

Musonda Banda (Zambia)
B.COMM, CPA
Musonda joined Time Projects Zambia as Assistant 
Finance Manager 2017.  Musonda has 10 years 
experience in property management and is 
responsible for the lease administration function 
in Zambia.  He has previously worked at in lease 
administration and centre management at The ORS 
Group and JLL in Western Australia.

Andrew Glencross (South Africa)
B(Tech) Real Estate, N Dip Prop 
Valuation, N Dip Prop Economics and 
Finance, Registered Valuer
Andrew has 25 years’ experience in real estate 
investment, asset management, developments, and 
property finance at a senior executive and board 
level.  As well as working in various capacities for 
several listed funds, Andrew has extensive valuation 
and banking experience.

Neil Jackson (South Africa)
Property Development and Investment 
(UCT), 
Neil is highly respected within the South African 
real estate sector. He joined JHI Real Estate in 1990 
and ended his career there as a senior executive in 
2003.  He spent 13 years working in various roles 
throughout the organisation, including; commercial 
leasing and investment, corporate advisory, town 
planning and account management.

Kagiso Sebetso
BSc Hons Construction Management, 
MSc Real Estate, Green Star Accredited 
Professional
Kagiso is a Green Star Accredited Professional for 
New Buildings, Existing Buildings and Net Zero 
Buildings, and is currently involved in facilitating 
Green Star design, construction, and certifications 
for Time Developments.  Kagiso’s journey with Time 
Projects started in 2009.

Julien Matoka (Zambia)
BSc (Hon) PS
Julien spearheads our Property Management 
services in Zambia.  Over the past seven years, 
Julien has acquired vast experience in property 
management in Zambia and Namibia.  In 
addition, Julien has recently been certified in 
Project Management Practices and Principles 
by the University of Stellenbosch.  He has been 
responsible for the day-to-day management of all 
the properties under the PrimeTime portfolio in 
Zambia since his appointment in 2017.

Moonga Kachemba (Zambia)
AZICA, CIMA
Moonga has over 10 years experience in Financial 
Accounting and Tax. He joined Time Projects 
Zambia as senior Financial Accountant in 2018.  
Before Joining Time Projects Zambia, Moonga 
worked for a mining company where he rose to the 
position of senior management accountant.  Before 
joining the mining company, he worked in audit 
firms for four years.  Moonga is responsible for the 
accounting function in Zambia. 

Turnie Morolong

Merapelo Mopaki

John Kelly

Joanna Jones 

Wananani Nyasulu

Joe Simpson

Sandy Kelly

Kagiso Sebetso

Moonga Kachemba

Julien Matoka

Andrew Glencross

Neil Jackson

Musonda Banda

The external management 
                           team
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Five-year financial review
August 2021

P’000
August 2020

P’000
August 2019

P’000
August 2018

P’000
August 2017

P’000
1. Distribution statement

Revenue 176 795 175 213 165 719 142 105 125 475

Recoverable costs (28 353) (30 073) (24 485) (19 567) (17 390)

Ground rental (2 618) (2 695) (3 446) (3 305) (2 661)

Other property expenses (18 767) (18 903) (15 217) (11 928) (8 354)

Net property income 127 057 123 542 122 571 107 305 97 070

Administrative and corporate costs (15 361) (16 219) (20 788) (14 052) (18 288)

Net operating profit 111 696 107 323 101 783 93 253 78 782

Net finance cost (50 842) (51 615) (45 457) (39 379) (41 757)

Taxation relating to distributable earnings (12 049) (10 889) (9 559) (4 549) (2 966)

Distributable earnings 48 805 44 819 46 767 49 325 34 059

2. Summarised statement of financial position

Non-current assets 1 607 296 1 615 269 1 498 857 1 426 485 1 237 028

Current assets 60 253 59 866 122 203 38 441 76 290

Non-current assets held for sale 43 884 - - - -

Total assets 1 711 433 1 675 135 1 621 060 1 464 926 1 313 318

Non-current liabilities 538 278 612 390 686 238 531 617 456 952

Current liabilities 477 340 355 811 173 102 170 494 167 140

Total liabilities 1 015 618 968 201 859 340 702 111 624 092

Net asset value 695 815 706 934 761 720 762 815 689 226

3. Statistics

Distribution (thebe) 12.94 15.78 17.90 16.88 15.92

Closing unit price (thebe) 235 285 295 312 316

Closing market cap (P’000) 574 929 697 254 721 720 763 310 773 096

NAV per unit (thebe) 284 289 311 312 282

Premium/(discount) to NAV (17%) (1%) (5%) 0% 12%

LTV 57% 54% 52% 43% 45%

4. Properties

Number of properties 30 30 27 27 26

GLA (000m2) 116 907 116 687 100 919 99 850 86 461

Vacancies 3% 5% 5% 5% 3%

Financial 
 report

Distributable earnings
The distributable earnings are calculated by removing fair 
value adjustments, straight line adjustments, unrealised 
foreign exchange differences on translating foreign balances 
and the tax adjustments thereon from statutory profits for the 
year as recorded in the statement of profits or loss and other 
comprehensive income.  The distributable earnings increased 
by 9% year on year.  As the increase in contractual rental 
income for the year was marginal at 1%, this improvement 
in profits largely reflects reduced costs.  Most notable of 
these are utilities and other Kwacha-based costs in Zambia 
on translation as well as savings on generator fuel costs 
following some stability in the electricity supply leading to a 
reduction in load shedding.  Advertising and mall promotions 
costs reduced due to decreased activity during Covid, a 
reduction in the impairment losses was recorded on trade 
receivables and interest costs have also reduced coming off 
lower base rate levels year on year.

Distribution
Loan amortisation payments, minor capitalised improvements 
to investment properties and a buffer of distributable profits 
held in reserve, are all deducted from distributable profits 
before determining the recommended distribution.  Given the 
uncertainty that still exists in the market prudent distributions 
continue to be made to ensure that the group’s liquidity 
position is not compromised.

Investment properties
Fluctuations were experienced in the valuations of different 
regions at this financial year end.  There was a slight 
decrease in the South African values, the Zambian properties 
also experienced a fall in values whereas the Botswana 
portfolio showed resilience and reported an uplift.  

Some additions to existing investment properties were 
capitalised during the year.  A cash centre at our G4S 
property in Zambia was constructed for a total cost of P4.5 
million, the Rhapsody’s fit-out at Sebele Centre Gaborone 
is a quality addition to the centre and the long-planned 
refurbishment of South Ring Mall got underway.

We also invested into our existing landbank by commencing 
with bulk earthworks at Prime Plaza II as well as incurring 
some of the consultants’ planning costs for the Boiteko 
Junction expansion.  These projects had been stalled by 
the onset of the pandemic, but the proceeds of the property 

disposals due to be completed within 6 months of the year 
end will provide the funds to kick-start them.  The works 
already done go towards ensuring the developments can 
proceed quickly once funds are secured.

Funding – facilities expiring in the next year
Debt management, with debt maturity management at its 
core, has been a focus for PrimeTime’s finance team since 
it first embarked on the leveraged model.  Covid has added 
increased emphasis on forward planning for maturities, where 
possible.  We are pleased to report that the majority of the 
facilities maturing within 12 months of the 31 August 2021 
year end already have plans in place to roll or replace them 
and for those not yet secured negotiations are underway.   
The continued backing from our funders supports the viability 
of our business model, and is enabling us to trade through 
this difficult period.

Covenants
Some of the commercial bank covenants were breached 
during the year.  We have obtained a relaxation of them for 
a year from the affected banks.  Unfortunately as these were 
not granted to us prior to the year end, under IFRSs this has 
resulted in these facilities being reclassified from long term 
borrowings to short term borrowings.  Further details of these 
are provided in the notes to the financial statements.

Balance Sheet management
Management of the group’s balance sheet is key to steering 
the business successfully through the next couple of years.  
We are now cautiously optimistic that our property values and 
income levels have now ‘bottomed out’.  We have a portfolio 
of well-situated quality properties, very low vacancy levels 
and a secured pipeline of new developments ready to go.  
With the continued support of all our stakeholders we believe 
the next year of trading will see increased stability.   

We have a portfolio  
of well-situated  

quality properties,  
very low vacancy levels  
and a secured pipeline  
of new developments  

ready to go.

“

”
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Our portfolio 
    Botswana

Bottom
Boiteko Junction
Serowe

Right
Capricorn House

Gaborone

AFA House
AFA House
Gaborone

Middle left
G4S
Gaborone

Middle right
Independence Place

Gaborone

Bottom right
Plot 22

Gaborone

Top right
DHL

Gaborone

Top left
Design Quarter
Gaborone

Bottom left
Pinnacle Park
Gaborone
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Bottom left
Prime Plaza
Gaborone

Middle right
Sebele Centre

Gaborone

Bottom right
South African High Commission

Gaborone

Top right
Ramotswa Shopping Centre

Ramotswa

Top left
Pilane Crossing
Pilane

Left
Ghanzi Shopping Centre 
Ghanzi

Bottom
Nswazwi Mall

Francistown

Top
Hillside Mall

Lobatse

Top left
South Ring Mall
Gaborone
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Our portfolio 
 South Africa

Top
Logwin

Johannesburg

Left
Rivonia Junction
Johannesburg

Our portfolio 
   Zambia

Middle left
Chirundu Mall
Chirundu

Bottom left
G4S
Lusaka & Kitwe

Middle right
Munali Mall

Luisaka

Bottom right
PWC Office Park

Lusaka

Top left
Centro Kabulonga
Lusaka
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Stakeholder 
 engagement
Stakeholder engagement is key to ensuring mutual sustainability and value protection.  We engage in regular and open 
engagement, allowing feedback into our strategy formulation.

Our key stakeholders, what matters to them and how engagement with them is managed is set out below:

Stakeholder How we engage Objectives What matters to them Key issues faced in 
2021

PrimeTime’s response 
and actions

Unitholders  ◇ Presentations
 ◇ One-on-one meetings
 ◇ Annual reports
 ◇ PrimeTime website
 ◇ BSE x-News
 ◇ Mainstream media
 ◇ Annual general 
meetings

 ◇ Maintain existing 
investment 

 ◇ Attract new investment
 ◇ Capital raising
 ◇ Keep major investors 
appraised of market 
conditions and 
strategic objectives

 ◇ Sustainable NAV and 
distributions

 ◇ Unit price performance
 ◇ Management 
competence

 ◇ Liquidity of units
 ◇ Quality of earnings in 
the sector

 ◇ Response to Covid-19
 ◇ Sustainable 
compensation of 
external management 
company

 ◇ Payment of 
distributions

 ◇ Debt covenants
 ◇ Property valuations
 ◇ Strength of SOFP

 ◇ Regular and 
transparent feedback 
given on all matters 
raised

 ◇ Focused management 
to limit the impact of 
Covid-19

 ◇ KPIs monitored cover 
the issues raised 

Debt providers: 
commercial banks, 
fund managers, 
pension funds and 
institutions

 ◇ Presentations
 ◇ One-on-one meetings
 ◇ Written, electronic and 
verbal communication

 ◇ Annual reports
 ◇ PrimeTime website
 ◇ BSE x-News
 ◇ Mainstream media
 ◇ Annual general 
meetings

 ◇ Access to suitable 
funding

 ◇ Keep major funders 
appraised of market 
conditions and 
strategic objectives

 ◇ Solvency
 ◇ Covenant compliance
 ◇ Adequate security

 ◇ Property devaluation 
risk

 ◇ Tough trading 
conditions impacting 
on cash flows

 ◇ Regular and 
transparent feedback 
given on all matters 
raised

 ◇ Focused management 
to limit the impact of 
Covid-19

 ◇ KPIs monitored cover 
the issues raised

Tenants  ◇ One-on-one meetings
 ◇ Written, electronic and 
verbal communication

 ◇ Site visits
 ◇ PrimeTime website
 ◇ Social media
 ◇ Brochures, leaflets, 
adverts

 ◇ Attract and retain 
quality tenants

 ◇ Location and quality 
property management

 ◇ Cost effective space

 ◇ Continued rapid 
increase in utility costs

 ◇ Covid-19 trading 
restrictions applied to 
some sectors

 ◇ Continued 
engagement over costs

 ◇ Provision of 
assistance to tenants 
directly affected by 
Covid-19 trading 
restrictions

 ◇ Quality property 
management

 ◇ Portfolio 
improvements

 ◇ Ongoing engagement/
objections with 
providers about costs

Stakeholder How we engage Objectives What matters to them Key issues faced in 
2021

PrimeTime’s response 
and actions

Shoppers at our retail 
properties

 ◇ Social media
 ◇ Mainstream media
 ◇ Brochures, leaflets, 
adverts

 ◇ Events and promotions

 ◇ Understand the 
demographic of our 
shopper needs to 
enable us to deliver a 
suitable product

 ◇ Safe, convenient 
centres

 ◇ Clean modern facilities

 ◇ Tenant sustainability
 ◇ Security 

 ◇ Focused property and 
asset management that 
addresses consumer 
needs

Government, 
municipalities, 
regulators, including:
BSE
BAOA
BURS
City councils

 ◇ Meetings
 ◇ Written, electronic and 
verbal communication

 ◇ Mainstream media
 ◇ PrimeTime website

 ◇ To ensure compliance 
with all laws and 
regulations

 ◇ To manage risk 

 ◇ Compliance
 ◇ Adherence to payment 
deadlines

 ◇ Increase in compliance 
requirements with 
associated costs

 ◇ Challenges with 
meeting BURS 
requirements due to 
problems with their 
systems

 ◇ Increased utility and 
rates costs

 ◇ Land tenure risks
 ◇ Covid-19 impacting 
on service levels

 ◇ Divert additional 
manpower 

 ◇ Engagement of 
specialised service 
providers 

 ◇ Open, transparent 
and regular 
communication

Suppliers and service 
providers

 ◇ Meetings
 ◇ Written, electronic and 
verbal communication

 ◇ Site visits
 ◇ Mainstream media

 ◇ Promotion of good 
relationships with 
our suppliers equals 
quality service on 
good terms

 ◇ Repeat business from 
PrimeTime 

 ◇ Covid-19 related 
project delays and 
service interruption

 ◇ Application of 
procurement policies

PRIME
TI     E
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Risk 
 management
Risk management is core to the day-to-day running of the group with a formal process in place to identify and manage all 
risks.  Set out in the table below are PrimeTime’s key risks. 

Risk Description Impact Mitigation

Impact of the prolonged Covid-19 
pandemic

 ◇ Negative effects on trading 
conditions

 ◇ Limits economic growth
 ◇ Potential tenant failures
 ◇ Lack of funding in market
 ◇ Reduced profits and property 
valuations

 ◇ Falling unit price and NAV
 ◇ Crime and unemployment
 ◇ Reduced footfall in retail centres

 ◇ Management dedicated to 
proactively manage the risk

 ◇ Tenant relief measures
 ◇ Transparent stakeholder 
communication

Tenant attraction and retention  ◇ Failure of existing tenants
 ◇ Non-renewal on lease expiry
 ◇ Competing properties having 
competitive edge

 ◇ Increased vacancies
 ◇ Reduced profits and property 
valuations

 ◇ Due diligence on lease initiation
 ◇ Early assessment of impending 
failure

 ◇ Deposits and/or personal sureties 
held

 ◇ Maintain market related rentals
 ◇ Create strong tenant demand 
ensuring properties remain current 
and desirable

Infrastructure failures  ◇ Road access
 ◇ Water and power supplies

 ◇ Properties become unattractive to 
tenants and consumers

 ◇ Initiate change
 ◇ Provide backup through generators, 
solar panels and water tanks

 ◇ Build efficiently using the latest 
green technologies

Risk Description Impact Mitigation

Operational process failures  ◇ Loss of data
 ◇ Cyber security
 ◇ Cash handling safeguards
 ◇ Lease management
 ◇ Accounting records

 ◇ Inability to manage the business
 ◇ Theft
 ◇ Reduced profits
 ◇ Non-compliance 

 ◇ Suitable policies in place to manage 
all processes

 ◇ Adequate back-ups performed
 ◇ Insurance cover maintained
 ◇ Competent management in place

Shifts in fashions and trends  ◇ Increase in online shopping and 
banking

 ◇ Commercial downsize in space due 
to work from home policies

 ◇ Increased vacancies
 ◇ Properties become irrelevant
 ◇ Reduced profits and property 
valuations

 ◇ Development planning to meet 
current consumer requirements

 ◇ Re-purpose existing spaces
 ◇ Monitor market trends

Capital structure and liquidity of units  ◇ Uncertainty in the market
 ◇ Lack of additional equity

 ◇ Low tradability of shares
 ◇ Discount to NAV
 ◇ Fewer investors
 ◇ High LTV ratio

 ◇ Engage with stakeholders to find a 
balanced solution

 ◇ Quality management to maximise 
portfolio values

 ◇ Maintain the support of funders 

Capital availability and cost  ◇ Debt and equity funding  ◇ Affects the ability of the group to 
manage cash flows 

 ◇ Covenant compliance
 ◇ Ability to grow

 ◇ Maintain good relationships with 
funders

 ◇ Seek alternative sources of funding
 ◇ Raise additional equity

Compliance  ◇ Compliance with relevant 
legislation and regulations

 ◇ Managing changes in legislation 
and regulations

 ◇ Compliance increases stakeholder 
confidence

 ◇ Risk of penalties and sanctions due 
to non-compliance

 ◇ Engagement of competent 
management

 ◇ Use external advice and assistance 
where required

 ◇ Awareness and training 
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Governance
PrimeTime’s board recognises that good governance and strong leadership  
create value for unitholders and confidence for its wider stakeholder community.  
The group adopted King IV as its preferred framework for corporate governance 
in 2018 and its appropriate application and interpretation is an ongoing process, 
with cognisance to the size and structure of the group.  PrimeTime’s board governs 
the whole group; all of its subsidiaries are wholly owned and adhere to the same 
governance framework.

The PrimeTime group is comprised of the following entities:

Group Entity Relationship Domicile

PrimeTime Property Holdings Limited BSE listed parent company which prepares 
consolidated financial statements

Botswana

PrimeTime Property Holdings (Mauritius) 
Limited

100% owned subsidiary of PrimeTime 
Property Holdings Limited

Mauritius

PrimeTime Property Holdings (Mauritius) 
Limited South African branch

South African branch of PrimeTime Property 
Holdings (Mauritius) Limited

South Africa

PrimeTime Property Holdings (Zambia) 
Limited

100% owned subsidiary of PrimeTime 
Property Holdings (Mauritius) Limited

Zambia

PrimeTime Property Holdings Limited 
Zambian branch

Zambian branch of PrimeTime Property 
Holdings Limited

Zambia

The group has appointed BDO Services Proprietary Limited (BDO) to assist in 
formalising certain policies and procedures recommended in King IV, and their 
deliverables reference the findings highlighted during the Botswana Accounting 
Oversight Authority’s corporate governance audit conducted during the year.  
BDO’s assignment is scheduled for completion by the end of February 2022 and its 
deliverables are highlighted in the group’s King IV compliance progress table at  
the end of this governance section.  

the Board of directors
The successful operation of the group is the responsibility of the board and its aim 
is to build a sustainable business.  It is the unitholders’ role to appoint the board of 
directors and the external auditors.  The board operates within the framework of its 
formal charter which sets out the role and responsibilities of the board as well as 
the requirement for its composition and meeting procedures.

The composition of the board has been a focus during the year and considered 
effort has been applied to identifying additional independent directors to strengthen 
the existing skill set and facilitate the retirement of long-standing independent 
members.  Required skills, experience, as well as gender and age diversity have 
formed part of the criteria considered when identifying suitable candidates.  During 
2021, three new independent directors – Paul Masie, Chanda Kusane-Masendu 

and Nigel Dixon-Warren – have already been appointed, each bringing a unique 
set of skills and experience.  Current directorate profiles and board composition 
information can be found on pages 8 to 10.  

During the year, Sifelani Thapelo resigned from the board for personal 
reasons, having served on the board as an independent director for ten years.  
Independence assessments were performed on the two independent directors who 
have served on the board for a period of more than nine years – Petronella Matumo 
and Cross Kgosidiile.  The board resolved that a reasonable and informed third 
party would judge them to be independent, and authorised their continuance on the 
board during this period of transition.   

Board meetings and attendance during the financial year
Board meetings are held quarterly with other ad hoc meetings held as required.  
Additional meetings have been held by the independent directors during the year 
to deal with board composition and related party matters.

Name Quarterly Board Additional Independent 
Directors meetings

Annual General 
Meeting

P Matumo 4 (4) 3 (3) 1 (1)

A L Kelly 4 (4) N/A 1 (1)

J C Jones 4 (4) N/A 1 (1)

C Kgosidiile 3 (4) 3 (3) 0 (1)

P Masie (appointed 17.05.2021) 1 (1) N/A N/A

M T Morolong 4 (4) N/A 0 (1)

S Thapelo (resigned 24.02.2021) 2 (2) 1 (1) 0 (1)

The number in brackets represents the number of meetings held during the office 
of the member.

related party transactions with the external management company
The board remains sensitive to the related party transactions between the group 
and the external management company - Time Projects (Botswana) Proprietary 
Limited (Time Projects).  Time Projects manage the day-to-day operations of the 
group and provides services when investment properties are being developed and/
or refurbished.  All such transactions are subject to scrutiny and assessment by 
the audit and risk committee before a recommendation is made to the independent 
board members.  The independent board members then review and approve 
before unitholder approval, where required under the Botswana Stock Exchange 
Listings Requirements, is sought.  Additional meetings and/or discussions are held 
by the audit and risk committee and independent board members if necessary,  
in order to facilitate this process.  

Where unitholder approval is required, they are provided with full disclosure of 
these transactions prior to voting and the linked units held by the related parties are 
not entitled to vote.  
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directors remuneration for the year ended 31 august 2021

Director BWP

P Matumo 152 798

A L Kelly 93 726

J C Jones 93 726

C Kgosidiile * 200 030

P Masie (appointed 17.05.2021) 33 575

M T Morolong 93 726

S Thapelo (resigned 24.02.2021) 49 780

*Including fees paid for attendance at Audit and Risk 
Committee meetings

The executive directors are remunerated by the external 
management company which is not disclosed in this report. 
Fees paid to the management company are fully disclosed in 
the related party note to the financial statements. 

audit and risk committee 
Certain duties have been delegated to this committee, whilst 
overall responsibility remains with the board.  The formal 
committee charter sets out its roles and responsibilities as 
well as the requirements for its composition and meeting 
procedures.  The board is satisfied that the committee 
members have recent and relevant financial experience –  
see pages 8 to 9 for the members directorate profiles.   
The implementation of recommendations made by this committee 
enhances the group’s transparency and accountability.

The committee meets independently of the board together with 
the external auditors, internal auditors, representatives of the 
external management company and executive directors by 
invitation.  These invitees join certain meetings when appropriate 
in order to contribute relevant insights and information.  

The committee is involved in the planning of the statutory 
annual audit at which a detailed risk assessment of the group 
is performed.  The committee reviews the consolidated annual 
financial statements before publication and receives a direct 
report from the auditors on the results and findings of the audit 
process.  On an annual basis the committee meets with the 
external auditor without any members the external management 
company and the executive directors being present.    

In accordance with the Botswana Stock Exchange Listings 
Requirements all related party transactions are reviewed by 
this committee before they are recommended to the board for 
their review and subsequent approval.

The other duties of this committee are to provide the board 
with assurance on the following: 

 ◆ The accuracy and reliability of the annual financial 
statements,

 ◆ That appropriate financial and operating controls are in 
place,

 ◆ That significant operating and financial risks have been 
identified, evaluated and mitigated,  

 ◆ Compliance by the group with legal and regulatory 
requirements,

 ◆ Consideration of the appropriateness of the expertise 
and experience of the finance director of the external 
management company, and 

 ◆ The independence and performance of the group’s 
external auditors.

The committee has considered and satisfied itself as to the 
appropriateness of the capability and experience of the 
Finance Director of the external management company and 
the wider finance function as provided to the group.  

external audit
During the year in an effort to benchmark costs and 
streamline the audit process throughout the group, the 
company undertook a formal tender process for the 
appointment of the external auditor of the company.  
Following the conclusion of this process, Deloitte and  
Touche was retained as PrimeTime’s external auditor.  

At the start of the audit, Deloitte and Touche presented their 
audit plan which identified key audit matters which they 
expected to require significant auditor attention.  

The group’s investment properties are measured at fair 
value using judgements and estimates including lease 
renewal periods, tenanting vacancies, remaining periods 
on ground leases, capitalisation rates, highest and best use 
determination for properties and market conditions.  The 
medium to long-term impact of COVID-19 on the rental 
income for the group also introduces uncertainties.  Due to 
the significance of the investment property fair values in the 
financial statements combined with the level of judgement 
involved in determining them, the valuation of investment 
property was identified as a key audit matter by Deloitte and 
Touche.  The committee has assessed and concluded that 
the groups’ policy and procedures for valuing investment 
property is adequate and that their carrying value in the 
financial statements is fairly disclosed.  

Due to the net current liability position of the group, the key 
judgements applied in the going concern assessment were 
also identified as a key audit matter by Deloitte and Touche.  
The committee has assessed the key judgements made in 
assessing the appropriateness of applying the going concern 
principle in preparing the financial statements and is satisfied 
that the financial statements are appropriately prepared on 
that basis and that the disclosure therein is adequate.    

Following a review of the annual financial statements and 
based on processes carried out by the external auditors 
and assurances obtained, the committee recommended the 

annual financial statements for the year ended 31 August 
2021 to the board for approval.

The external auditors are responsible for the independent 
review and the expression of an opinion on the 
reasonableness of the financial statements based on the 
audit.  The committee has evaluated the independence 
and effectiveness of Deloitte and Touche as PrimeTime’s 
external auditor and is satisfied that the external auditor is 
independent of the group.  In addition the committee was 
also satisfied with the quality of their audit work and the 
effectiveness of Cecilia Ramatlapeng as the audit partner.  
The committee accordingly nominates Deloitte and Touche as 
independent external auditor for reappointment at the AGM, 
with a rotation of audit partner as Cecilia Ramatlapeng has 
now served for 7 years.  

Internal audit
In July 2021 BDO Services Proprietary Limited were appointed 
by PrimeTime to perform internal audit services for the group.  
Their planning work was completed in October 2021 and a 3-year 
approved detailed program will commence in January 2022.  

The audit and risk committee will examine and discuss with 
the internal auditor the appropriateness of internal controls 
and will meet with them on an annual basis without the 
external management company or executive directors being 
present.  The committee is comfortable that the internal 
auditor has the necessary skills and resources to address the 
risks faced by the group and will continuously evaluate and 
review the group’s internal audit function.  

Meetings and attendance during the financial year
Audit and Risk 
Committee member

External audit planning and 
finalisation meetings

Special 
meetings

C Kgosidiile (chairman) 2 (2) 3 (3)
N Dixon-Warren 2 (2) 3 (3)
The number in brackets represents the number of meetings 
held during the office of the member.

Performance during the 2021 financial year
Key focus areas addressed by the committee during the 2021 
financial year:

 ◆ Appointment of internal audit consultant and approval of 
their workplan,

 ◆ Benchmarking of the external audit costs and streamlining 
the audit process within the group, and

 ◆ Improved King IV compliance eg. meeting with the 
external auditors independently from the external 
management.

The audit and risk committee is satisfied that it has fulfilled its 
responsibilities in accordance with its terms of reference, for 
the reporting period.  

Directors’ dealings
The group operates a policy of prohibiting dealings by 
directors and management in periods immediately preceding 
the announcement of its interim and year-end financial 
results, and any period when the group is trading under a 
cautionary announcement.    

company and Meeting Secretary 
PricewaterhouseCoopers act as the company secretary 
and a representative attends all annual and extraordinary 
general meetings.  The company secretary plays a critical 
role in the corporate governance of the group, acting as 
an advisor to the board, guiding individual directors and 
committees in areas such as corporate governance, updates 
on legal and statutory amendments and the effective 
execution of directors’ responsibilities and fiduciary duties. 
PricewaterhouseCoopers possess the required qualifications 
to carry out company secretarial duties as stipulated under 
Section 162 of the Botswana Companies Act, Chapter 42:01. 
  
An annual review of the company secretary by the board 
is scheduled to ensure that they are competent, suitably 
qualified and experienced, to include:

 ◆ An assessment of the work performed for the company 
over the last year,

 ◆ A review of their qualifications and experience in 
company secretarial matters,

 ◆ Written confirmation from them that there is no conflict of 
interest with the company,

 ◆ Provision of an engagement letter with agreed annual 
fees,

 ◆ A re-tender process is performed every 5 years next due 
in 2022, and

 ◆ The removal of the company secretary is a matter for the 
board as a whole.

 
The external management company provides a meeting 
secretary to take minutes at the board and committee 
meetings and these are subsequently ratified by the board.
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King IV
compliance update

OUTCOME: ETHICAL CULTURE through leadership, ethics and corporate citizenship

Principle Description King VI recommended practices
The board should:

Continued compliance actions

1. Leadership The board should lead 
ethically and effectively

 ◇ Cultivate and perform collectively and 
individually with integrity and accountability;

 ◇ Provide leadership that results in achievement 
of strategy over time; 

 ◇ Be held accountable for leadership.

 ◇ All directors formally accept the code of ethics 
and business conduct;

 ◇ An external board assessment process is 
a deliverable of the corporate governance 
consultant during Q1 2022.

2. Organisational Ethics The board should govern the 
ethics of the organisation 
in a way that supports the 
establishment of an ethical 
culture

 ◇ Set the direction for ethics in the group;
 ◇ Approve codes of conduct and ethics;
 ◇ Ensure stakeholders can be made familiar with 
the codes;

 ◇ Delegate the implementation of the codes to 
management;

 ◇ Disclose how ethics are being managed.

 ◇ All codes and charters are regularly reviewed, 
amended and approved by the board as the 
group evolves;

 ◇ Appointment of executive directors ensures 
external management company buy-in.

3. Responsible 
Corporate Citizenship

The board should ensure 
that the organisation is and 
is seen to be a responsible 
corporate citizen

 ◇ Set the direction for good corporate citizenship;
 ◇ Oversee and monitor the group’s status as a 
good corporate citizen;

 ◇ Disclose how corporate citizenship is 
managed.  

 ◇ A compliance policy is a deliverable of the 
corporate governance consultant during Q1 
2022.

OUTCOME: GOOD PERFORMANCE through strategy, performance and reporting

Principle Description King VI recommended practices
The board should:

Continued compliance actions

4. Strategy and 
performance

The board should appreciate 
that the organisation’s 
core purpose, its risks and 
opportunities, strategy, 
business model, performance 
and sustainable development 
are all inseparable elements of 
the value creation process

 ◇ Steer and set direction, purpose and strategy;
 ◇ Delegate to management the formulation and 
approval of strategy;

 ◇ Approve managements’ policies and 
operational plans and delegate implementation 
to them;

 ◇ Oversee strategy implementation and ongoing 
assessment;

 ◇ Be alert to the organisation’s general viability, 
liquidity and going concern status.

 ◇ A strategy workshop was held in October 2021 
with the next strategy document update to be 
tabled and adopted in 2022;

 ◇ Board review of operational and financial 
performance on a quarterly basis is established 
and ongoing;

 ◇ Currently focus is on liquidity and debt 
maturity profile management.

5. Reporting The board should ensure 
that reports issued by 
the organisation enable 
stakeholders to make 
informed assessments of the 
organisation’s performance, 
and its short-, medium- and 
long-term prospects

 ◇ Set the direction for the organisations 
reporting; 

 ◇ Ensure that the various reports are compliant 
with legal reporting requirements;

 ◇ Ensure that an integrated annual report is 
issued;

 ◇ Oversees the publication and access by 
stakeholders of all reports on its website or 
other appropriate media/platform.

 ◇ An integrated report is scheduled to be 
published for the year ended 31 August 2022;

 ◇ All public announcements and reports are 
included on its website www.primetime.co.bw.

OUTCOME: EFFECTIVE CONTROL through governing structures and delegation

Principle Description King VI recommended practices
The board should:

Continued compliance actions

6. Primary roles and 
responsibilities of the 
governing body

The board should serve as the 
focal point and custodian of 
corporate governance in the 
organisation

 ◇ Exercise its leadership role;
 ◇ Disclose number of meetings and attendance 
thereof.

 ◇ All codes and charters are regularly reviewed, 
amended and approved by the board as the 
group evolves;

 ◇ Full disclosure of meetings by the board and 
all committees is included in the governance 
section of this report.

7. Composition of the 
governing body

The board should comprise 
the appropriate balance of 
knowledge, skills, experience, 
diversity and independence 
for it to discharge its 
governance role and 
responsibilities objectively 
and effectively

These cover processes and procedures around:
 ◇ Composition of the governing body,
 ◇ Nomination, election and appointment, 
 ◇ Independence and conflicts,
 ◇ Chair of the board.

 ◇ Board composition has been a focus over the 
last 12 months and is ongoing.  Details are 
disclosed on page 10;

 ◇ All members complete a declaration of interests 
form at every board meeting;

 ◇ Independent members serving for more than 
nine years are reviewed annually.

8. Committees of the 
board

The board should ensure 
that its arrangements 
for delegation within its 
own structures promote 
independent judgement and 
assist with balance of power 
and the effective discharge of 
its duties

 ◇ Determine which committees are required, 
that they have formal terms of reference, a 
defined purpose with the resources to function 
effectively;

 ◇ Ensure that any members and/or management 
can attend committee meetings;

 ◇ Remain accountable with committees reporting 
back;

 ◇ Disclose details of committees,
 ◇ Consider establishing an audit committee if it 
issues audited financial statements;

 ◇ Consider allocating oversight of risk 
governance to a dedicated committee or 
another appropriate committee.

 ◇ The board has established an audit and risk 
committee.  See pages 36 to 37 for further 
details;

 ◇ The board has given due consideration to the 
establishment of additional committees.

9. Evaluation of the 
performance of the 
governing body

The board should ensure 
that the evaluation of its own 
performance and that of its 
individual members support 
continued improvement in its 
performance and effectiveness

 ◇ Take responsibility for performance 
evaluations;

 ◇ Have evaluations facilitated externally at least 
every two years.

 ◇ An external board assessment process is 
a deliverable of the corporate governance 
consultant during Q1 2022.

https://www.primetime.co.bw
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OUTCOME: EFFECTIVE CONTROL through governing structures and delegation

Principle Description King VI recommended practices
The board should:

Continued compliance actions

10. Appointment 
and delegation to 
management

The board should ensure 
that the appointment of and 
delegation to management 
contribute to role clarity 
and the effective exercise of 
authority and responsibilities

 ◇ Delegation of certain powers and matters to 
suitably competent management and monitor 
them;

 ◇ Ensure that it has access to professional and 
independent guidance on legal and corporate 
governance matters.

 ◇ The board remains responsible for formulating 
and implementing group policy and making all 
strategic decisions, however it has delegated 
the day-to-day management of the group to the 
external management company as detailed on 
pages 12 to 21; 

 ◇ An external corporate governance consultant 
has been engaged to assist in formalising 
certain procedures and policies as referenced 
throughout this report.  

11. Risk governance The board should govern risk 
in a way that supports the 
organisation in setting and 
achieving strategic objectives

 ◇ Set the approach for risk governance and treat 
risk as an integral part of decision-making and 
adherence to all duties;

 ◇ Delegate and oversee risk management 
implementation to management;

 ◇ Consider receiving independent assurance on 
the effectiveness of risk management.

 ◇ The board maintains a detailed risk register 
which is reviewed and updated annually, and 
more frequently if new risks are identified;

 ◇ The board ensures that mitigating action is 
executed by the executive directors;

 ◇ See page 32 to 33 for details of key risks;
 ◇ A risk management policy is a deliverable from 
the corporate governance consultant during Q1 
2022.

12. Technology and 
information governance

The board should govern 
technology and information 
in a way that supports the 
organisation setting and 
achieving its strategic 
objectives

 ◇ Set the approach and approve the policy for 
technology and information governance;

 ◇ Delegate and oversee effective technology and 
information implementation to management;

 ◇ Consider receiving independent assurance on 
the effectiveness of technology and information 
management.

 ◇ The external management company has 
adopted a technology and information policy;

 ◇ This will be reviewed by the board for approval 
in Q1 of 2022.

13. Compliance 
governance

The board should govern 
compliance with applicable 
laws and adopted, non-
binding rules, codes and 
standards in a way that 
supports the organisation’s 
being ethical and a good 
corporate citizen

 ◇ Direct the governance of compliance to all 
relevant legislation and approve a policy 
thereto;

 ◇ Delegate and oversee effective compliance 
implementation to management.

 ◇ A compliance policy is a deliverable of the 
corporate governance consultant during Q1 
2022.

14. Remuneration 
governance

The board should ensure that 
the organisation remunerates 
fairly, responsibly and 
transparently so as to promote 
the achievement of strategic 
objectives and positive 
outcomes in the short, 
medium and long term

These cover processes and procedures around:
 ◇ Remuneration policy;
 ◇ Remuneration report;
 ◇ Voting on remuneration.

 ◇ The group does not have any employees as it is 
managed by an external management company

 ◇ The board has set its retainer and meeting 
fees by an estimation of the time taken by the 
directors to adequately fulfil their duties and 
benchmarking to comparable entities;

 ◇ Directors fees are reviewed annually, disclosed 
on page 36 and in the notes to the annual 
financial statements, and require unitholder 
approval at the AGM.

OUTCOME: EFFECTIVE CONTROL through governing structures and delegation

Principle Description King VI recommended practices
The board should:

Continued compliance actions

15. Assurance The board should ensure 
that assurance services and 
functions enable an effective 
control environment, and that 
these support the integrity 
of information for internal 
decision making and of the 
organisation’s external reports

These cover processes and procedures around:
 ◇ Combined assurance services;
 ◇ Assurance of external reports; and
 ◇ Internal audit.

 ◇ Pages 36 to 37 disclose information on the 
management of the external and internal 
auditors.

OUTCOME: LEGITIMACY through Stakeholder inclusivity

Principle Description King VI recommended practices
The board should:

Continued compliance actions

16. Stakeholders In the execution of its 
governance role and 
responsibilities, the board 
should adopt a stakeholder 
inclusive approach that 
balances the needs, interests 
and expectations of material 
stakeholders in the best 
interests of the organisation 
over time

These cover processes and procedures around:
 ◇ Stakeholders relationships;
 ◇ Unitholder relationships; and
 ◇ Relationships within a group of companies.

 ◇ Members of the board and the external audit 
partner avail themselves at every AGM;

 ◇ The board ensures that minority interests are 
protected when decision-making;

 ◇ The executive directors regularly engage with 
tenants, fund managers and financiers;

 ◇ See pages 30 to 31 for details on stakeholder 
engagement;

 ◇ The company’s website www.primetime.co.bw 
is used to disseminate information;

 ◇ Stakeholder management and dispute 
resolution policies are deliverables due from 
the corporate governance consultant during Q1 
2022.

https://www.primetime.co.bw
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Incorporated in the republic of Botswana
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Date of Incorporation 29 August 2007

Nature of business
The group and company is engaged in 
property investment

Physical address
Acacia
Prime Plaza
Plot 74538 CBD
Cnr of Khama Crescent Extension and 
PG Matante
Gaborone

Debenture Trust Trustee
J Hinchliffe
Unit G, Plot 129
Kgale Mews
P. O. Box 2378
Gaborone

Directors
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A L Kelly
J Jones
C Kgosidiile
M T Morolong
P Masie
C Musendu-Kusane

Company Secretary
PricewaterhouseCoopers

Registered office
Plot 50371, Fairgrounds Office Park
P O Box 249
Gaborone

Auditor
Deloitte & Touche
Plot 64518, Fairgrounds
P O Box 778
Gaborone

Transfer Secretaries
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Proprietary Limited
t/a Corpserve Botswana Transfer 
Secretaries
Unit 206
Plot 64516
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Gaborone

Property & asset managers
Time Projects (Botswana)  
Proprietary Ltd
Acacia
Prime Plaza
Plot 74538 CBD
Cnr of Khama Crescent Extension and 
PG Matante
Gaborone

Corporate information
As at 31 August 2021

The Directors have pleasure in submitting to the linked unit holders their report and the audited financial statements of PrimeTime Property Holdings Limited 
(“Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group” or “Consolidated”) for the year ended 31 August 2021.

Nature of Business
The Company is a variable rate loan stock public company and derives its revenue primarily from the rental of investment properties.  The company’s registration 
number is BW00000877365.

Stated Capital and Debentures
At 31 August 2020 and 31 August 2021 the stated capital of the Company comprised 244 650 684 ordinary shares, with a nominal value of P14 242 773, which are 
linked to 244 650 684 variable rate unsecured debentures with a nominal value of P323 329 682.

Each linked unit comprises an ordinary share and one variable rate unsecured debenture, which are indivisible.

The 244 650 684 linked units are listed on the Botswana Stock Exchange.

Financial Statements
The statements of financial position set out the financial position of the Company and Group at 31 August 2021 and the statements of profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income, statements of cash flows and statements of changes in equity reflect the operating results for the year ended on that date.

Linked Units Distribution Policy
Distributions to linked unit holders are primarily in the form of debenture interest. The following distributions were made/proposed during the year:

Debenture interest (thebe) 2021 2020
Interim paid 29 March 2021 (23 March 2020) 5.26 6.32
Interim paid 31 August 2021 (28 August 2020) 6.35 6.32
Total interim declared and paid for the year 11.61 12.64

Proposed as at year end
Final proposed 1.33 3.14

12.94 15.78
Administration and Management
The management of the company’s properties is undertaken by a related party, Time Projects (Botswana) Proprietary Limited.

Directors
The following persons acted as Directors of the Company during the period under review and up to the date of approval of these financial statements:

P Matumo* (1) (Chairman)
A L Kelly (2)
J Jones (3)
C Kgosidiile* (1)
P Masie* (1) Appointed 17 May 2021
M T Morolong (1)
S Thapelo* (1) Resigned 24 February 2021
C L Masendu-Kusane* (1) Appointed 4 October 2021
N Dixon-Warren * (1) Appointed 22 November 2021
*Non-executive (1)  Motswana (2)  South African (3)  British

Directors’ Holdings in Linked Units
The number of linked units held directly and indirectly by Directors at the year end is as follows:

Directors Held Directly Held Indirectly Held Directly Held Indirectly
2021 2021 2020 2020

J Jones and family  37 360  -  37 360  - 
A L Kelly and family  451 303  40 028 705  451 303  40 028 705 
P Matumo   661 729  -   661 729  - 
M T Morolong and family   7 440  -   7 440  - 
P Masie and family   16 000  - N/A N/A
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Directors’ statement of responsibility
The directors are responsible for the 
preparation and fair presentation of 
the financial statements of PrimeTime 
Property Holdings Limited, comprising the 
separate and consolidated statements 
of financial position as at 31 August 
2021, and the separate and consolidated 
statements of profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income, the separate and 
consolidated statements of changes in 
equity, and the statement of cash flows 
for the year then ended, and the notes to 
the financial statements, which include 
a summary of significant accounting 
policies and other explanatory notes in 
accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards (“IFRS”).
 
The directors are required by 
the Companies Act of Botswana 
(Companies Act, 2003), to maintain 
adequate accounting records and are 
responsible for the content and integrity 
of and related financial information 
included in this report. It is their 
responsibility to ensure that the financial 
statements fairly present the state of 
affairs of the Company and Group as 
at the end of the financial year and the 
results of its operations and cash flows 
for the year then ended, in conformity 
with IFRS. The external auditors are 
engaged to express an independent 
opinion on the financial statements. 
Their unmodified opinion is presented 
on pages 45 to 49.
  
The financial statements are prepared 
in accordance with IFRS and are based 
upon appropriate accounting policies 
consistently applied and supported by 
reasonable and prudent judgements 
and estimates.

 The directors’ responsibility also 
includes maintaining adequate 
accounting records and an effective 
system of risk management as well as 
the preparation of the supplementary 
schedules included in these financial 
statements.
 
The directors acknowledge that they 
are ultimately responsible for the 
system of internal financial control 
established by the Company and Group 
and place considerable importance 
on maintaining a strong control 
environment. To enable the directors to 
meet these responsibilities, the board 
sets standards for internal control 
aimed at reducing the risk of error or 
loss in a cost effective manner. The 
standards include the proper delegation 
of responsibilities within a clearly 
defined framework, effective accounting 
procedures and adequate segregation 
of duties to ensure an acceptable level 
of risk. These controls are monitored 
throughout the Company and Group 
and all employees are required to 
maintain the highest ethical standards 
in ensuring the company’s business 
is conducted in a manner that in all 
reasonable circumstances is above 
reproach. The focus of risk management 
in the Company and Group is on 
identifying, assessing, managing 
and monitoring all known forms of 
risk across the Company and Group. 
While operating risk cannot be fully 
eliminated, the company endeavours to 
minimise it by ensuring that appropriate 
infrastructure, controls, systems 
and ethical behaviour are applied 
and managed within predetermined 
procedures and constraints.
 

The going concern basis has been 
adopted in preparing the financial 
statements. After taking into 
consideration the potential effects of 
COVID-19 and the net current liability 
position of the Company and Group, 
the directors have reviewed the cash 
flow forecasts, the cash at bank and 
borrowing facilities available and have 
concluded that there is no material 
uncertainty on the Company and 
Group’s ability to continue as a going 
concern.  Detailed considerations made 
have been disclosed on Note 32 to the 
financial statements.

The directors are of the opinion, based 
on the information and explanations 
given by management, that the system 
of internal control provides reasonable 
assurance that the financial records 
may be relied on for the preparation 
of the financial statements. However, 
any system of internal financial control 
can provide only reasonable, and not 
absolute, assurance against material 
misstatement or loss.
  
Approval of the financial statements
The separate and consolidated financial 
statements set out on pages 50 to 93, 
which have been prepared on the going 
concern basis, were approved by the 
Board of Directors on 10 December 
2021 and were signed on its behalf by:

DIRECTOR DIRECTOR
J C Jones P Matumo

PrimeTime Property Holdings Limited
Directors’ statement of responsibility and approval of the financial statements 31 August 2021

PO Box 778
Gaborone
Botswana

Deloitte & Touche
Assurance & Advisory Services
Chartered Accountants
Deloitte House
Plot 64518
Fairgrounds
Gaborone
Botswana

Tel: +(267) 395 1611
Fax: +(267) 397 3137
www.deloitte.com

Independent auditor’s report - to the shareholders of PrimeTime Property Holdings Limited

opinion 
We have audited the separate and consolidated financial statements of PrimeTime Property Holdings Limited (“the Company”) 
and its subsidiaries (“the Group”), set out on pages 50 to 93, which comprise the statements of financial position as at 31 August 
2021, and the statements of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the statements of changes in equity and statements 
of cash flows for the year then ended, a summary of the significant accounting policies and notes to the financial statements. 

In our opinion, the separate and consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the separate and consolidated 
financial position of the Company and Group as at 31 August 2021, and its separate and consolidated financial performance 
and separate and consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards (“IFRS”).

Basis for opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our responsibilities under those 
standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated and Separate Financial 
Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group and Company in accordance with the International 
Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ International Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (including International 
Independence Standards) (IESBA Code), together with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial 
statements in Botswana, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the 
IESBA Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Key audit Matters
Key audit matters are matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the separate and 
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the 
separate and consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a 
separate opinion on these matters. 

Partners: CV Ramatlapeng (Botswana) FC Els (South Africa) P Nail (Zimbabwe)
 MJ Wotherspoon (South Africa)

Associate of Deloitte Africa, a Member of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu Limited

httpw://www.deloitte.com
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Key Audit Matter How the matter was addressed in the audit

Valuation of Investment Properties (Group and Company) 

As disclosed in Note 8, the carrying amount of investment 
properties amounted to P1.4 billion (Company: P904 million) 
and the fair value loss recorded in the profit or loss for the 
year in respect of investment properties was P35.4 million 
(Company: gain of P16 million). 

The Group uses independent external valuers to determine 
the fair values for all properties on an annual basis. The 
independent valuers perform full valuations on the portfolio 
on a five-year rotational cycle, in between the full valuation, 
the properties are subjected to a desktop valuation.

The key inputs applied in the fair value determination for each 
property vary as a result of the nature, location, size, physical 
condition and land tenure of the respective properties. 

The valuation of the investment properties is dependent 
on assumptions and judgements such as the future 
estimated rental values (comprising revenue escalation 
rates, expenditure escalation rates and vacancy rates) and 
capitalisation rates and discounts rates.

Changes to the assumptions on the estimated rental values, 
capitalisation rates and discount rates will significantly affect 
the valuation of the investment property.

For the purpose of our audit we identified the valuation 
of investment property as a key audit matter due to the 
significance of the balance to the separate and consolidated 
financial statements as a whole and the estimates and 
judgements associated with determining the fair value.

We assessed the design and implementation of the relevant 
controls over the valuation process of investment properties.

We assessed the competence, capabilities and objectivity 
of the Directors’ independent valuers, and verified their 
qualifications. In addition, we discussed and reviewed 
their terms of engagement to determine that there were no 
matters that affected their independence and objectivity or 
imposed scope limitations upon them. We confirmed that the 
approaches they used are consistent with IFRS and industry 
norms. 

We tested a selection of data inputs underpinning the 
investment property valuation, including future estimated 
rental values, capitalisation rates and discount rates, against 
appropriate supporting documentation, to assess the 
accuracy, reliability, and completeness thereof.

We have assessed the reasonability of net income used in 
the valuation model by reviewing of the 2022 budgets and 
testing the reasonableness of assumptions made to take into 
account the effect of COVID-19 on net income on a sample 
basis. 

We used our specialists to assess the reasonableness of 
selected properties values by comparing the values to our 
calculated range to determine if the values were within the 
range.

We also evaluated the appropriateness of the valuation 
methods used by comparison to valuation methods used by 
other property companies.

We found the models (discounted cashflow and net income 
model) to be appropriate and the capitalisation rates were 
comparable to market rates and those used in the prior year.

We assessed the adequacy of the disclosures in the financial 
statements relating to investment properties and we found 
the disclosures in the separate and consolidated financial 
statements to be appropriate and comprehensive. 

Independent auditor’s report – to the shareholders of PrimeTime Property Holdings (continued)

Key Audit Matter How the matter was addressed in the audit

Key Judgements applied in the Going Concern Assessment (Group and Company)

The Group’s current liabilities exceed current assets as at 31 
August 2021 by P417 million (Company: P304 million). The 
current liabilities as at 31 August mainly comprise long term 
debts repayable by a bullet payment at the end of tenure of 
the facility which are due for settlement within 12 months of 
the reporting date. The Group further breached some of its 
covenants with a lender as described on note 32. The breach 
resulted in the loans being classified as a current liability in 
the financial statements. 

In addition to the above, the global impact of COVID-19 has 
resulted in an unprecedented increased level of economic 
uncertainty. The Group’s operations have been directly 
affected through reduced rental income in some months and 
the deferment of capital raising activities. This uncertainty 
has an impact on the outlook of the future cash flows of the 
Group and Company and further contributes to the Group 
and Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.

Considerable time and effort was spent by both the Directors 
and auditors in assessing the appropriateness of the going 
concern assumption as well as the impact of COVID-19 
on the forecasts of the Group. As a result, the assessment 
of whether a material uncertainty exists on the Group and 
Company’s ability to continue as a going concern has been 
evaluated as a key audit matter.

The Directors have considered whether developments 
subsequent to the reporting date have any implications 
on the adoption of the going concern assumption through 
evaluating the impact on the Group’s capital and liquidity 
position. As stated in note 32, the Directors have concluded 
that the going concern basis of accounting is appropriate 
and in reaching their conclusions, they have taken into 
consideration all of the latest information, including new 
assumptions and judgements about forward-looking 
economic scenarios.

We assessed the risk on going concern and took into 
account the additional considerations of the impact of 
COVID-19 on the Group and Company when assessing the 
future cash flows and judgements applied in reaching the 
going concern conclusion.

In evaluating the Directors’ judgements in determining 
whether there are any material uncertainties which may cast 
doubt on the Group and Company’s ability to continue as a 
going concern, the following procedures were performed:

 ◆ Assessing the operational disruptions from COVID-19 
and the related lockdowns imposed in the various 
jurisdictions in which the Group operates understanding 
the actions taken by management and the Directors to 
mitigate the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic.

 ◆ Reviewing the Directors’ cash flow forecasts for the 
next 12 months from the date of approval of these 
consolidated financial statements and critically 
challenging the key inputs into these forecasts including 
the following: 

 ◇ Assessing the reasonability of the Group and 
Company’s ability to secure more borrowings;

 ◇ Assessing the Group and Company’s compliance on 
the existing borrowing covenants;

 ◇ Reviewing correspondence from the lender including 
confirmation of waivers of covenants where there was 
a breach in the covenants to assess the reasonability 
of the Directors’ assumption that the lenders will not 
recall the borrowings; 

 ◇ Assessing the reasonability of the projected revenue, 
costs and cash collections;

 ◇ Challenging the reasonableness of the key 
assumptions used by the Directors in determining the 
impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on going concern; 

 ◇ Performing a sensitivity analysis on the net cash flows 
by flexing the cash from operations by 10% and 20% 
and assessing the impact on the headroom of the 
available banking facilities with respect the existing 
covenants, and

 ◇ Performing a retrospective review of previous 
management assumptions and estimates compared 
to actual results to determine management’s ability to 
forecast with reasonable accuracy.

 ◆ Assessing the related disclosure relating to going 
concern in the consolidated financial statements.

Independent auditor’s report – to the shareholders of PrimeTime Property Holdings (continued)
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Key Audit Matter How the matter was addressed in the audit

Key Judgements applied in the Going Concern Assessment (Group and Company)

The Directors are confident that lenders will continue to view the 
Group as a secure lender and that the Group and Company will 
have sufficient liquidity to sustain the operations and fund the 
current developments.

The judgements applied with respect to the Directors reaching 
their going concern conclusion are disclosed in note 32 of the 
consolidated financial statements.

Based on the procedures performed, we believe the 
conclusions reached by the Directors on the Group and 
Company’s ability to continue as a going concern and that 
no material uncertainty related to going concern exists are 
appropriate.

We consider the disclosures in note 32, to the separate and 
consolidated financial statements to be appropriate.

other information
The Directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the Directors’ Report and the Directors 
Statement of Responsibility and Approval of Financial Statements, which we obtained prior to the date of this auditor’s report, 
and the Chairman and External Management Report and the Corporate Governance Report, which are expected to be made 
available to us with the Annual Report after the date in this report. The other information does not include the separate and 
consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the separate and consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express 
any form of assurance conclusion thereon. 

In connection with our audit of the separate and consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other 
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or 
our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. 

If, based on the work we have performed on the other information that we obtained prior to the date of this auditor’s report, we 
conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to 
report in this regard.

responsibilities of the directors for the Separate and consolidated Financial Statements 
The Directors are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these separate and consolidated financial 
statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and for such internal control as the Directors 
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of separate and consolidated financial statements that are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the separate and consolidated financial statements, the Directors are responsible for assessing the Company’s 
and Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using 
the going concern basis of accounting unless the Directors either intend to liquidate the Company and/or Group or to cease 
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors are responsible for overseeing the Company and Group’s financial reporting process.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Separate and consolidated Financial Statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the separate and consolidated financial statements as a 
whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our 
opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with 
ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered 
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users 
taken on the basis of these separate and consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism 
throughout the audit. We also:

 ◆ Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the separate and consolidated financial statements, whether 
due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is 
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting 
from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

 ◆ Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate 
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s and Group’s 
internal control. 

 ◆ Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related 
disclosures made by the Directors. 

 ◆ Conclude on the appropriateness of the Directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and based on the audit 
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on 
the Company’s and Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we 
are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the separate and consolidated financial 
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence 
obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Company and/or Group 
to cease to continue as a going concern. 

 ◆ Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the separate and consolidated financial statements, including 
the disclosures, and whether the separate and consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions and 
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

 ◆ Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business activities within 
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision 
and performance of the Group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and 
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit. 

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding 
independence, and communicate with them any relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our 
independence that we are aware of, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied. 

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit 
of the separate and consolidated financial statements for the financial year ended 31 August 2021, and are therefore the key audit 
matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes disclosure about the matter or when, 
in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse 
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the users’ interest benefits of such communication. 

Deloitte & Touche
Certified Auditors
Practicing Member: C Ramatlapeng (CAP 008 2021)
Gaborone

10 December 2021

Independent auditor’s report – to the shareholders of PrimeTime Property Holdings (continued) Independent auditor’s report – to the shareholders of PrimeTime Property Holdings (continued)
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PrimeTime Property Holdings Limited
Statements of profit or loss and other comprehensive income for the year ended 31 August 2021

 Company  Consolidated 

Notes 2021 2020 2021 2020

 P  P  P  P 

Revenue 1 120 740 653 119 388 799 177 900 908 179 221 129 

Operating expenses 2 (46 093 321) (45 190 482) (65 099 059) (67 890 485)

Exchange differences on translating foreign balances (16 948 362) 19 841 259 (7 695 003)  11 308 154 

Ground lease straight line adjustment  - (20 367)  - (20 367)

Profit from operations before fair value adjustment 57 698 970 94 019 209 105 106 846 122 618 431 

Fair value adjustment 3 16 074 193 4 365 020 (35 455 545) (61 407 737)

Profit from operations 73 773 163 98 384 229 69 651 301 61 210 694 

Interest income 4 31 658 762 33 951 932  745 755 1 656 272 

Interest expense 4 (42 856 806) (42 415 082) (51 587 945) (53 270 796)

Profit before taxation 62 575 119 89 921 079 18 809 111 9 596 170 

Taxation 6.1 2 106 409 (16 723 430) (4 122 537) (23 721 235)

Profit/(loss) for the year 64 681 528 73 197 649 14 686 574 (14 125 065)

Other comprehensive income/(loss)

Items that may be subsequently classified to profit or loss

Exchange differences on translation foreign operations 2 624 964 (6 964 979) 3 313 050 (7 930 141)

Other comprehensive income/(loss) 2 624 964 (6 964 979) 3 313 050 (7 930 141)

Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the year 67 306 492 66 232 670 17 999 624 (22 055 206)

Attributable to

Owners of the holding company 17 999 624 (22 055 206)

Earnings/(Loss) per linked unit

Basic (thebe) 7  8.85  (2.30)

Diluted (thebe) 7  8.85  (2.30)

PrimeTime Property Holdings Limited
Statements of financial position as at 31 August 2021

 Company  Consolidated 
 Restated Restated

Notes 2021 2020 2019 2021 2020
 P  P  P  P  P 

ASSETS
Non-current assets
Investment properties 8 904 587 222 920 217 212  862 669 638 1 421 811 751 1 495 493 677 
Work in progress 10 126 925 650 60 510 472  52 299 965 126 925 650 60 510 472 
Investment in subsidiary 11  1 020  1 020   1 020  -  - 
Amounts due from related parties 13 527 472 769 516 961 175  479 313 626  -  - 
Rentals straight-line adjustment 51 674 130 54 531 548  55 102 443 58 559 048 59 264 385 
Ground lease straight-line adjustment  -  -   20 367 - -

1 610 660 791 1 552 221 427 1 449 407 059 1 607 296 449 1 615 268 534 

Current assets
Amounts due from related parties 13  -  - -  -  3 912 
Trade and other receivables 14 11 083 674 6 442 242  3 359 562 20 716 567 17 032 661 
Rentals straight-line adjustment 6 584 673 6 729 540  3 374 080 9 616 256 7 388 519 
Taxation receivable  1 618 936 1 563 815  1 602 844 2 497 151 1 563 815 
Cash and cash equivalents 15 1 284 383 14 314 869  29 934 712 27 423 013 33 877 484 

20 571 666 29 050 466  38 271 198 60 252 987 59 866 391 

Investment properties held for sale 12 43 883 981  - - 43 883 981  - 
Total assets 1 675 116 438 1 581 271 893 1 487 678 257 1 711 433 417 1 675 134 925 

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Capital and reserves
Stated capital 16 14 242 773 14 242 773  14 242 773 14 242 773 14 242 773 
Debentures 17 323 329 682 323 329 682  323 329 682 323 329 682 323 329 682 
Reserves 18 492 544 231 449 939 038  413 818 954 354 977 805 361 679 480 
Debenture interest reserve 19  3 264 388 7 682 032  10 299 794  3 264 388 7 682 032 
Total equity and reserves 833 381 074 795 193 525  761 691 203 695 814 648 706 933 967 

Non-current liabilities
Deferred taxation 6 35 444 298 50 337 777  45 999 621 35 444 298 50 337 777 
Long term borrowings 22 481 028 990 396 864 156  521 465 917 500 051 592 559 000 516 
Lease liabilities 23  690 177  891 147 - 2 782 344 3 052 008 

517 163 465 448 093 080  567 465 538 538 278 234 612 390 301 

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 20 11 677 584 21 510 687  23 986 389 17 049 726 26 066 640 
Amounts due to related parties 21 14 756 819 5 244 619  3 792 135 15 343 875 5 919 575 
Current portion of long term borrowings 22 270 593 230 305 118 126  103 137 038 416 702 871 314 913 139 
Lease liabilities 23  202 033  187 988 -  202 496  188 433 
Deferred revenue 24 2 361 239 2 331 121  2 368 691 3 060 573 4 432 150 
Bank overdraft 25 23 763 285  -  25 179 982 23 763 285  - 
Tax payable  1 217 709 3 592 747   57 281 1 217 709 4 290 720 

324 571 899 337 985 288  158 521 516 477 340 535 355 810 657 
   

Total equity and liabilities 1 675 116 438 1 581 271 893 1 487 678 257 1 711 433 417 1 675 134 925 
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PrimeTime Property Holdings Limited
Statements of changes in equity for the year ended 31 August 2021

Foreign 
currency Debenture

Stated Accumulated translation interest
Notes capital Debentures profits reserve reserve Total

COMPANY P P P P P P
Balance at 1 September 2019 14 242 773 323 329 682 418 869 365 (5 050 411) 10 299 794 761 691 203 
Profit for the year - - 73 197 649 - - 73 197 649 
Other comprehensive (loss) for the year - - - (6 964 980) - (6 964 980)
Total comprehensive income/(loss) 
for the year - - 73 197 649 (6 964 980) - 66 232 669 

2019 final debenture interest paid - -  - - (10 299 794) (10 299 794)
2020 interim debenture interest paid 5 - - (30 923 846) - - (30 923 846)
2020 final proposed debenture interest 5 - - (7 682 032) - 7 682 032 - 
Taxation attributable to debenture 
interest 6.1 - - 8 493 293 - - 8 493 293 

Balance at 31 August 2020 14 242 773 323 329 682 461 954 429 (12 015 391) 7 682 032 795 193 525 
Profit for the year - - 64 681 528 - - 64 681 528 
Other comprehensive income for the 
year - - - 2 624 964 - 2 624 964 

Total comprehensive income for 
the year - - 64 681 528 2 624 964 - 67 306 492 

2020 final debenture interest paid 5  -  - - - (7 682 032) (7 682 032)
2021 interim debenture interest paid 5  -  - (28 403 944) - - (28 403 944)
2021 final proposed debenture interest 5  -  - (3 264 388) - 3 264 388 - 
Taxation attributable to debenture 
interest 6.1 - - 6 967 033 - - 6 967 033 

Balance at 31 August 2021 14 242 773 323 329 682 501 934 658 (9 390 427) 3 264 388 833 381 074 

CONSOLIDATED
Balance at 1 September 2019 14 242 773 323 329 682 416 456 607 (2 609 336) 10 299 794 761 719 520 
Loss for the year - - (14 125 065) - - (14 125 065)
Other comprehensive (loss) for the year - - - (7 930 141) - (7 930 141)
Total comprehensive loss for the 
year - - (14 125 065) (7 930 141) - (22 055 206)

2019 final debenture interest paid - -  - - (10 299 794) (10 299 794)
2020 interim debenture interest paid 5 - - (30 923 846) - - (30 923 846)
2020 final proposed debenture interest 5 - - (7 682 032) - 7 682 032 - 
Taxation attributable to debenture 
interest 6.1 - - 8 493 293 - - 8 493 293 

Balance at 31 August 2020 14 242 773 323 329 682 372 218 957 (10 539 477) 7 682 032 706 933 967 
Profit for the year - - 14 686 574 - - 14 686 574 
Other comprehensive income for the 
year - - - 3 313 050 - 3 313 050 

Total comprehensive income for 
the year  -  - 14 686 574 3 313 050 - 17 999 624 

2020 final debenture interest paid 5  -  - - - (7 682 032) (7 682 032)
2021 interim debenture interest paid 5  -  - (28 403 944) - - (28 403 944)
2021 final proposed debenture interest 5  -  - (3 264 388) - 3 264 388 - 
Taxation attributable to debenture 
interest 6.1  -  - 6 967 033 - - 6 967 033 

Balance at 31 August 2021 14 242 773 323 329 682 362 204 232 (7 226 427) 3 264 388 695 814 648 

PrimeTime Property Holdings Limited
Statements of cash flows for the year ended 31 August 2021

 Company  Consolidated 
 Restated 

Notes 2021 2020 2021 2020
 P  P  P  P 

Cash flows from operating activities
Profit for the year before taxation 62 575 119 89 921 079 18 809 111 9 596 171 
Interest income 4 (31 658 762) (33 951 932) (745 755) (1 656 272)
Interest expense 4 42 856 806 42 415 082 51 587 945 53 270 796 
Fair value adjustments on revaluation of investment properties 3 (13 071 908) (7 129 216) 34 349 512 57 420 840 
Operating income before working capital changes 60 701 255 91 255 013 104 000 813 118 631 535 
Increase in trade and other receivables (4 641 432) (3 082 680) (3 683 906) (407 021)
Decrease in trade and other payables (9 833 103) (2 475 702) (9 016 914) (1 729 439)
Increase in amounts due to related parties 9 512 200 1 452 484 9 424 300 1 418 497 
Decrease/(increase) in current amounts due from related parties 16 275 615 (19 680 884)  3 912 (3 912)
Increase/(decrease) in deferred revenue  30 118 (37 570) (1 371 577)  889 835 
Cash generated from operations 72 044 653 67 430 661 99 356 628 118 799 495 
Income taxes paid (8 250 196) (317 483) (16 055 330) (6 429 090)
Net cash generated from operating activities 63 794 457 67 113 178 83 301 298 112 370 405 

Cash flows from investing activities
Interest received 4 871 553 15 985 267  745 755 1 656 272 
Cost of additions and interest capitalised to investment properties 8 (9 905 297) (1 385 308) (10 325 049) (94 611 360)
Additions to work in progress 10 (66 415 178) (65 855 227) (66 415 178) (65 855 227)
Net cash used in investing activities (71 448 922) (51 255 268) (75 994 472) (158 810 315)

Cash flows from financing activities
Long term borrowings raised 217 521 259 169 692 087 223 079 296 218 029 491 
Long term borrowings repaid (166 362 558) (94 041 687) (178 664 112) (97 429 329)
Repayment of principle portion of leases (186 925) (176 119) (255 711) (93 061)
Lease liabilities recognised - 1 255 254   110 3 333 502 
Debenture interest paid (36 085 976) (41 223 640) (36 085 976) (41 223 640)
Interest paid on lease liabilities 4 (69 248) (82 429) (211 481) (225 810)
Interest paid on all other borrowings (44 306 324) (40 603 726) (52 950 843) (51 995 240)
Net cash (used in)/generated from financing activities (29 489 772) (5 180 260) (45 088 717) 30 395 913 

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents for 
the year (37 144 237) 10 677 650 (37 781 891) (16 043 997)

Cash at beginning of the year 14 314 869 4 754 730 33 877 484 74 866 165 
Effects of exchange rate  350 466 (1 117 511) 7 564 135 (24 944 684)
Cash balances at end of the year (22 478 902) 14 314 869 3 659 728 33 877 484 

Comprising:
Bank balances and cash 1 284 383 14 314 869 27 423 013 33 877 484 
Bank overdraft (23 763 285)  - (23 763 285)  - 
Cash balances at end of the year (22 478 902) 14 314 869 3 659 728 33 877 484 
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PrimeTime Property Holdings Limited
Significant accounting policies 31 August 2021

general information
PrimeTime Property Holdings Limited is a limited company 
incorporated in the Republic of Botswana. The company is listed 
on the Botswana Stock Exchange.  The address of its registered 
office, principal place of business and principal activities are 
disclosed under the Corporate Information on page 42.

adoption of new and revised accounting standards
Standards and interpretations effective in the current year
In the current year, the Group adopted all of the applicable 
new and revised Standards and Interpretations of the 
International Accounting Standards Board (the IASB) and the 
IFRS Interpretations Committee (IFRIC) of the IASB that are 
relevant to its operations and effective for annual reporting 
periods beginning on 1 September 2020.  There have been 
no significant changes to the financial results of the entity 
arising from the adoption of the revised standards and new 
interpretations.

new/revised international Financial reporting Standards 
adopted in the current year
changes in accounting policies and disclosures
The accounting policies adopted and methods of 
measurement followed are consistent with those of the previous 
financial year.

There were new and amendments to standards and 
interpretations which are applicable for the first time in the 
current year, but either not relevant or do not have an impact 
on the separate and consolidated financial statements of 
the Group. The Group has not early adopted any standard, 
interpretation or amendment that has been issued but is not 
yet effective. The new standards and amendments effective 
for the first time in the current year are detailed below:

amendments to references to the conceptual Framework in 
iFrS Standards
The new Framework: 
◆ Reintroduces the terms stewardship and prudence.
◆ Introduces a new asset definition that focuses on rights 

and a new liability definition that is likely to be broader 
than the definition it replaces, but does not change the 
distinction between a liability and an equity instrument. 

◆ Removes from the asset and liability definitions references 
to the expected flow of economic benefits–this lowers the 
hurdle for identifying the existence of an asset or liability 
and puts more emphasis on reflecting uncertainty in 
measurement. 

◆ Discusses historical cost and current value measures, 
and provides some guidance on how the IASB would 
go about selecting a measurement basis for a particular 
asset or liability. 

◆ States that the primary measure of financial 
performance is profit or loss, and that only in exceptional 
circumstances will the IASB use other comprehensive 

income and only for income or expenses that arise from 
a change in the current value of an asset or liability. 

◆ Discusses uncertainty, derecognition, unit of account, the 
reporting entity and combined financial statements. 

The IASB has also updated references in Standards so that 
they will refer to the new Framework, but it has not made 
consequential amendments to Standards to reflect changes 
in the Framework such as changing the asset and liability 
definitions in the Standards.

The amendments did not have a significant impact on the 
Group’s accounting policies.

Definition of a business – Amendments to IFRS 3 
The amendment:
◆ confirmed that a business must include inputs and 

a processes, and clarified that the process must be 
substantive and that the inputs and process must together 
significantly contribute to creating outputs. 

◆ narrowed the definitions of a business by focusing the 
definition of outputs on goods and services provided 
to customers and other income from ordinary activities, 
rather than on providing dividends or other economic 
benefits directly to investors or lowering costs; and 

◆ added a test that makes it easier to conclude that 
a company has acquired a group of assets, rather 
than a business, if the value of the assets acquired is 
substantially all concentrated in a single asset or group of 
similar assets. 

This amendment will be applied by the Group for any future 
business combination transaction.

Definition of Material - Amendments to IAS 1 & IAS 8
The amendments are intended to make the definition of 
material in IAS 1 easier to understand and are not intended to 
alter the underlying concept of materiality in IFRS Standards.
 
The concept of ‘obscuring’ material information with 
immaterial information has been included as part of the new 
definition. 

The threshold for materiality influencing users has been 
changed from ‘could influence’ to ‘could reasonably be 
expected to influence’. 

The definition of material in IAS 8 has been replaced by a 
reference to the definition of material in IAS 1. In addition, 
the IASB amended other Standards and the Conceptual 
Framework that contain a definition of material or refer to the 
term ‘material’ to ensure consistency. 

The amendments did not have a significant impact on the 
Group’s accounting policies.
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covid-19-related rent concessions - amendments to iFrS 16
The COVID-19 pandemic has resulted in an amendment to 
IFRS 16 Leases. Lessees may elect not to assess whether 
a rent concession that meets the conditions in paragraph 
46B is a lease modification. If this election is applied, then 
any change in lease payments must be accounted for in the 
same way as a change would be accounted for it were not a 
lease modification. This practical expedient only applies to 
rent concessions occurring as a direct consequence of the 
COVID-19 pandemic and only if:
◆ the change in lease payments results in revised 

consideration for the lease that is substantially the 
same as, or less than, the consideration for the lease 
immediately preceding the change; 

◆ any reduction in lease payment affects only payments 
originally due on or before 30 June 2021 and 

◆ there is no substantive change to other terms and 
conditions of the lease. 

The amendment does not bring any changes to lessor 
accounting.

The amendment did not have a significant impact on the 
Group’s accounting policies.

interest rate Benchmark reform - amendments to iFrS 9, 
iaS 39 and iFrS 7 (Phase 1) 
◆ The amendments will affect entities that apply the 

hedge accounting requirements of IFRS 9 or IAS 39 to 
hedging relationships directly affected by the interest rate 
benchmark reform. 

◆ The amendments modify specific hedge accounting 
requirements, so that entities would apply those hedge 
accounting requirements assuming that the interest rate 
benchmark is not altered as a result of the interest rate 
benchmark reform. 

◆ The changes will mandatorily apply to all hedging 
relationships that are directly affected by the interest rate 
benchmark reform. 

◆ The amendments are not intended to provide relief from 
any other consequences arising from the interest rate 
benchmark reform. If a hedging relationship no longer 
meets the requirements for hedge accounting for reasons 
other than those specified by the amended Standards, 
then discontinuation of hedge accounting is still required.

◆ The amendments are applied retrospectively to those 
hedging relationships that existed at the beginning of 
the reporting period in which an entity first applies the 
amendments or were designated thereafter, and to the 
gain or loss recognised in other comprehensive income 
that existed at the beginning of the reporting period in 
which an entity first applies the amendments. 

◆ Differences between the Exposure Draft and the final 
amendments include relief from the retrospective 

assessment of hedge effectiveness (the ‘80–125% 
rule’) when applying IAS 39, relief from the separately 
identifiable requirement for macro hedges, the inclusion 
of some foreign currency hedging in the scope of 
the amendments, and changes to the disclosure 
requirements.

The amendment did not have a significant impact on the 
Group’s accounting policies.

At the date of approval of these financial statements, the 
following applicable standards and interpretations were in 
issue but not effective:

Amendments to IFRS 16: COVID-19 Rental related discounts 
(Effective annual periods beginning on or after 1 June 2021)

In May 2020, the IASB amended IFRS 16 to provide lessees 
with a practical expedient that relieves a lessee from 
assessing whether a COVID-19-related rent concession 
is a lease modification. Among other conditions, the 2020 
amendment permits a lessee to apply the practical expedient 
only to rent concessions for which any reduction in lease 
payments affects only payments originally due on or before 
30 June 2021. 

Due to the ongoing nature of the pandemic, the Board has 
extended that date to permit a lessee to apply the practical 
expedient to rent concessions for which any reduction in 
lease payments affects only payments originally due on or 
before 30 June 2022.

Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-Current 
(Amendments to IAS 1) (effective annual periods beginning on 
or after 1 January 2023)

The amendments aim to promote consistency in applying the 
requirements by helping companies determine whether, in the 
statement of financial position, debt and other liabilities with 
an uncertain settlement date should be classified as current 
(due or potentially due to be settled within one year) or non-
current.

Property, Plant and Equipment — Proceeds before Intended 
Use (Amendments to IAS 16) (effective annual periods 
beginning on or after 1 January 2022)

The amendments prohibit deducting from the cost of an item 
of property, plant and equipment any proceeds from selling 
items produced while bringing that asset to the location 
and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating 
in the manner intended by management. Instead, an entity 
recognises the proceeds from selling such items, and the 
cost of producing those items, in profit or loss.

adoption of new and revised accounting standards (continued)
new/revised international Financial reporting Standards adopted in the current year (continued)
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At the date of approval of these financial statements, the 
following applicable standards and interpretations were in 
issue but not effective (continued):
Onerous Contracts — Cost of Fulfilling a Contract 
(Amendments to IAS 37) (effective annual periods beginning 
on or after 1 January 2022)

The amendments specify that the ‘cost of fulfilling’ a contract 
comprises the ‘costs that relate directly to the contract’. Costs 
that relate directly to a contract can either be incremental 
costs of fulfilling that contract (examples would be direct 
labour, materials) or an allocation of other costs that relate 
directly to fulfilling contracts (an example would be the 
allocation of the depreciation charge for an item of property, 
plant and equipment used in fulfilling the contract).

IFRS 3 Business Combinations - Reference to Conceptual 
Framework (effective annual periods beginning on or after 1 
January 2022)

The amendment makes reference to the Conceptual 
Framework for Financial Reporting issued in 2018 rather than 
to the IASC’s Framework for the Preparation and Presentation 
of Financial Statements. The amendment specifically points 
to the treatment of liabilities and contingent liabilities acquired 
as part of a business combination, and which are in the scope 
of IAS 37 Provisions, Continent Liabilities and Contingent 
Assets or IFRIC 21 Levies. It clarifies that the requirements 
of IAS 37 or IFRIC 21 should be applied to provisions, 
contingent liabilities or levies to determine if a present 
obligation exists at the Acquisition date. The amendment 
further clarifies that contingent assets of acquirees share not 
be recognised as part of the business combination. 

Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising from a 
Single Transaction (Amendments to IAS 12) (effective annual 
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023)

The amendments introduce an exception to the initial 
recognition exemption in IAS 12. Applying this exception, 
an entity does not apply the initial recognition exemption 
for transactions that give rise to equal taxable and 
deductible temporary differences. The amendments apply 
to transactions that occur on or after the beginning of the 
earliest comparative period presented. 

The amendments also apply to taxable and deductible 
temporary differences associated with right-of-use assets 
and lease liabilities, and decommissioning obligations 
and corresponding amounts recognised as assets at the 
beginning of the earliest comparative period presented.

Amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39, IFRS 7, IFRS 4 and IFRS 16 
- Interest Rate Benchmark Reform - Phase 2(effective annual 
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021)

The amendments enable entities to reflect the effects of 
transitioning from benchmark interest rates, such as interbank 
offer rates (IBORs) to alternative benchmark interest rates 
without giving rise to accounting impacts that would not 
provide useful information to users of financial statements. 
The amendments affect many entities and in particular those 
with financial assets, financial liabilities or lease liabilities that 
are subject to interest rate benchmark reform and those that 
apply the hedge accounting requirements in IFRS 9 or IAS 39 
to hedging relationships that are affected by the reform. The 
amendments apply to all entities and are not optional. 

The amendments are applied retrospectively and include 
reinstatement of hedge relationships that were discontinued 
solely due to changes directly required by the reform.

Statement of compliance
The financial statements have been prepared in accordance 
with International Financial Reporting Standards. 

Basis of preparation
The financial statements have been prepared on the historical 
cost basis as modified by the revaluation of investment 
properties. The financial statements are based on the 
following principal accounting policies:

Consolidated financial statements
The consolidated financial statements incorporate the 
financial statements of the company and of its subsidiaries, 
which are those entities in which the company has an interest 
of more than one half of the voting rights or otherwise has 
power to govern their financial and operating policies and 
the subsidiary have not been classified as investments 
held for sale. The results of the subsidiary is included in the 
consolidated financial statements from the effective dates 
of acquisition and up to the effective dates of disposal. The 
purchase method of accounting is used to account for the 
acquisition of subsidiaries. The cost of an acquisition is 
measured as the fair value of the assets given up, shares 
issued or liabilities undertaken at the date of acquisition plus 
costs directly attributable to the acquisition. The excess of the 
cost of acquisition over the fair value of the net assets of the 
subsidiary acquired is recorded as goodwill. All significant 
intercompany transactions and balances between group 
companies are eliminated on consolidation. The accounting 
policies of the subsidiaries are consistent with the policies 
adopted by the Group.

adoption of new and revised accounting standards (continued)
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investment in subsidiaries
The Company accounts for its investment in subsidiaries 
at cost, which includes transaction costs, less provision 
for impairment. Cost is adjusted to reflect changes in 
consideration arising from contingent consideration 
amendments. Cost also includes direct attributable costs of 
investment.

Investments in subsidiaries are assessed for impairment 
when indicators of impairment are identified. Such impairment 
indicators include, but are not limited to, for example:
◆ Sustained deterioration in financial results of operations 

and/or financial position of the subsidiary; 
◆ Changes in the operating environment of a subsidiary, 

including regulatory and economic changes, market entry 
by new competitors, etc.; and

◆ Inability of a subsidiary to obtain finance required to 
sustain or expand operations.

Where impairment indicators are identified, the recoverable 
value of the subsidiary is measured at the lower of realisable 
value through sale less costs to sell, and value in use. Value 
in use is the present value of future cash flows expected to be 
derived from the subsidiary.

Once an impairment loss has been recognised, the Group 
assesses at each year-end date whether there is an indication 
that the impairment loss previously recognised no longer 
exists or has decreased. If this is the case, the recoverable 
value of the subsidiary is remeasured and the impairment loss 
reversed or partially reversed as may be the case.

Where the recoverable value of a subsidiary is below the 
carrying amount, the carrying amount is reduced to the 
recoverable value through an impairment loss charged to the 
statement of comprehensive income.

revenue recognition
Revenue comprises the fair value of the consideration 
received or receivable for the provision of services in the 
ordinary course of business, net of value added tax (VAT). 
Revenue is recognised when the Group has satisfied its 
performance obligations on the contracts with customers. 
 
rental income
Revenue comprises rental income from investment property. 
Rental income is recognised in profit or loss on a straight-
line basis over the terms of the lease agreement. Initial direct 
costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating 
lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased asset 
and recognised on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
 

revenue from services to tenants
For investment property held primarily to earn rental income, 
the Group enters as a lessor into lease agreements that 
fall within the scope of IFRS 16. These agreements include 
certain services offered to tenants such as cleaning, security, 
landscaping and other support services. The consideration 
charged to tenants for these services includes fixed fees 
charged and reimbursement of certain expenses incurred.

The Group has determined that these services constitute 
distinct non-lease components (transferred separately from 
the right to use the underlying asset) and are within the 
scope of IFRS 15. The Group allocates the consideration in 
the contract to the separate lease and revenue (non-lease) 
components on a relative stand-alone selling price basis.

In respect of the revenue component, these services 
represent a series of daily services that are individually 
satisfied over time because the tenants simultaneously 
receive and consume the benefits provided by the Group. 
The Group applies the time elapsed method to measure 
progress. 

interest income
Interest is accrued on a time basis, by reference to the 
principal outstanding and at the effective interest rate 
applicable, which is the rate that exactly discounts estimated 
future cash receipts through the expected life of the financial 
asset to that asset’s net carrying amount on initial recognition.

revenue from sale of properties
The Group, from time to time, enters into contracts with 
customers to sell some of its properties which it deems no 
longer core to its operations. The sale of these properties 
constitutes a single performance obligation and the Group 
has determined that the performance obligation is satisfied at 
the point in time when control transfers and this occurs when 
legal title transfers to the customer. 

In determining the transaction price, the Group considers the 
effects of variable consideration, the existence of significant 
financing components, non-cash consideration, and 
consideration payable to the customer (if any).

For some contracts, the Group is entitled to receive an initial 
deposit before the transaction is completed. This is not 
considered a significant financing component because it is 
for reasons other than the provision of financing to the Group. 
The initial deposits are used to protect the Group from the 
other party failing to adequately complete some or all of its 
obligations under the contract. In addition, there is no non-
cash consideration or consideration payable to customers. 
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taxation
current tax
The charge for current tax is based on taxable profit for 
the year. Taxable profit differs from profit as reported in the 
statement of comprehensive income because it excludes 
items of income or expense that are taxable or deductible 
in other years and it further excludes items that are not 
taxable or deductible.  The company’s liability for current 
tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or 
substantively enacted by reporting date.

deferred tax
Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between 
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the financial 
statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the 
computation of taxable profit, and is accounted for using 
the liability method. In principle deferred tax liabilities are 
recognised for all taxable temporary differences and deferred 
tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable 
that taxable profit will be available against which deductible 
temporary differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at 
each reporting date and reduced to the extent that it is no 
longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available 
to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax 
rates that are expected to apply in the period in which the 
asset is realised or the liability settled, based on tax rates 
(and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively 
enacted by the reporting date. The measurement of deferred 
tax liabilities and assets reflects the tax consequences that 
would follow from the manner in which the Group expects, at 
the reporting date, to recover or settle the carrying amount of 
its assets and liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax liabilities and 
deferred tax assets for investment properties that are 
measured using the fair value model in accordance with 
IAS 40 - Investment Property, the carrying amounts of such 
properties are presumed to be recovered through sale, 
unless the presumption is rebutted. The presumption is 
rebutted when the investment property is depreciable and 
is held within a business model of an entity whose business 
objective is to consume substantially all of the economic 
benefits embodied in the investment property over time, 
rather than through sale. If the presumption is rebutted, 
deferred tax liabilities and deferred tax assets for such 
investment properties are measured in accordance with the 
above general principles set out in IAS 12 - Income Taxes 
(i.e. based on the expected manner as to how the properties 
will be recovered).

Foreign currency transactions
The Group’s consolidated financial statements are presented 
in Botswana Pula, which is also the parent company’s 
functional currency. For each entity, the Group determines 
the functional currency and items included in the financial 
statements of each entity are measured using that functional 
currency. The Group uses the direct method of consolidation 
and on disposal of a foreign operation, the gain or loss that 
is reclassified to profit or loss reflects the amount that arises 
from using this method.

Transactions in foreign currencies are initially recorded by the 
Group’s entities at their respective functional currency spot 
rates at the date the transaction first qualifies for recognition.  
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign 
currencies are translated at the functional currency spot rates 
of exchange at the reporting date.

Differences arising on settlement or translation of monetary 
items are recognised in profit or loss with the exception of 
monetary items that are designated as part of the hedge of 
the Group’s net investment of a foreign operation. These are 
recognised in other comprehensive income (“OCI”) until the 
net investment is disposed of, at which time, the cumulative 
amount is reclassified to profit or loss. Tax charges and 
credits attributable to exchange differences on those 
monetary items are also recorded in OCI.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical 
cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange 
rates at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary 
items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are 
translated using the exchange rates at the date when the fair 
value is determined. The gain or loss arising on translation of 
non-monetary items measured at fair value is treated in line 
with the recognition of the gain or loss on the change in fair 
value of the item (i.e., translation differences on items whose 
fair value gain or loss is recognised in OCI or profit or loss are 
also recognised in OCI or profit or loss, respectively).

On consolidation, the assets and liabilities of foreign operations 
are translated into Botswana Pula at the rate of exchange 
prevailing at the reporting date and their statements of profit 
or loss are translated at exchange rates prevailing at the 
dates of the transactions. The exchange differences arising on 
translation for consolidation are recognised in OCI. On disposal 
of a foreign operation, the component of OCI relating to that 
particular foreign operation is recognised in profit or loss.

Any goodwill arising on the acquisition of a foreign operation 
and any fair value adjustments to the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities arising on the acquisition are 
treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign operation and 
translated at the spot rate of exchange at the reporting date.

PrimeTime Property Holdings Limited
Significant accounting policies (continued) 31 August 2021

Borrowing costs
Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, 
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are 
assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get 
ready for their intended use or sale, are added to the cost of 
those assets, until such time as the assets are substantially 
ready for their intended use or sale.

Investment income earned on the temporary investment of 
specific borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying 
assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for 
capitalisation. Borrowing costs not directly attributable the 
acquisition, construction or production of qualifying assets 
are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they are 
incurred.

Leasing
the group as lessee
The Group assesses whether a contract is or contains a lease, 
at inception of the contract. The Group recognises a right-of-
use asset and a corresponding lease liability with respect to all 
lease arrangements in which it is the lessee, except for short-
term leases (defined as leases with a lease term of 12 months 
or less) and leases of low value assets. For these leases, the 
Group recognises the lease payments as an operating expense 
on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease unless another 
systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in 
which economic benefits from the leased assets are consumed.

The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the 
lease payments that are not paid at the commencement date, 
discounted by using the rate implicit in the lease. If this rate 
cannot be readily determined, the Group uses its incremental 
borrowing rate determined as its weighted average cost of debt.

Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease 
liability comprise:
◆ fixed lease payments less any lease incentives where 

applicable;
◆ variable lease payments that depend on an index or 

rate, initially measured using the index or rate at the 
commencement date;

◆ the amount expected to be payable by the lessee under 
residual value guarantees;

◆ the exercise price of purchase options, if the lessee is 
reasonably certain to exercise the options; and

◆ payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease 
term reflects the exercise of an option to terminate the 
lease.

The lease liability is presented as a separate line in the 
statement of financial position.

The lease liability is subsequently measured by increasing the 

carrying amount to reflect interest on the lease liability (using 
the effective interest method) and by reducing the carrying 
amount to reflect the lease payments made.

The Group remeasures the lease liability (and makes a 
corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use asset) 
whenever:
◆ the lease term has changed or there is a change in the 

assessment of exercise of a purchase option, in which 
case the lease liability is remeasured by discounting the 
revised lease payments using a revised discount rate.

◆ the lease payments change due to changes in an 
index or rate or a change in expected payment under 
a guaranteed residual value, in which cases the lease 
liability is remeasured by discounting the revised lease 
payments using the initial discount rate (unless the lease 
payments change is due to a change in a floating interest 
rate, in which case a revised discount rate is used).

◆ a lease contract is modified and the lease modification is 
not accounted for as a separate lease, in which case the 
lease liability is remeasured by discounting the revised 
lease payments using a revised discount rate.

The Group did not make any such adjustments during the 
periods presented.

The right-of-use assets comprise the initial measurement of 
the corresponding lease liability, lease payments made at or 
before the commencement day and any initial direct costs. 
They are subsequently measured at cost less accumulated 
depreciation and impairment losses.

Whenever the Group incurs an obligation for costs to 
dismantle and remove a leased asset, restore the site on 
which it is located or restore the underlying asset to the 
condition required by the terms and conditions of the lease, 
a provision is recognised and measured under IAS 37. The 
costs are included in the related right-of-use asset, unless 
those costs are incurred to produce inventories.

Right-of-use assets are depreciated over the shorter period 
of lease term and useful life of the underlying asset. If a 
lease transfers ownership of the underlying asset or the cost 
of the right-of-use asset reflects that the Group expects to 
exercise a purchase option, the related right-of-use asset is 
depreciated over the useful life of the underlying asset. The 
depreciation starts at the commencement date of the lease.

Right-of-use assets of properties classified as investment 
properties are measured at fair value in line with the 
provisions of IAS 40.

The right-of-use assets are presented as a separate line in the 
statement of financial position.
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The Group as lessee – IFRS16 (continued) 
The Group applies IAS 36 to determine whether a right-of-use 
asset is impaired and accounts for any identified impairment 
loss as described in the ‘Property, plant and equipment’ policy.

Variable rents that do not depend on an index or rate are not 
included in the measurement of the lease liability and the 
right-of-use asset. The related payments are recognised as 
an expense in the period in which the event or condition that 
triggers those payments occurs and are included in the line 
‘Operating expenses’ in the statement of profit or loss.

As a practical expedient, IFRS 16 permits a lessee not to 
separate non-lease components, and instead account for 
any lease and associated non-lease components as a single 
arrangement. The Group has not used this practical expedient.

the group as lessor - iFrS 16
The Group enters into lease agreements as a lessor with 
respect to some of its properties. 

Leases for which the Group is a lessor are classified as 
finance or operating leases. Whenever the terms of the lease 
transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership 
to the lessee, the contract is classified as a finance lease. All 
other leases are classified as operating leases.

When the Group is an intermediate lessor, it accounts for 
the head lease and the sublease as two separate contracts. 
The sublease is classified as a finance or operating lease by 
reference to the right-of-use asset arising from the head lease.

Rental income from operating leases is recognised on 
a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease. 
Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an 
operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the 
leased asset and recognised on a straight-line basis over the 
lease term.

Amounts due from lessees under finance leases are 
recognised as receivables at the amount of the Group’s net 
investment in the leases. Finance lease income is allocated to 
accounting periods so as to reflect a constant periodic rate of 
return on the Group’s net investment outstanding in respect of 
the leases.

When a contract includes lease and non-lease components, 
the Group applies IFRS 15 to allocate the consideration under 
the contract to each component.

investment properties
Investment properties, which are properties held to earn 
rentals and capital appreciation, are measured initially at cost, 
including transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, 

investment properties are measured at fair value. Investment 
property is valued on an annual basis and adjusted to 
fair value as at year end. Costs incurred for additions to 
investment properties in the interim period between the fair 
value measurements are capitalised to the carrying value of 
such investment properties at cost. Gains and losses arising 
from changes in the fair value of investment properties are 
included in profit or loss in the period in which they arise. 

Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of investment 
property is included in profit or loss in the period in which the 
investment property is derecognised.

The change in fair value of investment properties is offset 
against the rental straight-line adjustment and ground lease 
straight line adjustment in profit or loss.

Work in progress
Properties in the course of construction or development for 
use as investment properties are carried at cost, less any 
recognised impairment loss. Cost includes professional fees 
and, for qualifying assets, borrowing costs capitalised in 
accordance with the company’s accounting policy.

Financial instruments
Financial instruments held by the Group are classified 
in accordance with the provisions of IFRS 9 Financial 
Instruments. Broadly, the classification possibilities, which are 
adopted by the Group, as applicable, are as follows:

Financial assets which are debt instruments
◆ Amortised cost. This category applies only when the 

contractual terms of the instrument give rise, on specified 
dates, to cash flows that are solely payments of principal 
and interest on  principal, and where the instrument is 
held under a business model whose objective is met by 
holding the instrument to collect contractual cash flows; or

◆ Fair value through other comprehensive income. This 
category applies only when the contractual terms of the 
instrument give rise, on specified dates, to cash flows that 
are solely payments of principal and interest on principal, 
and where the instrument is held under a business 
model whose objective is achieved by both collecting 
contractual cash flows and selling the instruments; or

◆ Mandatorily at fair value through profit or loss. This 
classification automatically applies to all debt instruments 
which do not qualify as at amortised cost or at fair value 
through other comprehensive income; or

◆ Designated at fair value through profit or loss. This 
classification option can only be applied when it eliminates 
or significantly reduces an accounting mismatch.

PrimeTime Property Holdings Limited
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Financial instruments (continued)
Financial liabilities
◆ Amortised cost; or 
◆ Mandatorily at fair value through profit or loss. This 

applies to contingent consideration in a business 
combination or to liabilities which are held for trading; or

◆ Designated at fair value through profit or loss. This 
classification option can be applied when it eliminates or 
significantly reduces an accounting mismatch; 

◆ the liability forms part of a group of financial instruments 
managed on a fair value basis; or 

◆ it forms part of a contract containing an embedded 
derivative and the entire contract is designated as at fair 
value through profit or loss.

Note 25 Financial instruments and risk management presents 
the financial instruments held by the Group based on their 
specific classifications.

The specific accounting policies for the classification, 
recognition and measurement of each type of financial 
instrument held by the Group are presented below:

trade and other receivables
Classification
Trade and other receivables, excluding, when applicable, 
VAT and prepayments, are classified as financial assets 
subsequently measured at amortised cost.

They have been classified in this manner because their 
contractual terms give rise, on specified dates to cash flows 
that are solely payments of principal and interest and the 
Group’s business model is to collect the contractual cash 
flows on trade and other receivables.

recognition and measurement
Trade and other receivables are recognised when the 
Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the 
receivables. They are measured, at initial recognition, at fair 
value plus transaction costs, if any. They are subsequently 
measured at amortised cost. The amortised cost is the 
amount recognised on the receivable initially, minus principal 
repayments and adjusted for any loss allowance.

impairment
The Group recognises a loss allowance for expected credit 
losses on trade and other receivables, excluding VAT and 
prepayments. The amount of expected credit losses is 
updated at each reporting date. The Group measures the 
loss allowance for balances receivable at an amount equal to 
lifetime expected credit losses (lifetime ECL), which represents 
the expected credit losses that will result from all possible 
default events over the expected life of the receivable.

Measurement and recognition of expected credit losses
The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for lease and other 
receivables receivables. The Group makes use of provision 
matrices as a practical expedient to the determination of 
expected credit losses on trade and other receivables. 
The provision matrices are based on historic credit loss 
experience. The loss allowance is calculated on an individual 
receivables category based on the ageing and  profile of the 
counterparties. In measuring the ECL, the Group considers 
both quantitative and qualitative information that is reasonable 
and supportable based on historical information that is 
available without undue cost or effort.

The impact of forward-looking macro-economic changes on 
the trade receivables at any point is likely to be insignificant 
given the short tenor of the Group’s trade receivables. The 
impact of any forecast macro-economic changes on default 
rates would therefore only impacts trade receivables that 
originated in the future. A key assumption that the Group 
has therefore made, is that any forecasted macro-economic 
changes are unlikely to affect the default behaviour of the 
current trade receivables. The ECL has therefore been 
calculated only with reference to probability of default used 
to calculate the lifetime ECL (i.e. no adjustments have been 
made for any forward-looking information).

An impairment gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss 
with a corresponding adjustment to the carrying amount of 
trade and other receivables, through use of a loss allowance 
account. The impairment loss is included in other operating 
expenses in profit or loss as a movement in credit loss 
allowance (note 14).

Write off policy
The Group writes off a receivable when there is information 
indicating that there is no realistic prospect of recovery, e.g. 
when the balance due from a counterparty is too small to follow 
up (cost benefit analysis) and balance is now long over-due or 
when efforts to collect from a funder have proved unsuccessful. 
Receivables written off may still be subject to enforcement 
activities under the Group’s recovery procedures, taking into 
account legal advice where appropriate. Any recoveries made 
are recognised in profit or loss.

credit risk
Details of credit risk are included in the financial instruments 
and risk management note (note 25).

cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents in the statement of financial 
position comprise cash at banks and on hand and short-term 
deposits with an original maturity of three months or less, 
which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value. 
Cash and cash equivalents are measured at amortised cost.
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trade and other payables
Classification
Trade and other payables (note 20), excluding VAT and 
amounts received in advance, are classified as financial 
liabilities subsequently measured at amortised cost.

recognition and measurement
They are recognised when the Group becomes a party to the 
contractual provisions, and are measured, at initial recognition, 
at fair value plus transaction costs, if any. They are subsequently 
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. 
The effective interest method is a method of calculating the 
amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating interest 
expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is 
the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments 
(including all fees and points paid or received that form an 
integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and 
other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the 
financial liability, or (where appropriate) a shorter period, to the 
amortised cost of a financial liability.

derecognition
Financial assets
The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the 
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or 
when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the 
risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another party. 
If the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the 
risks and rewards of ownership and continues to control the 
transferred asset, the Group recognises its retained interest in 
the asset and an associated liability for amounts it may have to 
pay. If the Group retains substantially all the risks and rewards 
of ownership of a transferred financial asset, the Group 
continues to recognise the financial asset and also recognises 
a collateralised borrowing for the proceeds received.

Financial liabilities
The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only 
when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or 
they expire. The difference between the carrying amount of 
the financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid 
and payable, including any non-cash assets transferred or 
liabilities assumed, is recognised in profit or loss.

related party transactions
Related parties are defined as those parties:

(a) directly, or indirectly through one or more intermediaries, if 
the party:
i. controls, is controlled by, or is under common control 

with, the entity (this includes parents, subsidiaries and 
fellow subsidiaries);

ii. has an interest in the entity that gives it significant 
influence over the entity; or

(b) that are members of the key management personnel of the 
entity, including close members of the family.

critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation 
uncertainty
Estimates and judgements are continuously evaluated 
and are based on historical experience and other factors, 
including expectations of future events that are believed to be 
reasonable under the circumstances.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the 
future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by definition, 
seldom equal the related actual results. The most significant 
estimates and assumptions made in the preparation of these 
consolidated financial statements are discussed below:

Fair value of investment properties
The directors use their judgement in selecting an appropriate 
valuation technique for the investment properties. Independent 
experts are engaged on a yearly basis to value the Group’s 
portfolio of properties. The independent valuers perform full 
valuations on the properties on a five year rotational cycle, 
in between the full valuations, the properties are subjected 
to desktop valuations. Investment properties are valued by 
reference to the discounted value of the net rentals and market 
evidence of transaction prices for similar properties.
 
trade and other receivables
The Group uses a provision matrix to calculate expected credit 
losses (ECLs) for trade receivables and other receivables and 
the  provision rates are based on days past due. 

The provision matrix is initially based on the Group’s historical 
observed default rates. The Group will calibrate the matrix 
to adjust the historical credit loss experience with forward-
looking information. For instance, if forecast economic 
conditions (i.e., gross domestic product) are expected to 
deteriorate over the next year which can lead to an increased 
number of defaults in the real estate sector, the historical 
default rates are adjusted.

At every reporting date, the historical observed default 
rates are updated and changes in the forward-looking 
estimates are analysed. The assessment of the correlation 
between historical observed default rates, forecast economic 
conditions and ECLs is a significant estimate. The amount of 
ECLs is sensitive to changes in circumstances and of forecast 
economic conditions. The Group’s historical credit loss 
experience and forecast of economic conditions may also not 
be representative of customer’s actual default in the future. 
The information about the ECLs on the Group’s trade and 
other receivables is disclosed in Note 14. 

PrimeTime Property Holdings Limited
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critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation 
uncertainty (continued)
trade and other receivables (continued)
The Group’s assessment of expected credit losses is 
inherently subjective due to the forward-looking nature of the 
assessments. The Group has provided bespoke support on a 
case-by-case basis to tenants which include rent discounts, 
rent-free periods and other arrangements reflecting the 
position of each customer. The Group’s assessments of 
the position of each customer including their assessment 
of expected insolvency filings or company voluntary 
arrangements, are based on assumptions and as a result, 
the value of the provisions for impairment of the Group’s 
trade receivables are subject to a degree of uncertainty and 
are made on the basis of assumptions which may not prove 
to be accurate, particularly in the current market with the 
unprecedented uncertainty caused by COVID-19.

taxation
Deferred tax assets are recognised for unused tax losses 
to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be 
available against which the losses can be utilised. Significant 
management judgement is required to determine the amount 
of deferred tax assets that can be recognised, based upon 
the likely timing and the level of future taxable profits, together 
with future tax planning strategies.
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Company Consolidated
2021 2020 2021 2020

1 Revenue P P P P
Rental income and revenue from contracts with customers are, as follows:
Rental income (excluding straight line adjustments) 106 394 731 99 345 164 151 229 935 149 480 099 
Straight line adjustments (3 002 285) 2 784 563 1 106 033 4 007 265 
Rental income 103 392 446 102 129 727 152 335 968 153 487 364 
Recovery of property expenses 17 348 207 17 259 072 25 564 940 25 733 765 
Total rental income and revenue from contracts with customers 120 740 653 119 388 799 177 900 908 179 221 129 

Note 29 contains further disaggregation of the Group’s contractual rental 
income from tenants based on geography.

2 Operating expenses
Included in operating expenses are the following costs:

Amounts paid to related parties
Asset management fees  9 130 984 8 875 391  9 705 044 9 510 676 
Property management fees  4 970 328 4 617 216  6 522 717 6 591 058 
Letting fees  204 033  462 668   270 134  581 762 

14 305 345 13 955 275  16 497 895 16 683 496 
Less: Asset management fees capitalised (1 499 603) (1 058 252) (1 499 603) (1 058 252)

12 805 742 12 897 023  14 998 292 15 625 244 
Auditors’ remuneration 
Audit fees - current year  687 460  613 177   971 853  912 786 
                 - prior year  6 896  7 213   10 309  7 213 
Other services - taxation - - -  55 612 
                        - consultancy -  12 215  4 922  17 361 
Directors’ emoluments - For services as Directors  783 952  868 127   783 952  868 127 
                                    - For additional services -  685 125 -  685 125 
Professional fees  686 299 1 142 348  1 009 313 1 271 285 
Rates  627 641  628 784  2 268 305 1 543 455 
Trustees’ fees  52 420  51 419   52 420  51 419 
Utilities, service levies and other property costs 20 619 557 19 893 336  28 352 670 30 073 171 
Variable lease payments not included in the measurement of lease liabilities 1 553 242 1 398 779  2 618 281 2 695 342 

3 Fair value adjustment
Change in fair value of investment properties for the year 13 071 908 7 129 216 (34 349 512) (57 420 839)
Rentals straight-line adjustment for the year 3 002 285 (2 784 563) (1 106 033) (4 007 265)
Ground lease straight-line adjustment  -  20 367  -  20 367 

16 074 193 4 365 020 (35 455 545) (61 407 737)
4 Interest

Interest income
- Bank deposits  16 192  435 957  703 209 1 656 272 
- Related parties (Note 27) 31 600 024 33 515 975 - - 
- Other  42 546 -  42 546 -

31 658 762 33 951 932  745 755 1 656 272 
Interest expense
- Bank borrowings and bonds 48 113 227 47 364 700 56 731 221 58 077 033 
- Related parties (Note 27)  29 264 - - - 
- Interest on lease liabilities  69 248  82 429  211 481  225 810 
- Other  2 172  21 232  2 348  21 232 

48 213 911 47 468 361 56 945 050 58 324 075 
Less: capitalised to work in progress (Note 10) (5 357 105) (5 053 279) (5 357 105) (5 053 279)

42 856 806 42 415 082 51 587 945 53 270 796
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Company Consolidated
2021 2020 2021 2020

P P P P
5 Debenture interest

Interim paid 29 March 2021 - 5.26 thebe 
(2020: 23 March 2020 - 6.32 thebe) 12 868 626 15 461 923 12 868 626 15 461 923 
Interim paid 31 August 2021 - 6.35 thebe 
(2020: 28 August 2020 - 6.32 thebe) 15 535 318 15 461 923 15 535 318 15 461 923 
Total declared and paid for the year 28 403 944 30 923 846 28 403 944 30 923 846 
Proposed debenture interest (in debenture reserve) 
Final proposed - 1.33 thebe (2020: 3.14 thebe) 3 264 388 7 682 032 3 264 388 7 682 032 
Total paid and proposed interest for the year 31 668 332 38 605 878 31 668 332 38 605 878 

Weighted average number of linked units in issue for the year 244 650 684 244 650 684 244 650 684 244 650 684 

Distribution per linked unit (thebe) 12.94 15.78 12.94 15.78

6 Taxation
6.1 Company Taxation

Withholding taxation - foreign interest - -  4 213 - 
                                  - foreign rental income  186 322  255 034 3 746 895 4 102 537 
                                  - dividend income - - 1 424 847  777 175 
Normal taxation - current year 5 672 197 3 629 102 7 129 475 6 002 229 
                           - prior year (38 482)  7 845 (256 447)  7 845 
Deferred taxation (14 893 479) 4 338 156 (14 893 479) 4 338 156 
Charge for the year (9 073 442) 8 230 137 (2 844 496) 15 227 942 

Income tax expense comprises:
Charge to statement of comprehensive income (2 106 409) 16 723 430 4 122 537 23 721 235 
Attributable to debenture interest credited to 
statement of changes in equity (6 967 033) (8 493 293) (6 967 033) (8 493 293)

(9 073 442) 8 230 137 (2 844 496) 15 227 942 

6.2 Deferred Taxation
Gains on fair value of investment property 3 152 548 15 148 044 3 152 548 15 148 044 
Capital allowances 32 291 750 35 189 733 32 291 750 35 189 733 
Deferred tax liability at end of the year 35 444 298 50 337 777 35 444 298 50 337 777 

Deferred taxation arises as follows:
Gains on fair value of investment property:
Balance at beginning of the year 15 148 044 16 453 535 15 148 044 16 453 535 
Movement during the year (11 995 496) (1 305 491) (11 995 496) (1 305 491)
Balance at end of the year 3 152 548 15 148 044 3 152 548 15 148 044 

Capital allowances on investment property:
Balance at beginning of the year 35 189 733 29 546 086 35 189 733 29 546 086 
Movement during the year (2 901 488) 5 643 647 (2 901 488) 5 643 647 
Underprovision in prior year  3 505 -  3 505 - 
Balance at end of the year 32 291 750 35 189 733 32 291 750 35 189 733 

Total deferred tax 35 444 298 50 337 777 35 444 298 50 337 777 
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6 Taxation (continued)
6.2 Deferred Taxation (continued)

PrimeTime Property Holdings Mauritius Limited has tax losses for which no deferred tax asset has been recognised as management have concluded 
that the company is unlikely to make taxable profits to utilise the losses before they expire. The losses for which no deferred tax asset has been 
recognised amount to P93 463 682 (2020: P80 525 611). The tax losses expire as follows:

Amount of loss Year of origination Year of expiry
P

18 215 836 2021 2026
43 138 794 2020 2025

3 201 616 2019 2024
18 479 759 2018 2023
10 427 677 2017 2022
93 463 682

Company Consolidated
2021 2020 2021 2020

P P P P
6.3 Reconciliation of taxation charge

Profit before taxation 62 575 119 89 921 079 18 809 111 9 596 171 

Tax at the domestic rates applicable to profits/(loss) in the country 
concerned 13 766 526 19 782 637 3 453 412 (4 365 914)

Debenture interest paid (7 938 915) (9 069 201) (7 938 915) (9 069 201)
Fair value adjustments (22 914 659) (2 328 387) (18 088 896) 3 200 073 
Foreign exchange losses/(gains) 8 093 717 (681 366) 8 093 717 (681 366)
Expenses not deductible  5 008  263 575  435 115 14 046 720 
Deferred and prepaid items taxable (5 513) - (33 869) - 
Lease liabilities (41 124) - (41 123) - 
Effect of (lower)/higher tax on foreign components - - (5 908 148) (134 243)
Withholding taxation - foreign income  -  255 034 1 424 852 1 207 141 
Prior year (over)/underprovision (38 482)  7 845 (256 448)  7 845 
Tax asset not recognised  -  - 13 928 019 13 315 614 
Exempt income  -  - (1 472 785) (6 380 215)
Withholding taxation - rent  -  - 3 560 573 4 427 055 
Foreign tax credit  -  -  - (345 567)
Charge for the year (9 073 442) 8 230 137 (2 844 496) 15 227 942 

 
7 Earnings per linked unit

The earnings and weighted average number of linked 
units used in the calculation of earnings per linked unit 
are as follows:

Profit for the year 64 681 528 73 197 649 14 686 574 (14 125 064)
Taxation attributable to debenture interest (Note 6.1) 6 967 033 8 493 293 6 967 033 8 493 293 
Earnings for the year attributable to linked unit holders 71 648 561 81 690 942 21 653 607 (5 631 771)
Weighted average number of linked units in issue for the year 244 650 684 244 650 684 244 650 684 244 650 684 
Earnings/(losses) per linked unit (thebe)  8.85  (2.30)
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Company Consolidated
2021 2020 2021 2020

P P P P
8 Investment properties

At fair value
Freehold properties 184 750 297 198 977 234 275 596 436 282 478 337 
Leasehold properties 719 836 925 721 239 978 1 146 215 315 1 213 015 340 
Total investment properties 904 587 222 920 217 212 1 421 811 751 1 495 493 677 

Reconciliation of fair value
Balance at beginning of the year 920 217 212 862 669 638 1 495 493 677 1 387 629 186 
Property additions at cost 9 905 297 1 385 308 10 325 049 94 611 360 
Transfers from work in progress -  57 644 720 - 57 644 720 
Fair value adjustment for the year (Note 3) 16 074 193 4 365 020 (35 455 545) (61 407 737)
Foreign exchange translation reserve 2 274 501 (7 102 728) (4 667 449) 13 682 645 
Recognition of right-of-use asset  - 1 255 254  - 3 333 503 
Reclassified as investment properties held for sale (note 12) (43 883 981) - (43 883 981) - 
Balance at end of the year  904 587 222  920 217 212 1 421 811 751 1 495 493 677 

Right-of-use assets
Investment properties include properties on land that are held as right-of-use assets, as well as properties that are owned by the Group.  At the date of initial 
application these leases contain a non-cancellable lease term of 5 to 94 years.

Reconciliation of carrying amount Owned property Right-of-use 
assets Total

Company P P P
Balance as 1 September 2020 899 400 791 20 816 421  920 217 212 
Acquisitions and transfers from work in progress 9 905 297  - 9 905 297 
Net change in fair value 17 569 807  778 887 18 348 694 
Reclassified as investment properties held for sale (note 12) (39 883 981) (4 000 000) (43 883 981)
Balance as 31 August 2021 886 991 914 17 595 308 904 587 222 

Group
Balance as 1 September 2020 1 444 964 408  50 529 269 1 495 493 677 
Acquisitions and transfers from work in progress 10 325 049  - 10 325 049 
Net change in fair value (40 464 889)  341 895 (40 122 994)
Reclassified as investment properties held for sale (note 12) (39 883 981) (4 000 000) (43 883 981)
Balance as 31 August 2021 1 374 940 587 46 871 164 1 421 811 751 
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8 Investment properties (continued)
The fair values of the company’s investment properties in Botswana at 31 August 2021 have been arrived at on the basis of valuations carried out at that date 
by Knight Frank Botswana Proprietary Limited, independent valuers.  Knight Frank Botswana Proprietary Limited are members of the Real Estate Institute of 
Botswana and are registered in terms of the Real Estate Professionals Act 2003. The principal valuer holds a recognised and relevant professional qualification 
and has recent experience in the locations and categories of the investment properties valued. The valuations conform to International Valuation Standards, and 
were determined by reference to the discounted value of the net rentals and market evidence of transaction prices for similar properties. 

The fair values of the group’s investment properties in Zambia at 31 August 2021 have been arrived at on the basis of valuations carried out at that date by Knight 
Frank (Zambia) Limited, independent valuers. Knight Frank (Zambia) Limited are members of both the Surveyors Institute of Zambia (SIZ) and the Zambia 
Institute of Estate Agents (ZIEA). The principal valuer holds a recognised and relevant professional qualification and has recent experience in the locations and 
category of the investment properties valued. The valuations conform to International Valuation Standards, and were determined by reference to the discounted 
value of the net rentals and market evidence of transaction prices for similar properties.  

The fair values of the group’s investment properties in South Africa at 31 August 2021 have been arrived at on the basis of valuations carried out at that date 
by Real Insight Proprietary Limited, independent valuers. Real Insight Proprietary Limited valuers are members of the South African Council for the Property 
Valuers Profession and are registered in terms of the Property Valuers Profession Act 2020.  The principal valuer also has recent experience in the locations and 
category of the investment properties valued. The valuations conform to International Valuation Standards, and were determined by reference to the discounted 
value of the net rentals and market evidence of transaction prices for similar properties.  

The Directors assessed the external valuation performed at year end as reasonable. Capital commitments relating to investment properties are disclosed in Note 
30. These have been contracted for. Revenue earned from the investment properties is disclosed in Note 1 and the related expenses are disclosed in Note 2. 

Freehold properties comprise:
- Plot 203, Gaborone  *1
- Plot 22, Gaborone  *1
- Plot 29, Gaborone  *2
- Plot 16177 - 16185, Francistown  *1
- Plot 29, Ghanzi  *1

Leasehold properties comprise:
- Plot 50423, Gaborone 50 year State grant from 20 October 1994 *1
- Plot 20610, Gaborone 50 year State grant from 31 January 2000 *1
- Plot 165, Gaborone 15 year Ground lease from 1 May 2005, with an option to renew for another 5 year period
- Plot 67979, Gaborone 50 year State grant from 13 July 2000 *1
- Plot 3273, Ramotswa 50 year Tribal lease from 9 March 1998
- Lease Area 110 MP on Plot 2461, Serowe 25 year Ground lease from 1 December 2006, extended from 1 December 2030 for a period of 21 years
- Plot 4649, Lobatse 20 year Ground lease from 1 November 2004 *1
- Plot 20584, Gaborone 50 year State grant from 27 November 1998
- Plot 62417, Gaborone 50 year State grant from 26 September 2005 *1
- Plot 74538, Gaborone 50 year state grant from 26 September 2005 *1
- Tribal Lot 439, Pilane Notarial deed of cession and delegation from Amatrix Developments Proprietary Limited of a 50 year  
 lease from 18th December 2008  registered at the Deeds Office on 14th October 2016 *1
- Plot 75749, Gaborone 50 year state grant from 26 September 2002
- Plot 75782, Gaborone 50 year state grant from 26 September 2002
- Stand 3144, Lusaka 99 year state lease from 1 July 1975
- Stand 3714, Kitwe 99 year state lease from 1 January 1968

Additionally in the Group:
Freehold properties comprise:
- Portion 7 of Erf 597 Spartan Extension 12, Ekurhuleni *1
- Erf 1618 Bryanston, City of Johannesburg  *1
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8 Investment properties (continued)

Leasehold properties comprise:

Subdivision D part of Stand No. 2374, Lusaka Ceded lease agreement from the Agricultural and Commercial Society of Zambia for 50 years 
 from 2004. *1
Subdivision 6 of Farm No. 377a, Lusaka Renewable lease agreement with the Zambian Diocesan Trustees for 35 years from 8 April 2015. *1
Stand No. 1001, Chirundu 99 year state lease held under a Certificate of Title from 1 May 2014
Subdivision 8 of Subdivision E of 
farm No. 609, Lusaka. 100 year state lease held under a Certificate of Title from 1 July 1975
Subdivision 8 of Subdivision E of farm 
No. 609, Lusaka. 100 year state lease held under a Certificate of Title from 1 July 1975 *1

*1 This property is encumbered as per Note 22
*2 These properties are encumbered as per Note 25

9 Fair value measurement
Assets measured at fair value

The investment properties of the Company and Group measured at fair value at the end of the reporting period are categorised under Level 3 - Significant 
unobservable inputs.

Company Consolidated
Recurring fair value measurements at 2021 2020 2021 2020
the end of the reporting period P P P P

Investment properties 904 587 222 920 217 212 1 421 811 751 1 495 493 677 

Reconciliation of fair value measurements categorised within
Level 3 of fair value hierarchy

Investment properties
Opening balance 920 217 212 862 669 638 1 495 493 677 1 387 629 186 
Included in profit or loss on owned properties 15 295 306 2 336 727 (35 797 440) (61 310 460)
Included in profit or loss on right of use assets  778 887 2 028 293  341 895  (97 277)
Foreign exchange translation reserve 2 274 501 (7 102 728) (4 667 449) 13 682 646 
Additions and transfers 9 905 297 59 030 028 10 325 049 152 256 080 
Finance costs capitalised  - -  -  - 
Disposals  - - - - 
Right-of-use asset - 1 255 254 - 3 333 502 
Reclassified as investment properties held for sale (note 12) (43 883 981) - (43 883 981) -
Closing balance 904 587 222 920 217 212 1 421 811 751 1 495 493 677 

Gains and losses arising from fair valuation of investment properties
are shown as a separate line in the statement of
comprehensive income as follows:

Total gains/(losses) for the period 16 074 193 4 365 020 (35 455 545) (61 407 737)
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Fair value at Fair value at Unobservable
9 Fair value measurement (continued) 31/8/2021 31/8/2021 input:

Company Group Capitalisation
Valuation techniques and inputs P P Rate
Investment properties (excluding straight-line adjustment)

Valuation technique Range (%)

Owned property Direct Capitalisation  861 637 052  861 637 052  7.75 - 9.75 
Discounted Cash Flow  25 354 862  513 303 535  7.00 - 14.50 

Right of use assets Direct Capitalisation  10 000 000  10 000 000  7.75 - 9.75
Discounted Cash Flow  7 595 308  36 871 164  7.00 - 14.50

 904 587 222 1 421 811 751 

Valuation process 
The valuation process has been described in Note 8.  

Information about sensitivity to changes in unobservable inputs
The fair value of investment properties is a function of the unobservable inputs in the valuation process. Significant changes in the unobservable inputs would 
result in significant changes in the fair value measurement of the investment properties. The outbreak of COVID-19 in the previous year continued to have a 
direct impact on the income for the Group and Company, albeit at a lower level compared to the previous year, as rental discounts and rent deferrals granted 
to tenants in the current year were much lower than the last year. 

The restrictions imposed by the governments have significantly been eased following the vaccinations roll-out in the different countries, but there is still 
widespread uncertainty which has a potential of affecting the group’s tenants operations and viability of their businesses. This uncertainty has been factored 
in the valuation of the investment properties especially in the capitalisation and discount rates, net income and vacancy rates. Due to the current uncertainty 
in the significant inputs, the estimated impact has been included in the current year.

We estimated the impact of a change in the following significant unobservable inputs would result in a change in the independent valuer’s valuation as follows:

Company Consolidated
2021 2020 2021 2020

P P P P
A decrease of 0.5% in the capitalisation and discount rate  52 985 790  58 342 803  80 737 692  86 594 136 
An increase of 0.5% in the capitalisation and discount rate (47 939 524) (44 053 575) (73 048 388) (69 801 581)
A decrease of 5% in the estimated rental value (50 336 500) (49 073 917) (76 700 807) (78 107 295)
An increase of 5% in the estimated rental value  50 336 500  49 073 917  76 700 807  78 107 295 

10 Work in progress

Balance at beginning of the year  60 510 472  52 299 965  60 510 472  52 299 965 
Transferred to investment property - (57 644 720) - (57 644 720)
Total additions for the year  66 415 178  65 855 227  66 415 178  65 855 227 
Additions  61 058 073  60 801 948 61 058 073 60 801 948 
Finance costs capitalised  5 357 105  5 053 279 5 357 105 5 053 279 

Balance at end of the year  126 925 650  60 510 472  126 925 650  60 510 472 

PrimeTime Property Holdings Limited
Notes to the separate and consolidated financial statements (continued) 31 August 2021

10 Work in progress (continued)
These costs are in relation to:

a) The Phase I development on Plot 75782 Setlhoa of a commercial office park was completed during the prior year and the property was transferred to 
investment property.  The serviced land value of Phase II remains in work in progress.

b) The acquisition of Plot 54359 in the Gaborone CBD was made in the year ended 31 August 2019. Some initial consultants fees were incurred during the 
prior year and the bulk earthworks commenced in the current year.  The development is scheduled to start in the next financial year. 

c) The development of a retail shopping centre at Plot 14076 Lobatse was commenced during the prior year.  The centre was completed after the year end 
and officially opened on 21 October 2021.

The finance costs capitalised relate to interest incurred on the various long term borrowings as disclosed in Note 22.

Proportion of
ownership

interest Company Consolidated
11 Investment in subsidiaries % 2021 2020 2021 2020

P P P P
PrimeTime Property Holdings (Mauritius) Limited 100  1 020  1 020  -  -

PrimeTime Property Holdings (Mauritius) Limited (“PrimeTime Mauritius”), is the intermediary holding company and also owns investment properties. 
PrimeTime Mauritius was incorporated in Mauritius on 30 October 2015 and holds the 100%  shareholding in PrimeTime Property Holdings (Zambia)  
Limited, Luongo and Lufupa.

12 Investment properties held for sale
Investment properties held for sale  43 883 981 -  43 883 981 - 

 43 883 981 -  43 883 981 - 

The investment properties held for sale comprise of 2 retail properties situated in Botswana for which a sale agreement has been reached with an 
independent unrelated third party.  

The disposal of the properties is in line with the Group’s long term strategic objectives. The proceeds from their disposal will be reinvested into new 
developments as part of the completion of the Group’s existing Botswana pipeline.

On measuring the properties at the reporting date, the fair value gain recognised on the properties amounted to P7 427 460. The gain is presented on the 
fair value adjustments line on the statement of profit and loss and other comprehensive income.

Fulfilment of all conditions precedent was achieved post year end and the sale will be completed within 6 months of the financial year end.

13 Amounts due from related parties
PrimeTime Property Holdings (Mauritius) Limited (note 27) 527 472 769 516 961 175  -  - 
Time Projects Property (Zambia) Limited (note 27)  -  -  -  3 912 

527 472 769 516 961 175  -  3 912 

The loan to PrimeTime Property Holdings (Mauritius) Limited has no fixed repayment terms and accrues interest at the Group’s weighed average cost of 
borrowings.

In the current year, the Group’s weighted average cost of borrowings was 6.36% (2020: 6.88%).

The carrying amounts of the balances receivable approximate their fair values as at the reporting dates.
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Company Consolidated
14 Trade and other receivables 2021 2020 2021 2020

P P P P
Trade receivables 3 238 407 3 245 786 5 634 296 8 782 259 
ECL on trade receivables (523 579) (440 525) (1 198 016) (2 259 056)
Net trade receivables  2 714 828  2 805 261  4 436 280  6 523 203 
Other receivables  8 368 846  3 636 981 16 280 287 10 509 458 

11 083 674 6 442 242 20 716 567 17 032 661 

Other receivables comprise prepayments and value added tax (VAT) receivable.

The directors consider the carrying amount of trade and other receivables to approximate their fair value. The average credit period is 30 days (2020: 30 days). 
No interest is charged on overdue receivables. The Company and Group have provided for past due and impaired receivables based on estimated irrecoverable 
amounts determined by reference to default experience.

Company Consolidated
2021 2020 2021 2020

Ageing of past due P P P P
Up to 30 days (current) 1 396 889 1 390 228 1 767 017 1 767 343 
30 to 60 days  404 759  781 686  585 845 1 652 455 
60 to 90 days  219 130  247 430  344 073  706 660 
90 to 120 days  199 186  103 300  291 650  317 153 
120+ days 1 018 443  723 142 2 645 711 4 338 648 

3 238 407 3 245 786 5 634 296 8 782 259 
Movement in the allowance for credit losses
Balance at beginning of year  440 525  374 913 2 259 056 1 074 918 
Amounts written off during the year (212 228) (31 428) (1 036 801) (135 951)
Impairment losses reversed (31 020) (82 304) (691 532) (183 469)
Impairment losses recognised during the year  326 302  179 344  714 614 1 643 423 
Foreign exchange translation reserve  -  - (47 321) (139 865)
Balance at end of year  523 579  440 525 1 198 016 2 259 056 

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date using a provision matrix to measure expected credit losses and the provision rates are based 
on days past due. The calculation reflects the information that is available at the reporting date about past events, current conditions and forecasts of future 
economic conditions. Generally, rent and other trade receivables are written-off if the Group has exhausted all means of collection without success and are no 
longer subject to enforcement activity.

The allowance for credit losses for the Group significantly decreased from the previous period as unrecoverable amounts were written off. 

Company Consolidated
15 Cash and cash equivalents 2021 2020 2021 2020

P P P P
Bank balances  1 143 002  14 303 804  27 281 632  33 866 419 
Short-term investments   141 381   11 065   141 381   11 065 

 1 284 383  14 314 869  27 423 013  33 877 484 

PrimeTime Property Holdings Limited
Notes to the separate and consolidated financial statements (continued) 31 August 2021

16 Stated capital Company & consolidated Company & consolidated
Number of Number of 2021 2020

Fully paid linked units units units P P
Balance at the beginning and the end of the year 244 650 684 244 650 684 14 242 773 14 242 773 

Each Linked Unit in the company comprises one linked unit and one variable rate unsecured debenture as per Note 16, which are indivisibly linked. It is not 
possible to trade with the shares or the variable rate unsecured debentures separately from one another.  

The linked units are listed on the Botswana Stock Exchange.  All of the issued shares are of the same class and rank pari passu in every respect. 

In accordance with the Constitution, at any general meeting, every shareholder present in person or by authorised representative or proxy shall have one vote 
on a show of hands and on a poll, every member present in person, by authorised representative or by proxy shall have one vote for every share held.

Company & consolidated Company & consolidated
2021 2020 2021 2020

17 Debentures Number of Number of P P
debentures debentures

Variable rate unsecured debentures
Balance at the beginning and at the end of the year 244 650 684 244 650 684 323 329 682 323 329 682 

Each Linked Unit in the Company comprises one ordinary share as per Note 16, and one variable rate unsecured debenture, which are indivisibly linked.  It is 
not possible to trade with the shares or the variable rate unsecured debentures separately from one another.  

All of the variable rate unsecured debentures are of the same class and rank pari passu in every respect.

The debentures are governed in terms of a Trust Deed entered into between the company and John Hinchliffe, as the Trustee for the debenture holders and 
these are regarded as equity.

Company Consolidated
18 Reserves 2021 2020 2021 2020

 P  P  P  P 
Accumulated profits  501 934 658  461 954 429  362 204 232  372 218 957 
Foreign currency translation reserve (9 390 427) (12 015 391) (7 226 427) (10 539 477)

 492 544 231  449 939 038  354 977 805  361 679 480 
18.1 Accumulated Profits

Balance at the beginning of the year as previously stated 461 954 429 418 869 365 372 218 958 416 456 607 
Retained from normal operations during the year 14 912 825 34 650 357 12 339 291 11 877 700 
Arising from fair value adjustments on revaluation of owned  
investment properties 24 288 517 6 406 414 (22 695 912) (56 018 072)

Arising from fair value adjustments on revaluation of right of use 
investment properties  778 887 2 028 293  341 895 (97 277)

Balance at the end of the year 501 934 658 461 954 429 362 204 232 372 218 958 

The accumulated profits from normal operations 
amounts to P134 909 168 (2020: P119 996 343) 
in the Company and P43 160 750 (2020: 
P30 730 855) in the Group.
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18 Reserves (continued) Company Consolidated
2021 2020 2021 2020

18.2 Foreign Currency Translation Reserve  P  P  P  P 
Balance at the beginning of the year as previously stated (12 015 391) (5 050 411) (10 539 477) (2 609 336)
Other comprehensive income/(loss) for the year  2 624 964 (6 964 980)  3 313 050 (7 930 141)

(9 390 427) (12 015 391) (7 226 427) (10 539 477)

Exchange differences arising on translation of the foreign operations are recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in a separate reserve 
within equity. The cumulative amount is reclassified to profit or loss when the net investment is disposed of.

19 Debenture interest reserve
Debenture interest reserve balance at the end of the year 3 264 388 7 682 032 3 264 388 7 682 032 

Debenture interest is recognised against equity and a corresponding liability is recognised when it has been appropriately approved by the directors.

A debenture interest reserve is maintained as at year end for debenture interest that will be paid out of retained earnings as at the reporting date but pending approval by the 
Board of Directors.

The debenture interest will be ratified at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting.

Company Consolidated
20 Trade and other payables 2021 2020 2021 2020

P P P P
Trade payables 5 281 168 15 747 000 3 728 588 16 171 165 
Refundable deposits held for tenants 2 798 174 2 530 514 4 341 622 4 248 337 
Other payables 3 598 242 3 233 173 8 979 516 5 647 138 

11 677 584 21 510 687 17 049 726 26 066 640 

The average credit period on purchases is 30 days (2020: 30 Days). No interest is charged on trade payables. The directors consider the carrying amount of 
trade and other payables to approximate their fair value.

21 Amounts due to related parties
Time Projects (Botswana) (Proprietary) Limited (Note 27) 13 034 552 4 949 804 13 034 552 4 949 804 
Time Projects Property (Zambia) Limited (Note 27)  19 404  9 624  190 831  202 268 
PrimeTime Property Holdings (Zambia) Limited (Note 27) 1 451 413 -  -  - 
Ebbstone Asset Management Limited (Note 27) - - 1 867 042  482 312 
Directors’ fees  251 450  285 191  251 450  285 191 

14 756 819 5 244 619 15 343 875 5 919 575 

The loan advanced to PrimeTime property holdings limited by PrimeTime property holdings (zambia) limited has no fixed repayment terms and accrues 
interest at the group’s weighed average cost of borrowings plus 1.5%.

In the current year, the group’s weighted average cost of borrowings was 6.36% (2020: 6.88%).

The other balances have no fixed terms and are interest free. 

The carrying amounts of the balances payable approximate their fair values as at the reporting dates.

PrimeTime Property Holdings Limited
Notes to the separate and consolidated financial statements (continued) 31 August 2021

Company Consolidated
22 Long term borrowings 2021 2020 2021 2020

P P P P
ABSA Bank of Botswana Limited facility 66 439 211  66 439 211 66 439 211 66 439 211 
ABSA Bank of Botswana Limited term loan 45 000 000  45 000 000 45 000 000 45 000 000 
African Alliance Botswana Liquidity Fund represented by African 
Alliance Botswana Management Company Proprietary Limited 20 282 184 20 069 682 20 282 184 20 069 682 

African Alliance Botswana Enhanced Yield Fund represented by African 
Alliance Botswana Management Company Proprietary Limited 16 228 027  16 258 594 16 228 027 16 258 594 

Botswana Development Corporation Limited loan 25 216 656 - 25 216 656 - 
Botswana Insurance Fund Management Limited term loan facility on 
behalf of client managed funds 100 714 342 - 100 714 342 - 

Capital Management Fund 1 Proprietary Limited (Under Liquidation) - 
Floating Rate Promissory Notes  -   656 783  -  656 783 

Capital Management Fund 1 Proprietary Limited (Under Liquidation) - 
Fixed Rate Promissory Notes  -  9 035 530  - 9 035 530 

BIFM Capital Investment Fund One Proprietary Limited Fixed Rate 
Term Loan 66 581 014  66 581 014 66 581 014 66 581 014 

First Capital Bank Limited - short term facility  -  47 801 170  - 47 801 170 
First Capital Bank Limited - long term facility 34 944 848 - 34 944 848  - 
First National Bank Botswana Limited acting through its RMB 
Botswana Division 86 489 022  86 209 000 86 489 022 86 209 000 

PT021 Listed unsecured senior notes  -  97 364 383  -  97 364 383 
PT024 Listed unsecured senior notes 60 140 397  60 140 397 60 140 397  60 140 397 
PT026 Listed unsecured senior notes 71 639 726  71 639 726 71 639 726  71 639 726 
PTCP09 Unlisted unsecured commercial paper - 5 083 904 -  5 083 904 
PTCP10 Unlisted unsecured commercial paper - 7 758 191 -  7 758 191 
PTCP13 Unlisted unsecured commercial paper 10 696 915 10 703 601 10 696 915  10 703 601 
PTCP14 Unlisted unsecured commercial paper 7 187 945 - 7 187 945 - 
PTCP15 Unlisted unsecured commercial paper 6 674 521 - 6 674 521 - 
PTCP16 Unlisted unsecured commercial paper 13 862 466 - 13 862 466 - 
PTCP17 Unlisted unsecured commercial paper 6 161 096 - 6 161 096 - 
PTCP18 Unlisted unsecured commercial paper 5 094 932 - 5 094 932 - 
PTCP19 Unlisted unsecured commercial paper 17 171 932 - 17 171 932 - 
PTCP30 Unlisted unsecured commercial paper 41 096 986 41 241 096 41 096 986  41 241 096 
Stanbic Bank Limited term loan 50 000 000  50 000 000 50 000 000  50 000 000 

Additionally in the group:
ABSA Bank Zambia PLC  - - 111 236 802  123 593 969 
ABSA Bank Limited (South Africa)  - - 53 895 441  48 337 404 

751 622 220 701 982 282 916 754 463 873 913 655 
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Company Consolidated
22 Long term borrowings (continued) 2021 2020 2021 2020

P P P P
Brought forward 751 622 220 701 982 282 916 754 463 873 913 655 

Less: portion repayable within one year disclosed as a current liability 270 593 230 305 118 126 416 702 871 314 913 139
ABSA Bank of Botswana Limited facility 66 439 211 66 439 211 66 439 211 66 439 211 
ABSA Bank of Botswana Limited term loan 45 000 000 45 000 000 45 000 000 45 000 000 
African Alliance Botswana Liquidity Fund represented by African 
Alliance Botswana Management Company Proprietary Limited 20 282 184  20 069 682 20 282 184  20 069 682 

African Alliance Botswana Enhanced Yield Fund represented by 
African Alliance Botswana Management Company Proprietary 
Limited 

16 228 027   213 438 16 228 027   213 438 

Botswana Development Corporation Limited loan 8 859 933 - 8 859 933 - 
Botswana Insurance Fund Management Limited term loan facility on 
behalf of client managed funds 1 714 342 - 1 714 342 - 

Capital Management Fund 1 Proprietary Limited (Under Liquidation) 
- Floating Rate Promissory Notes -   656 783 -   656 783 

Capital Management Fund 1 Proprietary Limited (Under Liquidation) 
- Fixed Rate Promissory Notes -  9 035 530 -  9 035 530 

BIFM Capital Investment Fund One Proprietary Limited Fixed Rate 
Term Loan 1 581 014  1 581 014 1 581 014  1 581 014 

First Capital Bank Limited - short term facility -  47 801 170 -  47 801 170 
First National Bank Botswana Limited acting through its RMB 
Botswana Division  371 603 -  371 603 - 

PT021 Listed unsecured senior notes -  97 364 383 -  97 364 383 
PT024 Listed unsecured senior notes 1 140 397  1 140 397 1 140 397  1 140 397 
PT026 Listed unsecured senior notes 1 639 726  1 639 726 1 639 726  1 639 726 
PTCP09 Unlisted unsecured commercial paper -  5 083 904 -  5 083 904 
PTCP10 Unlisted unsecured commercial paper -  7 758 191 -  7 758 191 
PTCP13 Unlisted unsecured commercial paper  86 915   93 601  86 915   93 601 
PTCP14 Unlisted unsecured commercial paper 7 187 945 - 7 187 945 - 
PTCP15 Unlisted unsecured commercial paper 6 674 521 - 6 674 521 - 
PTCP16 Unlisted unsecured commercial paper 13 862 466 - 13 862 466 - 
PTCP17 Unlisted unsecured commercial paper 6 161 096 - 6 161 096 - 
PTCP18 Unlisted unsecured commercial paper 5 094 932 - 5 094 932 - 
PTCP19 Unlisted unsecured commercial paper 17 171 932 - 17 171 932 - 
PTCP30 Unlisted unsecured commercial paper 1 096 986  1 241 096 1 096 986  1 241 096 
Stanbic Bank Limited term loan 50 000 000 - 50 000 000 - 
ABSA Bank Zambia PLC - - 111 236 802  9 115 832 
ABSA Bank Limited (South Africa) - - 34 872 839   679 181 

Total long term portion of borrowings 481 028 990 396 864 156 500 051 592 559 000 516 

PrimeTime Property Holdings Limited
Notes to the separate and consolidated financial statements (continued) 31 August 2021

22 Long term borrowings (continued)

Terms and conditions of long term borrowings

Facility Period and repayment Interest rate Security

ABSA Bank of Botswana Limited 
facility of P66 439 211

This loan was varied with effect from 
September 2016 to an interest only 
facility with a bullet payment of the 
capital after a five year period.  Prior 
to that, the term of the loan was 12 
years with an initial 2 year interest-
only period which ended in August 
2015.  Thereafter, the capital was 
repayable in 120 equal monthly 
instalments.

Bears interest at a variable rate of 150 
basis points below the current prime 
rate of 5.25%. (2020: 5.75%).

Secured by first covering mortgage 
bonds for P146 400 000, a cession 
of insurance and a cession of rentals 
over Prime Plaza 2, Prime Plaza 3 
and Prime Plaza 4 situated on Lot 
74538, CBD, Gaborone.

ABSA Bank of Botswana Limited P45 
000 000 term loan which was fully 
drawn on 28 January 2019.

The facility is for a 5 year period 
and is repayable with a bullet on 
27 January 2024.  This has been 
classified in the statement of financial 
position as repayable within one 
year due to a covenant breach which 
existed at the year end, for which a 
relaxation was provided by the bank 
in October 2021.  The relaxation was 
granted by the bank up to 31 August 
2022.

Bears interest at a variable rate of 60 
basis points above the current prime 
rate of 5.25% (2020: 5.75%).

No additional security required to 
the existing security held by ABSA 
Bank Botswana Limited as disclosed 
above.

African Alliance Botswana Liquidity 
Fund represented by African Alliance 
Botswana Management Company 
Proprietary Limited 

The facility was for a one year period 
and was repayable with a bullet on 
10 February 2021.  Interest was 
serviced quarterly.  It was rolled as 
stated below.

Bears interest at a variable rate of 
200 basis points above the Bank 
of Botswana rate of 3.75% (2020: 
4.25%).

None

African Alliance Botswana Liquidity 
Fund represented by African Alliance 
Botswana Management Company 
Proprietary Limited 

The facility is for a one year period 
and is repayable with a bullet on 9 
February 2022.

Bears interest at a variable rate of 
300 basis points above the Bank of 
Botswana rate of 3.75%.

None

African Alliance Botswana Enhanced 
Yield Fund represented by African 
Alliance Botswana Management 
Company Proprietary Limited 

The facility is for a two year period 
and is repayable with a bullet on 29 
June 2022.  Interest is serviced half 
yearly.

Bears interest at a variable rate of 
275 basis points above the Bank 
of Botswana rate of 3.75% (2020: 
4.25%).

None

BIFM Capital Investment Fund One 
Proprietary Limited Fixed Rate Term 
Loan of P65 000 000

Interest is serviced half yearly from 
31 May 2013.  The capital portion of 
the notes is redeemable in 6 equal 
half yearly tranches from 31 May 
2025.   

Bears interest at a fixed rate of 
9.65%.

Secured by first continuing covering 
mortgage bonds for     P93 065 
000, a cession of insurance and a 
cession of rentals over the following 
properties: Plot 4649 Lobatse, Plot 
20610 Gaborone, Plot 203 Gaborone 
and Plot 22 Gaborone.
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22 Long term borrowings (continued)

Terms and conditions of long term borrowings

Facility Period and repayment Interest rate Security

Botswana Development Corporation 
Limited term loan of P25 000 000

This is a 30 month facility.  The 
facility is interest only for the first 6 
months and during this period the 
interest is accrued and not serviced.  
Thereafter the facility (including 
the interest rolled up in the first 6 
months) will be repayable in 24 equal 
monthly instalments.  The loan was 
drawn on 2nd July 2021 with the first 
instalment due on 2nd January 2022.

Bears interest at a variable rate of the 
current prime rate of 5.25%.

None

Botswana Insurance Fund Man-
agement Limited on behalf of client 
managed funds term loan facility of 
P99 000 000

This is a 10 year facility which was 
fully drawn in June 2021.  It is 
repayable at the end of years 8 to 10 
as follows:

Bears interest at a variable rate of 375 
basis points above the current Bank 
of Botswana rate of 3.75%.

Secured by first continuing cover-
ing mortgage bonds for P123 750 
000, a cession of insurance and a 
cession of rentals over the following 
properties: Plot 50423 Gaborone and 
Plots 16177, 16179, 16180, 16181, 
16182, 16183 and 16185 Francis-
town.

P25 000 000 on 30 June 2029
P35 000 000 on 30 June 2030
P39 000 000 on 30 June 2031

Capital Management Fund 1 
Proprietary Limited (Under 
liquidation) Floating Rate Promissory 
Notes of P15 000 000 plus accrued 
interest to 31 October 2011

The notes were fully  drawn-down on 
31 August 2011.  Interest accrued on 
the notes during the ‘Interest Holiday 
Period’ to 31 October 2011.  There-
after, interest was serviced quarterly.  
The capital portion of the notes was 
redeemable in 24 equal quarterly 
tranches from 31 January 2015 and 
was fully settled during the year.   

Bore interest at a floating rate of 222 
basis points above the 91-day Bank 
of Botswana Certificate rate prevail-
ing, and as published by the Bank of 
Botswana, 3 months prior to a given 
interest payment date, final rate on 
settlement 1.02% (2020: 1.5%).

Secured by first continuing covering 
mortgage bonds for    P78 000 000, a 
cession of insurance and a cession of 
rentals over the following properties: 
Plot 50423 Gaborone, Plot 67979 
Gaborone and Plots 16177, 16179, 
16180, 16181, 16182, 16183 and 
16185 Francistown.

Capital Management Fund 1 
Proprietary Limited (Under 
liquidation)Fixed Rate Promissory 
Notes of P50 000 000 plus accrued 
interest to 31 October 2011

The notes were fully drawn-down on 
31 August 2011.  Interest accrued on 
the notes during the ‘Interest Holiday 
Period’, to 31 October 2011.  There-
after, interest was serviced half yearly.  
The capital portion of the notes was 
redeemable in 12 equal half yearly 
tranches from 30 April 2015 and was 
fully settled during the year.   

Bore interest at a fixed rate of 10.3%. Secured by first continuing covering 
mortgage bonds for    P78 000 000, a 
cession of insurance and a cession of 
rentals over the following properties: 
Plot 50423 Gaborone, Plot 67979 
Gaborone and Plots 16177, 16179, 
16180, 16181, 16182, 16183 and 
16185 Francistown.

PrimeTime Property Holdings Limited
Notes to the separate and consolidated financial statements (continued) 31 August 2021

22 Long term borrowings (continued)

Terms and conditions of long term borrowings (continued)

Facility Period and repayment Interest rate Security

First Capital Bank Limited - short 
term facility

This was a short term facility with 
interest serviced monthly.  It was 
fully settled during the year.

Bore interest at a variable rate of 75 
basis points above the current prime 
rate of 5.25% (2020: 5.75%).

Power of attorney and resolutions 
to register mortgage bonds over Lot 
75749 Gaborone, Lease Area 110-
MP, Tribal Lot 3273 Ramotswa and 
Lot 20584 Gaborone.

First Capital Bank Limited - long 
term facility of P70 000 000

This is a five year facility.   The loan 
can be drawn down over a period of 
2 years during construction of Lot 
14076 Lobatse.  The first drawdown 
was made on 22 March 2021 and 
so the initial 2 year period can run 
up until 21 March 2023.  Once fully 
drawn, the loan is interest only for 
a period of 3 years repayable with a 
bullet.

Bears interest at a variable rate of 100 
basis points above the current prime 
rate of 5.25%.

First continuing surety covering 
mortgage bond over  for P75 400 
000, a cession of insurance and 
of rentals over Lot 14076 Lobatse.  
Power of attorney and resolution to 
register mortgage bonds over Lot 
2461 Serowe during the initial 2 
year period while Lot 14076 is under 
construction.  

First National Bank Botswana Limited 
acting through its RMB Botswana 
Division facility of P86 209 000

Period of 3 years from 1 June 
2020.  The interest was capitalised 
for 3 months from June to August 
2020 and thereafter will be serviced 
monthly.  The capital is repayable by 
a bullet payment on 31 May 2023.  
This facility was refinanced in August 
2021 as detailed below.

Bears interest at a variable rate of the 
current prime rate of 5.25% (2020: 
5.75%). 

Secured by a first covering mortgage 
bond for P141 600 000, a cession 
of insurance and of rentals over Plot 
62417 Gaborone.

PT021 Listed unsecured senior notes 
issued on 10 June 2016 P56 000 
000 with an additional P40 000 000 
issued on 10 December 2016.

The notes matured on 10 June 2021 
with a bullet payment and were fully 
settled during the year.

Bore interest at a variable rate of 100 
basis points above the current prime 
rate of 5.25% (2020: 5.75%).

None

PT024 Listed unsecured senior notes 
issued on 10 June 2016 P49 000 
000 with an additional P10 000 000 
issued on 10 December 2016.

The notes mature on 10 June 2024 
with a bullet payment.

Bear interest at a fixed rate of 8.5%. None

PT026 Listed unsecured senior 
notes issued on 29 November 2016           
P70 000 000.

The notes mature on 29 November 
2026 with a bullet payment.

Bear interest at a fixed rate of 9%. None

PTCP09 Commercial paper issued 
on 26 November 2019 for P5 000 
000.

The paper matured on 25 November 
2020 and was fully settled during 
the year.  

Bore interest - which was serviced 
half yearly - at a variable rate of 50 
basis points above the current prime 
rate of 5.25% (2020: 5.75%).

None
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22 Long term borrowings (continued)

Terms and conditions of long term borrowings (continued)

Facility Period and repayment Interest rate Security

PTCP10 Commercial paper issued 
on 25 November 2019 for P7 623 
783.

The paper matured on 24 November 
2020 and was fully settled during 
the year. 

Bore interest - which was serviced 
half yearly - at a fixed rate of 6.5%.

None

PTCP13 unlisted notes issued on 17 
July 2020 for P10 610 000.

The notes mature on 17 July 2023 
with a bullet payment.  Interest is 
serviced half yearly.

Bears interest at a variable rate of 125 
basis points above the current prime 
rate of 5.25% (2020: 5.75%).

None

PTCP14 unlisted notes issued on 14 
October 2020 for P7 000 000.

The notes mature on 13 October 
2021 with a bullet payment.  Interest 
is serviced half yearly.

Bears interest at a fixed rate of 7%. None

PTCP15 unlisted notes issued on 14 
October 2020 for P6 500 000.

The notes mature on 13 October 
2021 with a bullet payment.  Interest 
is serviced half yearly.

Bears interest at a fixed rate of 7%. None

PTCP16 unlisted notes issued on 14 
October 2020 for P13 500 000.

The notes mature on 13 October 
2021 with a bullet payment.  Interest 
is serviced half yearly.

Bears interest at a fixed rate of 7%. None

PTCP17 unlisted notes issued on 14 
October 2020 for P6 000 000.

The notes mature on 13 October 
2021 with a bullet payment.  Interest 
is serviced half yearly.

Bears interest at a fixed rate of 7%. None

PTCP18 unlisted notes issued on 25 
November 2020 for P5 000 000.

The notes mature on 25 November 
2021 with a bullet payment.  Interest 
is serviced half yearly.

Bears interest at a fixed rate of 7%. None

PTCP19 unlisted notes issued on 24 
November 2020 for P16 880 000.

The notes mature on 23 November 
2021 with a bullet payment.  Interest 
is serviced half yearly.

Bears interest at a fixed rate of 
6.25%.

None

PTCP30 unlisted notes issued on 3 
April 2020 for P40 000 000.

The notes mature on 3 April 2030 
with a bullet payment.  Interest is 
serviced half yearly.

Bears interest at a variable rate of 
275 basis points above the Bank 
of Botswana rate of 3.75% (2020: 
4.25%).

None

Stanbic Bank term loan fully drawn 
on 11 July 2019.

The facility is for a three year period 
and is fully repayable on 16 April 
2022.

Bears interest at a variable rate of the 
current prime rate of 5.25% (2020: 
5.75%).

Secured by a first covering mortgage 
bond for P36 000 000 and a cession 
of insurance and a of rentals over 
Plot 439 Pilane.

PrimeTime Property Holdings Limited
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22 Long term borrowings (continued)

Terms and conditions of long term borrowings (continued)

Facility Period and repayment Interest rate Security

Additionally in the Group 

ABSA Bank Zambia PLC facility for 
USD8 000 000.

By a single capital repayment of the 
loan in full on 25 March 2022.

Bears interest at a variable rate of 
470 basis points above the 3 month 
USD LIBOR rate of 0.1285% (2020: 
0.24088%).  

Unlimited corporate guarantees 
from Tilson Limited, PrimeTime 
Property Holdings Limited and 
Ataraxia Limited.  Cash flow shortfall 
undertaking from PrimeTime Property 
Holdings Limited.  A cession of 
insurance and assignment of rentals 
receivable over both Subdivision D 
part of Stand No. 2374 Thabo Mbeki 
Road, Mass Media, Lusaka, Zambia 
and Kabulonga Centro, Subdivision 
6 of Farm No. 377a, Bishops Road, 
Lusaka.  Assignment of the rights 
and interests in the lease from ZDT in 
respect of Kabulonga Centro.

ABSA Bank Zambia PLC facility for 
USD4 000 000

By sixty equal monthly repayments 
commencing 30 April 2019.  This 
has been classified in the statement 
of financial position as repayable 
within one year due to covenant 
breaches which existed at the year 
end, for which a relaxation was 
provided by the bank in October 
2021.  The relaxation was granted by 
the bank up to 31 August 2022.

Bears interest at a variable rate of 
470 basis points above the 3 month 
USD LIBOR rate of 0.1285% (2020: 
0.24088%).  

Unlimited corporate guarantees 
from Tilson Limited, PrimeTime 
Property Holdings Limited and 
Ataraxia Limited.  Cash flow shortfall 
undertaking from PrimeTime Property 
Holdings Limited.  A cession of 
insurance and assignment of rentals 
receivable over both Subdivision D 
part of Stand No. 2374 Thabo Mbeki 
Road, Mass Media, Lusaka, Zambia 
and Kabulonga Centro, Subdivision 
6 of Farm No. 377a, Bishops Road, 
Lusaka.  Assignment of the rights 
and interests in the lease from ZDT in 
respect of Kabulonga Centro.

ABSA Bank Limited (South Africa) 
facility for R25 425 318

This is a 5 year facility repayable by 
a single bullet on 16 December 2024.

Bears interest at a variable rate of 
225 basis points above the 3 month 
JIBAR rate of 3.442%.  Interest is 
serviced and the rate resets quarterly.  

Secured by a continuing covering 
mortgage bond for R46 400 000, a 
cession of insurance and a cession 
of rentals over Portion 7 of Erf 597 
Spartan Extension 12, Ekurhuleni.  
Limited guarantee by PrimeTime 
Property Holdings Limited for R25 
000 000.  Cross default with the R45 
144 113 facility below. 

ABSA Bank Limited (South Africa) 
facility for R45 144 113

This is a 5 year facility repayable 
by a single bullet on 16 December 
2024.  This has been classified in 
the statement of financial position 
as repayable within one year due to 
a covenant breach which existed at 
the year end, for which a relaxation 
was provided by the bank in October 
2021.  The relaxation was granted by 
the bank up to 31 August 2022.

Bears interest at a variable rate 
of 225 basis points above the 3 
month JIBAR rate of 3.667% (2020: 
3.442%).  Interest is serviced and the 
rate resets quarterly.  

Secured by a continuing covering 
mortgage bond for R85 000 000, a 
cession of insurance and a cession of 
rentals over Erf 1618 Bryanston, City 
of Johannesburg.  Limited guarantee 
by PrimeTime Property Holdings 
Limited for    R45 200 000. Cross 
default with the R25 425 318 facility 
above. 
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Company Consolidated
2021 2020 2021 2020

23 Lease liabilities P P P P
Balance as 1 September 2020 1 079 135 - 3 240 441 - 
Initial recognition - 1 255 254   110 3 333 502 
Repayments made during the year (257 238) (257 349) (400 413) (401 146)
Interest expensed  69 248  82 430  211 481  225 810 
Foreign exchange translation reserve  1 065 (1 200) (66 779)  82 275 
Balance as 31 August 2021  892 210 1 079 135 2 984 840 3 240 441 
Due within one year (202 033) (187 988) (202 496) (188 433)
Due after more than one year  690 177  891 147 2 782 344 3 052 008 

The maturity of lease liabilities is disclosed in note 28.

The following are the amounts recognised in profit or loss in relation to leases:

Interest expense on lease liabilities  69 248  82 429  211 481  225 810 
Fair value adjustment on ROU (included in fair value adjustment)  778 887 2 028 293  341 895 (97 277)
Variable lease payments (included in operating expenses) 1 553 242 1 398 779 2 618 281 2 695 342 
Total amount recognised in profit or loss 2 401 377 3 509 501 3 171 657 2 823 875 

The Company and Group has base contracts that contain variable payments calculated by reference to rental income on subject properties. The variable lease 
payments are presented in the line item “operating expenses” on the statement of profit or loss.

The Company and Group have certain leases contracts that have extension/renewal clauses. The extensions are negotiated by management pursuant to 
aligning leases to the Company and Group’s business needs. Management exercise significant judgement in determining whether the extension options are 
reasonably certain to be exercised.

For right-of-use assets that are classified as investment property, the Group expects to make use of the full lease terms which typically vary between 5 and 
94 years.

24 Deferred revenue
Rentals received in respect of future periods invoiced in advance 2 361 239 2 331 121 3 060 573 4 432 150 

25 Banking facilities and guarantees
At the reporting date, the company has a general short term banking overdraft facility with Stanbic Bank  Botswana Limited of P32 000 000 (2020: P32 000 
000). The facility is payable on demand, and attracts interest at the rate of 100 basis points below prime currently 5.25% per annum (2020: 5.75%).  

At 31 August 2021 the unused facility was P8 236 715 (2020: P32 000 000).
                                                                                                                                                                                                                                         
The Company has guarantees of P321 570 (2020: P321 570) issued by Stanbic Bank Botswana Limited to third parties. These guarantees carry a commission 
charge of 0.55% per quarter of a year.

Stanbic Bank Botswana Limited has also provided to the company a facility for forward exchange contracts up to USD 1 000 000 (2020: USD 1 000 000) and 
a spot foreign currency dealing facility of USD1 000 000 (2020: USD 1 000 000).  At 31 August 2020 there were no open forward exchange contracts or spot 
foreign currency dealings.

These facilities are secured by First Continuing Covering Mortgage Bond for P31 300 000 over Plot 29 Gaborone (2020: P31 300 000), a cession of insurance 
and a cession of rentals.

PrimeTime Property Holdings Limited
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Company Consolidated
26 Financial risk management 2021 2020 2021 2020

P P P P
Categories of Financial Instruments

Financial assets
Loans and receivables (including cash and cash equivalents):
Trade and other receivables  11 083 674  6 442 242  20 716 567  17 032 661 
Cash and cash equivalents  1 284 383  14 314 869  27 423 013  33 877 484 
Amounts due from related parties - - -   3 912 
Less: VAT receivable, prepayments and deposits (7 829 207) (3 632 269) (10 430 837) (6 128 233)
Total financial assets  4 538 850  17 124 842  37 708 743  44 785 824 

Financial liabilities
Loans and other payables at amortised cost:
Long term borrowings  751 622 220  701 982 282  916 754 463  873 913 655 
Lease liabilities   892 210  1 079 135  2 984 840  3 240 441 
Trade and other payables  11 677 584  21 510 687  17 049 726  26 066 640 
Amounts due to related parties  14 756 819  5 244 619  15 343 875  5 919 575 
Bank overdraft  23 763 285 -  23 763 285 - 
Less: VAT and withholding tax payable (655 375) (660 582) (2 362 492) (1 532 419)
Total financial liabilities  802 056 743  729 156 141  973 533 697  907 607 892 

The Directors consider that the carrying amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded at amortised cost in the financial statements represent 
their fair values.

Capital Risk Management

The Group manages its capital to ensure that it will be able to continue as a going concern while maximising the return to stakeholders through the optimisa-
tion of the debt and equity balance. The Group’s overall strategy remains unchanged from 2020. 

The capital structure of the Group consists of cash and cash equivalents, interest bearing borrowings and equity, comprising stated capital, variable rate 
unsecured debentures and accumulated profits as disclosed in the statement of financial position. The primary objective of the Group’s capital management 
is to ensure that it remains within its quantitative banking covenants and maintains a strong credit rating. No changes were made in the objectives, policies or 
processes during the years ended 31 August 2021 and 31 August 2020.

The Group monitors capital primarily using a loan-to-value ratio, which is calculated as the amount of outstanding debt divided by the valuation of the invest-
ment property portfolio. The Group’s policy is to keep its average loan-to-value ratio lower than 60%.  

Banking covenants vary according to each loan agreement, but typically require that the loan-to-value ratio does not exceed 60%. 

In order to achieve this overall objective, the Group’s management, among other things, aims to ensure that it meets financial covenants attached to the inter-
est-bearing loans and borrowings that define capital structure requirements. Breaches in meeting the financial covenants would permit the bank to immediately 
call loans and borrowings and where they have occurred waivers have been obtained (Refer to Note 32).
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Consolidated
2021 2020

26 Financial risk management (continued) P P

Principal amount of interest bearing loans and borrowings  (Note 22)  916 754 463  873 913 655 
Bank overdraft  23 763 285 - 

 940 517 748  873 913 655 

Investment properties (Note 8) 1 421 811 751 1 495 493 677 
Rentals straight-line adjustment (long -term)  58 559 048  59 264 385 
Rental straight-line adjustment (short-term)  9 616 256  7 388 519 
Non-current asset held for sale (Note 12)  43 883 981 - 
External valuation of completed investment property 1 533 871 036 1 562 146 581 

Investment property under development at cost (Note 10)  126 925 650  60 510 472 
Total External Valuation of Investment property 1 660 796 686 1 622 657 053 

Loan to value ratio 57% 54%

Significant Accounting Policies
Details of the significant accounting policies and methods adopted, including the criteria for recognition, the basis of measurement and the basis on which 
income and expenses are recognised, in respect of each class of financial asset, financial liability and equity instrument are disclosed in the Significant 
Accounting Policies in the financial statements.

Financial Risk Management Objectives
The Directors monitor and manage the financial risks relating to the operations of the Group through analysis of exposures by degree and magnitude of each 
risk. These risks include market risk (including currency risk and interest rate risk) and credit risk.

Market Risk
The Group’s activities expose it primarily to the financial risks of changes in foreign currency exchange rates and interest rates as described below.

Foreign Currency Risk
In the normal course of business, the Company and Group enters into transactions denominated in foreign currencies. At 31 August 2021 the Company had 
P264 966 and the Group had P173 721 263 monetary liabilities denominated in foreign currencies, which would expose it to fluctuations in foreign currency 
exchange rates (2020: Company P70 633 and Group P180 436 373). At 31 August 2021 the Company had P528 419 985 and the Group had P35 092 957 
monetary assets denominated in foreign currencies (2020: Company P527 819 055 and Group P39 643 111).  

If exchange rates had been 5% higher/lower and all other variables were held constant, the Company’s profits would have increased/decreased by P1 743 662 
and the Group’s profit would have increased/decreased by P1 099 546 (2020: Company P2 137 047 and Group P2 196 895).  

There is no foreign currency risk to the Group’s equity as it is all denominated in Botswana Pula. 

The Group manages its foreign currency risk as follows:  

◆ By ensuring the currency denomination of assets and liabilities are matched.  For example bank borrowings, investment properties and income streams 
are maintained in the same currency; 

 
◆ In Zambia which operates on a dual currency system of United States Dollars and the Zambian Kwacha, adequate income streams are maintained to cover 

outflows in the same currency.  In addition varying escalation rates are included in leases, aligning this to their respective currency denomination; 

◆ Maintaining multi-currency bank accounts in the different geographical regions the Group operates in to allow conversions to be made when exchange 
rates are optimal; 

 
◆ Careful monitoring of the exchange rate movements and booking rates through our commercial bankers to secure the most preferential rates on conversion. 

PrimeTime Property Holdings Limited
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26 Financial risk management (continued)
Interest Rate Risk 
Fluctuations in interest rates impact on the value of short-term cash investment and financing activities, giving rise to interest rate risk. The cash is managed 
to ensure surplus funds are invested in a manner to achieve maximum returns while minimising risks.

If interest rates had been 0.5% higher/lower and all other variables were held constant, the Company’s profit and comprehensive income would have increased/
decreased by P607 642 and Group’s profit and comprehensive income and equity would have decreased/increased by P2 601 665 (2020: Company P751 981 
and Group P2 404 368).

Credit Risk
At the reporting date there were no significant concentrations of credit risk for receivables. The carrying amount reflected in Note 14 represents the Group’s 
maximum exposure to credit risk for receivables.

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk on a financial instrument has increased significantly since initial recognition, the Group compares the risk of a default 
occurring on the financial instrument at the reporting date with the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument at the date of initial recognition. In 
making this assessment, the Group considers both quantitative and qualitative information that is reasonable and supportable, including historical experience 
and forward-looking information that is available without undue cost or effort. 

Forward-looking information considered includes the future prospects of the industries in which the Group’s debtors operate, obtained from economic expert 
reports, financial analysts, governmental bodies, relevant think-tanks and other similar organisations, as well as consideration of various external sources of 
actual and forecast economic information that relate to the Group’s core operations.

In particular, the following information is taken into account when assessing whether credit risk has increased or expected significant deterioration in the 
financial instrument’s external (if available) or internal credit rating has occurred;

◆ Existing or forecast adverse changes in business, financial or economic conditions that are expected to cause a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability 
to meet its debt obligations;

◆ An actual or expected significant deterioration in the operating results of the debtor;
◆ Significant increases in credit risk on other financial instruments of the same debtor;
◆ An actual or expected significant adverse change in the regulatory, economic, or technological environment of the debtor that results in a significant 

decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the group presumes that the credit risk on a financial asset has increased significantly since initial 
recognition when contractual payments are more than 90 days past due, unless the Group has reasonable and supportable information that demonstrates 
otherwise.

Despite the foregoing, the Group assumes that the credit risk on a financial instrument has not increased significantly since initial recognition if the financial 
instrument is determined to have low credit risk at the reporting date.

A financial instrument is determined to have low credit risk if:

1) The financial instrument has a low risk of default,
2) The debtor has a strong capacity to meet its contractual cash flow obligations in the near term, and
3) Adverse changes in economic and business conditions in the longer term may, but will not necessarily, reduce the ability of the debtor to fulfil its 

contractual cash flow obligations.

Definition of default
The Group considers the following as constituting an event of default for internal credit risk management purposes as historical experience indicates that 
financial assets that meet either of the following criteria are generally not recoverable:

◆ when there is a breach of financial covenants by the debtor; or
◆ information developed internally or obtained from external sources indicates that the debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors, including the Group, in full 

(without taking into account any deposits held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above analysis, the group considers that default has occurred when a financial asset is more than 120 days past due unless the group has 
reasonable and supportable information to demonstrate that a more lagging default criterion is more appropriate.
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26 Financial risk management (continued)
Credit-impaired financial assets
A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of that financial asset have 
occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes observable data about the following events:

(a) significant financial difficulty of tenant;
(b) a breach of contract, such as a default or past due event (see above); or
(c) it is becoming probable that the tenant will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation.

Credit risk management
The Group manages its credit risk as follows:   

◆ Performing due diligence and KYC procedures on new tenants;
◆ Operating effective rent collection and overdue debt collection procedures, which include regular review and follow-up of overdue amounts by senior 

management;
◆ Use of debt collection agents, legal recourse and eviction plans for defaulting tenants where required;
◆ Ensuring our properties are well positioned, maintained and tenanted for retention (of tenants); and maintaining a core of blue chip tenants. 

Liquidity risk management
Ultimate responsibility for liquidity risk management rests with the Directors. The Group manages liquidity risk by maintaining adequate reserves, banking 
facilities and reserve borrowing facilities, by continuously monitoring forecast and actual cash flows and matching the maturity profiles of financial assets and 
liabilities. The table below details the remaining contractual maturity for financial liabilities with agreed repayment terms. The table has been drawn up based 
on the undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based on the earliest date on which the company may be required to pay.

Company Less than  
one year

One to  
five years

More than  
5 years

2021 P P P
Non-interest bearing 25 779 028 - - 
Variable interest rate instruments 189 045 579 193 527 929 139 190 177 
Fixed interest rate 60 514 027 91 500 000 102 500 000 

275 338 634 285 027 929 241 690 177 
2020
Non-interest bearing 20 850 103 - - 
Variable interest rate instruments 180 470 236 274 999 892 40 194 623 
Fixed interest rate 13 396 667 69 833 333 124 166 667 

214 717 006 344 833 225 164 361 290 
Consolidated
2021
Non-interest bearing  30 031 121 - - 
Variable interest rate instruments  287 073 969  260 634 444 141 280 129 
Fixed interest rate  60 514 027  91 500 000 102 500 000 

 377 619 117  352 134 444  243 780 129 
2020
Non-interest bearing  25 034 767 - - 
Variable interest rate instruments  190 247 462  437 138 382 42 353 353 
Fixed interest rate  13 396 667  69 833 333 124 166 667 

228 678 896 506 971 715 166 520 020 
27 Related party transactions

Trading transactions 
The Company has entered into a Property Management Agreement and an Asset Management Agreement with Time Projects (Botswana) (Proprietary) Limited. 
The shareholders of Time Projects (Botswana) (Proprietary) Limited owned 16.6% of the issued linked units of the Company at 31 August 2021 (2020: 16.6%). 

Time Projects (Botswana) (Proprietary) Limited has a 100% owned Zambian registered subsidiary company called Time Projects Property (Zambia) Limited. 

The Company has entered into a Property Management Agreement and an Asset Management Agreement with Ebbstone Asset Managers Limited, to manage 
its assets in South Africa. Shareholders with a beneficial interest in 93.8% of Time Projects (Botswana) (Proprietary) Limited owned 25% of the issued shares 
of Ebbstone Asset Management Limited at 31 August 2021 (2020: 25%).

PrimeTime Property Holdings Limited
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27 Related party transactions (continued)
During the year, the Company and Group entered into the following trading transactions with related parties and had the following balances owed to related 
parties: 

Purchases of 
Investment Amounts

Debenture Interest Property & Interest owed (by)/
Purchases interest paid received Rent Work in paid Directors to related

2021 of services (gross) (gross) Received Progress (gross) fees parties
Company P P P P P P P P
PrimeTime Property Holdings 
(Mauritius) Limited (Note 13) - - 31 600 024 - - - - (527 472 769)
Time Projects (Botswana) 
(Proprietary) Limited (Note 21) 14 146 084 - - - 55 458 936 - - 13 034 552 
Time Projects Property 
(Zambia) Limited (Note 21)  159 261 - - -  305 650 - -  19 404 
PrimeTime Property Holdings 
(Zambia) Limited (note 21) - - - - -  29 264 - 1 451 413 

Linwood Holdings Limited - 5 904 234 - - - - - - 

(A L Kelly has a beneficial interest in Linwood Holdings Limited)

Key management personnel/Directors:
J Jones and family -  5 511 - - - -  93 726  33 575 
A Kelly and family -  66 567 - - - -  93 726  33 575 
C Kgosidiile - - - - - -  200 030  73 895 
P Masie -  1 016 - - - -  33 575  33 575 
P Matumo -  97 605 - - - -  152 798  43 255 
M Morolong and family -  1 097 - - - -  93 726  33 575 
S Thapelo - - - -  - -  49 780 - 

Consolidated
Time Projects (Botswana) 
(Proprietary) Limited (Note 21) 14 146 084 - - - 55 458 936 - - 13 034 552 
Time Projects Property 
(Zambia) Limited (Note 21)  2 351 811 - - -  305 650 - -  190 831 
Time Projects Property 
(Zambia) Limited (Note 13) - - -  90 754 - - - - 
Ebbstone Asset Management 
Limited (Note 21) 1 380 868 - - - - - - 1 867 042 

Linwood Holdings Limited - 5 904 234 - - - - - - 

(A L Kelly has a beneficial interest in Linwood Holdings Limited)

Key management personnel/Directors:
J Jones and family -  5 511 - - - -  93 726  33 575 
A Kelly and family -  66 567 - - - -  93 726  33 575 
C Kgosidiile - - - - - -  200 030  73 895 
P Masie - - - - - -  33 575  33 575 
P Matumo -  97 605 - - - -  152 798  43 255 
M Morolong and family -  1 097 - - - -  93 726  33 575 
S Thapelo - - - -  - -  49 780 - 
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27 Related party transactions (continued)
Purchases of
Investment Amounts

Debenture Interest Property &  owed (by)/
Purchases interest paid received Rent Work in Consulting Directors to related

2020 of services (gross) (gross) Received Progress fees fees parties
Company P P P P P P P P
PrimeTime Property Holdings 
(Mauritius) Limited (Note 13) - - 33 515 975 - - - - (516 961 175)
Time Projects (Botswana) 
(Proprietary) Limited (Note 21) 13 887 720 - - - 25 800 789 - - 4 949 804 
Time Projects Property 
(Zambia) Limited (Note 21)  86 276 - - - - - -  9 624 

Linwood Holdings Limited - 5 944 263 - - - - - - 

(A L Kelly has a beneficial interest in Linwood Holdings Limited)

Key management personnel/Directors:
J Jones and family -  6 295 - - - -  117 549  45 952 
A Kelly and family -  76 045 - - - -  117 549  45 952 
C Kgosidiile - - - - -  666 900  182 603  45 952 
P Matumo -  111 501 - - - -  175 920  55 433 
M Morolong and family -  1 254 - - - -  117 549  45 952 
S Thapelo - - - -  -  18 225  156 957  45 952 

Consolidated
Time Projects (Botswana) 
(Proprietary) Limited (Note 21) 13 887 720 - - - 25 800 789 - - 4 949 804 
Time Projects Property 
(Zambia) Limited (Note 21)  2 814 496 - - - - - -  202 268 
Time Projects Property 
(Zambia) Limited (Note 13) - - -  97 790 - - - (3 912)
Ebbstone Asset Management 
Limited (Note 21)  924 012 - - - - - -  482 312 

Linwood Holdings Limited - 5 944 263 - - - - - - 

(A L Kelly has a beneficial interest in Linwood Holdings Limited)

Key management personnel/Directors:
J Jones and family -  6 295 - - - -  117 549  45 952 
A Kelly and family -  76 045 - - - -  117 549  45 952 
C Kgosidiile - - - - -  666 900  182 603  45 952 
P Matumo -  111 501 - - - -  175 920  55 433 
M Morolong and family -  1 254 - - - -  117 549  45 952 
S Thapelo - - - -  -  18 225  156 957  45 952 

The purchase of services from Time Projects (Botswana) (Proprietary) Limited, Time Projects Property (Zambia) Limited and Ebbstone Asset Management 
Limited includes asset management fees, property management fees and letting fees. 
                                                                                                                                                      
                                                 
The amounts owed to related parties are unsecured, interest free, payable through the normal course of business and will be settled in cash. No guarantees 
have been given or received.  No expense has been recognised during the year for allowance for credit losses in respect of any amounts owed between related 
parties.
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28 Lease arrangements
The Company and Group as a lessor
Operating leases receivable by the company as a lessor relate to the investment properties owned by the Company with lease terms of between 1 and 30 years. 
The lessees do not have an option to purchase the properties at the expiry of the lease period.

Company
The property rental income earned by the Company from its investment properties, all of which are leased out under operating leases, before the rentals 
straight-line adjustment amounts to P106 394 731 (2020: P99 345 164), as reflected in the statement of comprehensive income.  Direct operating expenses 
arising on the investment properties for the year amounted to P7 896 928 (2020: P7 753 096).

Group
The property rental income earned by the Group from its investment properties, all of which are leased out under operating leases, before the rentals straight-
line adjustment amounts to P151 229 935 (2020: P149 480 099), as reflected in the statement of comprehensive income. Direct operating expenses arising 
on the investment properties for the year amounted to P14 101 050 (2020: P13 286 802).

At the reporting date the Company had contracted with tenants for the following future minimum lease payments:

Company Consolidated
2021 2020 2021 2020

P P P P
Not longer than 1 year 106 502 638 100 448 003  155 505 144  160 047 344 
Longer than 1 year and not longer than 5 years 242 273 301 245 258 064  335 553 317  361 762 134 
Longer than 5 years 137 773 422 114 738 456  145 903 382  128 249 352 

486 549 361 460 444 523  636 961 843 650 058 830 

The Company and Group as a lessee 
Operating leases payable by the Company as a lessee relate to the rental of land over certain leasehold properties as per note 8, on which the Company has 
erected buildings, with lease terms remaining of between 4 and 93 years.
 
The lease payments made by the Company and Group in respect of the above operating ground leases amounts to:

Turnover linked payments 1 553 242 1 398 779 2 618 281 2 695 342 
1 553 242 1 398 779 2 618 281 2 695 342 

At the reporting date the estimated undiscounted minimum lease commitments to lessors amounts to:

Not longer than 1 year   257 342   257 269  398 871   403 411 
Longer than 1 year and not longer than 5 years   589 370   829 075 1 155 482  1 413 645 
Longer than 5 years   346 148   359 841 11 384 576  11 904 529 

 1 192 860 1 446 185 12 938 929 13 721 585 

Some lease payments have been recognised under right of use assets (note 8) and the related lease liability recognised as per note 23.
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29 Segment information

The Company and Group’s primary business activities are concentrated in the segment of property rentals and are predominantly concentrated within the 
geographical regions of Botswana, Zambia and South Africa. The geographical segmental information is outlined below.

Company Consolidated
2021 2020 2021 2020

Contractual lease revenue P P P P
Botswana  104 340 281  96 967 757 104 340 281 96 967 757 
Zambia  2 054 450  2 377 408 37 609 117 46 333 026 
South Africa - - 9 280 537 6 179 316 

106 394 731 99 345 164 151 229 935 149 480 099 
Profit/(loss) for the year
Botswana 67 954 746 63 972 681 67 954 746 63 972 681 
Zambia (3 273 218) 9 224 968 (53 465 814) (70 506 786)
South Africa - -  197 642 (7 590 960)

64 681 528 73 197 649 14 686 574 (14 125 065)
Non-current assets held for sale
Investment properties held for sale
Botswana  43 883 981 - 43 883 981 - 
Zambia - - - - 
South Africa - - - - 

43 883 981  -  43 883 981  - 
Non-current assets
Investment properties
Botswana  883 012 553  900 834 078 883 012 553 900 834 078 
Zambia  21 574 670  19 383 134 447 953 054 511 158 497 
South Africa - - 90 846 144 83 501 102 

904 587 222 920 217 212 1 421 811 751 1 495 493 677 
Work in progress
Botswana 126 925 650 60 510 472 126 925 650 60 510 472 
Zambia - -  -  - 
South Africa - - - - 

126 925 650 60 510 472  126 925 650  60 510 472 
Total liabilities
Botswana  839 925 471  785 930 699 839 925 471 785 930 699 
Zambia  1 809 893   147 669 118 954 873 132 574 392 
South Africa  -  - 56 738 425 49 695 867 

841 735 364 786 078 368 1 015 618 769 968 200 958 
30 Capital commitments

Company as disclosed under Note 10

Pinnacle Park Phase I, the office park at Plot 75782 Setlhoa, Gaborone was completed at the end of the prior year. At the current year end the total estimated 
costs to complete the development (being remaining tenant fit-outs) was P1 205 168.  At the prior year end the total estimated cost to complete the development 
was P4 571 070.  

Lobatse Junction, a retail shopping centre development at Plot 14076 Lobatse was commenced during the prior year.  At the year end the total estimated cost 
to complete this development was P25 489 048.  At the prior year end the total estimated cost to complete the development was P78 958 068. 

The acquisition of Plot 54359 in the Gaborone CBD was made in 2019. Some initial consultants fees were incurred during the prior year and the bulk 
earthworks commenced in the current year.  At the year end the total estimated cost of committed fees for these initial works was P3 814 658 (2020: P258 493). 

A refurbishment of South Ring Mall, a retail shopping centre at Plot 50423 Gaborone, commenced in the last quarter of the financial year.  Estimated to 
complete by the end of November 2021, at the year end the estimated cost to complete this work was P1 653 512.

31 Events after the reporting period
In October 2021, the Group received a waiver from a lender for a breach on an interest cover and individual property vacancy covenant as at 31 August 2021.  
Further details are disclosed at notes 22 and 32. 

Subsequent to year end the Directors approved a final debenture interest pay-out of 1.33 thebe per linked unit. 

The conditions precedent in the Sale Agreement for the properties held for sale as disclosed in Note 12 were all fulfilled and the sale will be completed within 
6 months of the year end date.

PrimeTime Property Holdings Limited
Notes to the separate and consolidated financial statements (continued) 31 August 2021

31 Events after the reporting period (continued)
No events have occurred between the end of the reporting period and the date of approval of the  consolidated and separate financial statements which will 
materially affect the separate and consolidated financial statements.

32 Going concern
At year end, the Group current liabilities exceed the current assets by P417 087 548 (Company: P304 000 233). The current liabilities exceeded the current 
assets as a result of the Group and Company loan facilities which expire in the 2022 financial year amounting to P323 621 176 (Company: P225 593 230) and 
the loans for which there was a breach in the interest cover and individual property vacancy covenants amounting to P93 081 695 (Company: P45 000 000), 
being classified under current liabilities.  Subsequent to the year end a relaxation was granted by the lender in respect of the breach of the covenants referred 
to above.  The loans classified as current liabilities and the related assets pledged as security are disclosed in detail in Note 22.

Given the net current liability position, current market conditions and remaining uncertainty resulting from COVID-19, the Directors continue to assess the 
impact of the pandemic on the business in particular focusing on the appropriateness of adopting the going concern basis in preparing the separate and 
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 August 2021.  The Group and Company’s going concern assessment covers the period of at least 12 
months from the date of authorisation of these separate and consolidated financial statements (the “going concern period”). In determining the ongoing impact 
of COVID-19, the Group’s assessment takes cognisance of circumstances existing and current social distancing and other policy measures introduced by the 
Governments in the countries in which the Group operates. This has included the following key considerations:  

◆ After having given concession discounts to those tenants that were not able to pay rent during lockdowns the Company and Group’s rental income has 
now normalised.  Some leases for key tenants have been regeared with substantially increased tenures, thereby enhancing the long-term sustainability of 
values; 

◆ The benefits of the Company and Group’s diversified portfolio, which is characterised by a high concentration of large low risk blue chip tenants, a low 
concentrated risk in any one property, tenant or geographical location, were experienced during this pandemic period;

◆ The Company and Group’s outlook regarding trading conditions that will persist into the foreseeable future, including the assessment of a range of 
varied scenarios and COVID-19 related relief measures enacted by the Botswana Government and other governments in jurisdictions in which the Group 
operates;

◆ The Company and Group’s proven ability to respond to and manage the necessary Government interventions already imposed since April 2020; and 

◆ That a gradual recovery in business and consumer sentiment continues to take place, including the implementation over time of further easing of 
measures in relation to COVID-19.

To address the Company and Group’s net liability position and funding requirements, the Directors have taken the following measures: 

◆ The Company and Group has prepared detailed cash flow forecasts, taking into account the ongoing impact of COVID-19 on net rentals. In preparing the 
cash flows the Group has made the following significant judgements:

✓ The Group vacancy levels (which were 3% at 31 August 2021) in its properties will remain below 5% for the next 12 months;

✓ There will be no significant downward rental adjustments beyond concessions already made for some the anchor tenants;
 
✓ The Group will continue to obtain new lines of credit to extinguish maturing debt; and
 
✓ There will be no significant lock-downs in future in the countries the Group operates in.

◆ On 19 October 2021 the Group obtained a waiver from a lender for the interest rate coverage and one individual property vacancy covenant breaches, 
which existed at the year end.  As the formal written confirmation of the relaxation of these covenants was only received after the year end date the three 
affected loans were classified under current liabilities in accordance with IFRS. At the prior year end the same interest rate coverage covenant was also 
breached with a relaxation granted by the bank subsequently. The amount which has been reclassified as current and due within one year due to this 
breach amounts to P93 081 695 for the Group and P45 000 000 for the Company.
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32 Going concern (continued)
◆ The Group has secured some new lines of credit, rolls for maturing debt and more favourable covenants as follows:

a) P33 million commercial paper which matured in October 2021 was rolled for 6 months pending disbursement of the additional commercial bank facilities 
detailed below; 

b) P73 million additional 4 year commercial bank facility to be utilised for the refinance of short term facilities.  P18 million of the facility amortising over 4 
years at the request of the Company with the remaining P55 million, requiring interest payments over the term of the facility only and with a bullet payment 
on expiry.  P24.2 million was drawn down on 19 October 2021 with the remaining amount required to be drawn by 31 December 2021; 

c) ABSA Bank of Botswana Limited has agreed to roll the facility for P66 439 211 which matured on 31 August 2021 for a further 5 years on an interest only 
basis;

d) The ABSA Bank Zambia PLC facility for USD8 million which was due to mature on 25 March 2022 has been approved by the bank for a restructure to 
a new 5 year term loan facility commencing 1st September 2021, with interest payments only for 32 months and thereafter 28 capital repayments of a 
portion of the loan with a final bullet of USD5.8 million on expiry;  

e) A new ZMW13 million amortising facility with FNB Zambia for the funding of the completed cash in transit centre at the Zambian Branch’s Lusaka 
property.  This is expected to be drawn by the end of 2021 and will be utilised by the Zambian branch to repay Group companies who have bridged the 
costs of this development; 

f) Extension of the relaxations over some of the covenants from the ABSA Group until 31 August 2022; 

g) Increase of the Group LTV covenant from 55% to 60% from Stanbic Bank Botswana Limited.  

◆ The facility for P70 million secured in the prior year for its Lobatse Junction development in progress was only partly drawn down in the current year.  The 
balance will be drawn down in the financial year to 31 August 2022 and is expected to cover the full cost to complete the development.

 
◆ The Company and Group continues to meet all of its interest and capital repayments, including those due since 31st August 2021 to the date of 

authorisation of these financial statements.  
 
◆ The Group continues to use a blend of short- and long-term debt in order to efficiently manage its cashflow requirements for the developments currently 

in progress.  Once developments are complete these then become viable for longer term funding.  The new facilities secured during the financial year and 
those detailed above have significantly improved the debt maturity profile of the group in the short to medium term.

 
The Group continues to monitor the interest and debt cover position closely, taking mitigating actions within its control and continuing to seek cover covenant 
relaxations if required.  The Directors are confident the Group’s lenders will continue to view the Group as a secure customer throughout the going concern 
period.  

Although it remains uncertain as to when the pandemic will be brought under control, based on their analysis the Directors are satisfied that there is a 
reasonable expectation that the Company and Group will be able to meet its ongoing and future commitments for at least 12 months from the date of approval 
of the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 August 2021 and that no material uncertainty on the going concern assumption exists. 

After a review of the Group’s cash flow forecast for the 12 months ending 30 November 2022 and the current financial position, the Directors are satisfied that 
the Company and Group have access to adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the next 12 months. The Directors have therefore resolved 
that it is appropriate for the Company and Group financial statements be prepared on a going concern basis.

PrimeTime Property Holdings Limited
Notes to the separate and consolidated financial statements (continued) 31 August 2021

33 Prior period errors - separate financial statements 
The Company has a loan which it advanced to one of its subsidiaries, where interest on the outstanding balance accrues at the Group’s average borrowing rate 
but there are no definitive repayment terms. This loan was being classified as a current asset due to the lack of definitive repayment terms. As the Company 
does not expect repayment in the short term, the classification as a current asset was incorrect and the loan should have been classified as a non-current asset.

As a result, the current assets in the prior year, were overstated by P516 961 175 (2019: P479 313 626) and the non-current assets were understated by an 
equal amount.

Further, the interest on the loan is accrued and the subsidiary makes adhoc payments in line with the Group’s cash flow management process. The statement 
of cashflows in the prior year, disclosed the full interest earned during the year as being received under the investing activities instead of disclosing the actual 
cash receipts.

As a result, the interest received on the statement of cashflows was overstated by P17 966 665 and the increase in the related party receivables under cashflows 
from operating activities was understated by an equal amount.

Both errors only affect the separate financial statements and have no impact on the consolidated financial statements as the related balances are eliminated on 
consolidation and also have no impact on the statement of profit or loss for the Company.

The effect of the restatements on those financial statements is summarised below. The effect in 2021 has been corrected in the current year.

As previously
reported Restated

2020 2020 Impact 
Statement of financial position P P P
Total current assets  546 011 641  29 050 466 (516 961 175)
Total non-current assets 1 035 260 252 1 552 221 427  516 961 175 

 2019 2019 Impact 
P P P

Total current assets  517 584 824  38 271 198 (479 313 626)
Total non-current assets  970 093 433 1 449 407 059  479 313 626 

As previously
reported Restated

 2020  2020 Impact 
Statement of cashflows P P P
Increase in amounts due from related parties (37 647 549) (19 680 884)  17 966 665 
Net cash generated from operating activities  49 146 513  67 113 178  17 966 665 
Interest received  33 951 932  15 985 267 (17 966 665)
Net cash used in investing activities (33 288 603) (51 255 268) (17 966 665)
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Notice of
annual general meeting
Notice is hereby given that the annual 
general meeting of unitholders of the 
company will be held virtually via MS 
Teams meeting (to obtain the link email 
mariette@time.co.bw or Tel 3956080) 
at 15h00 on Wednesday 23rd February 
2022, for the purpose of transacting the 
following business and considering and 
if deemed fit, passing, with or without 
modification, the following resolutions:

agenda
ordinary Business
1. To read the notice convening the 

meeting.

2. Ordinary Resolution 1:
To receive, consider, and adopt the 
audited financial statements for the 
year ended 31 August 2021.

3. Ordinary Resolution 2:
To approve the interim interest 
payment of 5.26 thebe per. linked unit 
declared on 1 March 2021 and paid 
on 29 March 2021, as authorised and 
recommended by the Directors.

4. Ordinary Resolution 3
To approve the interim interest 
payment of 6.35 thebe per. linked unit 
declared on 3 August 2021 and paid 
on 31 August 2021, as authorised and 
recommended by the Directors.

5. Ordinary Resolution 4
To approve the final interest 
payment of 1.33 thebe per. linked 
unit declared on 10 December 2021 
and due to be paid on or around 
28 March 2021, as authorised and 
recommended by the Directors.

6. Ordinary Resolution 5
To confirm the appointment of the 
following independent director of the 
company:
Paul Masie who was appointed by 
the Board of Directors in terms of 
clause 20.4 of the Constitution with 
effect from 17 May 2021.

7. Ordinary Resolution 6
To confirm the appointment of the 
following independent director of the 
company:
Chandada Masendu-Kusane who 
was appointed by the Board of 
Directors in terms of clause 20.4 of 
the Constitution with effect from 4 
October 2021.

8. Ordinary Resolution 7
To confirm the appointment of the 
following independent director of the 
company:
Nigel Dixon-Warren who was 
appointed by the Board of Directors 
in terms of clause 20.4 of the 
Constitution with effect from 22 
November 2021.

9. Ordinary Resolution 8
To re-elect the following director of 
the company:
Mmoloki Morolong who retires by 
rotation in terms of clause 20.9.1 of 
the Constitution and, being eligible, 
offers himself for re-election.

10. Ordinary Resolution 9
To re-elect the following director of 
the company:
Joanna Jones who retires by rotation 
in terms of clause 20.9.1 of the 
Constitution and, being eligible, 
offers herself for re-election.

11. Ordinary Resolution 10
To approve the remuneration of 
the Directors for the year ended 31 
August 2021.  For the chairman an 
annual retainer fee of P59 630 and 
a sitting allowance of P13 440 per 
meeting.  For the other directors an 
annual retainer fee of P40 270 and 
a sitting allowance of P13 440 per 
meeting.

12. Ordinary Resolution 11
To appoint Deloitte & Touche as 
auditors for the ensuing year.

13. Ordinary Resolution 12
To approve the Auditors 
remuneration for the prior years’ 
audit of P687 460 as reflected in the 
Financial Statements and to fix their 
remuneration for the ensuing year.  

voting and proxies
All unitholders entitled to vote will be 
entitled to attend and vote at the annual 
general meeting.

A unitholder who is present in person, or 
by authorised representative or by proxy 
shall have one vote on a show of hands 
and have one vote for every ordinary 
share held on a poll.

Each unitholder entitled to attend and 
vote at the annual general meeting is 
entitled to appoint one or more proxies 
(none of whom need be a unitholder 
of the company) to attend, speak 
and subject to the Constitution of the 
company vote in his/her/its stead.

The form of proxy for the annual general 
meeting, which sets out the relevant 
instructions for its completion, is 
annexed hereto.

In order to be effective, a duly 
completed form of proxy must be 
received by the Company Secretary, 
at Acacia Building, Prime Plaza, Plot 
74538, Corner of Khama Crescent 
Extension and PG Matante, CBD, P. O. 
Box 1395, Gaborone, Botswana, (or by 
email to mariette@time.co.bw) not later 
than 15h00 on Friday 18 February 2022.

By Order of the Board

Petronella Matumo 
Chairlady of the Board of Directors

21 January 2022
Gaborone

For completion by Unitholders

PLEASE READ THE NOTES OVERLEAF 
BEFORE COMPLETING THIS FORM. 

For use at the annual general meeting 
of unitholders of the Company to be 
held at Acacia Building, Prime Plaza, 
Plot 74538, Corner of Khama Crescent 
Extension and PG Matante, CBD, 
Gaborone, Botswana with the option to 
attend virtually via MS Teams Meeting 
(to obtain the link please email Mariette 
Esterhuizen at mariette@time.co.bw 
/ Tel +267 395 6080) at 15h00 on 
Wednesday 23 February 2022.

I/We  _____________________________
(Name/s in block letters)

Of  _______________________________
(Address)

Appoint (see note 2):

1.  _______________________________
or failing him/her,

2.  _______________________________
or failing him/her,

3. the chairman of the meeting,

as my/our proxy to act for me/us at the 
general meeting which will be held to 
consider the ordinary business,  and to 
vote for or against the resolutions and/
or abstain from voting in respect of 
the Linked Units registered in my/our 
name in accordance with the following 
instructions (see note 2):

Number of linked units:

For Against Abstain

1. Ordinary resolution 1

2. Ordinary resolution 2

3. Ordinary resolution 3

4. Ordinary resolution 4

5. Ordinary resolution 5

6. Ordinary resolution 6

7. Ordinary resolution 7

8. Ordinary resolution 8

9. Ordinary resolution 9

10. Ordinary resolution 10

11. Ordinary resolution 11

12. Ordinary resolution 12

Signed at  ____________________________  on  __________________________  2022.

Signature _________________________________________________________________

Assisted by (where applicable)

Each unitholder is entitled to appoint one or more proxies (who need not be 
member/s of the company) to attend, speak and vote in place of that unitholder at 
the general meeting.
Please read the notes on the reverse side hereof.

Proxy
  form

mailto:mariette%40time.co.bw?subject=AGM%20MS%20Teams%20meeting%20link
mailto:mariette%40time.co.bw?subject=Proxy%20Form
mailto:mariette%40time.co.bw?subject=AGM%20MS%20Teams%20Meeting%20link
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1. A unitholder must insert the names of two alternative proxies 
of the unitholder’s choice in the space provided, with or 
without deleting “chairman of the annual general meeting”. 
The person whose name appears first on the form of proxy, 
and whose name has not been deleted will be entitled to act 
as proxy to the exclusion of those whose names follow.

2. A unitholder’s instructions to the proxy must be indicated by 
the insertion of the relevant number of votes exercisable by 
the unitholder in the appropriate space provided. Failure to 
comply herewith will be deemed to authorise the proxy to vote 
at the general meeting as he/she deems fit in respect of the 
unitholder’s votes exercisable thereat, but where the proxy is 
the chairman, failure to comply will be deemed to authorise 
the proxy to vote in favour of the resolution. A unitholder or his/
her proxy is obliged to use all the votes exercisable by the 
unitholder or by his/her proxy.

3. Forms of proxy must be lodged at or posted to the Company 
Secretary, at Acacia Building, Prime Plaza, Plot 74538, Corner 
of Khama Crescent Extension and PG Matante, CBD, P.O. 
Box 1395, Gaborone, Botswana, (or by email to mariette@
time.co.bw), not later than 15h00 on Friday 18 February 2022.

4. The completion and lodging of this form will not preclude the 
relevant unitholder from attending the general meeting and 
speaking and voting in person thereat to the exclusion of any 
proxy appointed in terms hereof should such unitholder wish 
to do so.

5. The chairman of the general meeting may reject or accept 

any form of proxy not completed and/or received other than 
in accordance with these notes provided that he is satisfied 
as to the manner in which the unitholder concerned wishes to 
vote.

6. An instrument of proxy shall be valid for the general meeting 
as well as for any adjournment thereof, unless the contrary is 
stated thereon.

7. A vote given in accordance with the terms of a proxy shall be 
valid, notwithstanding the previous death or insanity of the 
unitholder, or revocation of the proxy, or of the authority under 
which the proxy was executed, or the transfer of the linked 
units in respect of which the proxy is given, provided that 
no intimation in writing of such death, insanity or revocation 
shall have been received by the company not less than one 
hour before the commencement of the general meeting or 
adjourned general meeting at which the proxy is to be used.

8. The authority of a person signing the form of proxy under 
a power of attorney or on behalf of a company must be 
attached to the form of proxy, unless the authority or full power 
of attorney has already been registered by the company or 
the Transfer Secretaries.

9. Where linked units are held jointly, all joint unitholders must 
sign.

10. A minor must be assisted by his/her guardian, unless relevant 
documents establishing his/her legal capacity are produced 
or have been registered by the company.

Notes TI     E
PRIME
PrimeTime Property Holdings Limited 

PrimeTime Property 
Holdings Limited
Acacia, Prime Plaza, 
Plot 74538 CBD, Gaborone
P.O. Box 1395, Gaborone
Tel: (+267) 395 6080
primetime.co.bw
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